
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
to be held on

THURSDAY, 24 MARCH 2016
at

2.00 PM
in the

WITHAM ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Beverly Agass, Chief Executive    

Committee
Members:

Councillor Matthew Lee, Councillor David Mapp, Councillor Dr 
Peter Moseley (Vice-Chairman), Councillor Jacky Smith, 
Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman), Councillor Mrs Andrea 
Webster and Councillor Paul Wood

Committee Support
Officer:

Jo Toomey Tel: 01476 406152
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1. APOLOGIES

2. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

3. ANY OTHER BUSINESS, WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASONS OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT.



MINUTES
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE
THURSDAY, 3 DECEMBER 2015

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor David Mapp
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Vice-
Chairman)

Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Andrea Webster

OFFICERS OTHER MEMBERS

Strategic Director (Daren Turner)
Corporate Finance Manager (Richard 
Wyles)
Executive Manager, Commercial (Judith 
Davids)
Executive Manager, Development (Paul 
Thomas)
Senior Financial Accountant (Gill 
Goddard)
Treasury Management Officer (Michelle 
Sheldon)
Governance & Risk Officer (Tracey 
Elliott)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

Councillor Felicity Cunningham
Councillor Bob Sampson

AUDIT

Manager – KPMG LLP (UK) (Mike 
Norman)
Client Manager – RSM (Amjad Ali)

33. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Paul Wood. Apologies for 
absence were also received from Councillor Terl Bryant (Portfolio Holder: 
Strategic Resources – Well Run Council), Councillor Kelham Cooke (Portfolio 
Holder: Governance and Communication) and John Cornett from KPMG.

34. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

Page - 2

Agenda Item 4



2

35. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24 SEPTEMBER 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 September 2015 were agreed as a 
correct record.

36. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

At the Committee’s meeting on 25 June 2015, members had discussed the risk 
related to the ability for ICT infrastructure and support systems to be adapted 
and configured in order to provide a resilient framework, specifically to meet the 
challenges of agile working and the customer access strategy. At June’s 
meeting, it was reported that this risk had been moved from green to amber. 

The Executive Manager, Commercial informed members that since 25 June 
2015 a new, 2-year ICT Strategy had been developed and was awaiting sign-
off by the Portfolio Holder for Governance and Communication. There were two 
key strands to the strategy: running the IT department as a professional 
business and supporting council strategies going forward. The risk had been 
reviewed but remained at amber as the strategy had not yet been implemented. 
The objective of the new strategy was to ensure that there was a robust 
platform in place from which the council could deliver key programmes of work.

The Executive Manager, Commercial also explained that there was a 
commitment to develop a corporate applications register with a view to 
rationalisation. Any new software requests would be considered by a project 
review panel that would look at the corporate fit, standard and compatibility.

Members sought assurance that there were sufficient skills to support the 
council’s portfolio of applications and resources in place to implement the 
strategy. A skills assessment had been undertaken with primary and secondary 
skills to ensure that there was cover for all key applications. Resources within 
the IT team would be ringfenced to deliver the strategy and any IT support 
required as part of new programmes would need to be costed into the projects. 
The Council was working closely with Boston Borough Council to share 
expertise while wider discussions were taking place about where potential 
benefits could be gained from working with the private sector.

On a separate matter the Chairman confirmed that the member who had asked 
about the occupancy of Bourne core area units had received a reply from the 
officer.

37. ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2014/15

Mike Norman from KPMG presented the annual audit letter 2014/15, which 
summarised the work that had been carried out during the year. 

The letter, issued on 28 September 2015, reported that the authority had been 
issued with an unqualified conclusion on its arrangements for securing value for 
money. The conclusion was based on the Council’s financial governance, 

Page - 3



3

financial planning, financial control processes, and the prioritisation of 
resources and improving efficiency and productivity.

Members were advised that there had been no changes to the audit fee for the 
core audit for 2014/15. Mr Norman added that work was in progress around the 
certification of grants and returns, which would be presented to Committee at 
its next meeting on 24 March 2016.

Committee members noted the report.

38. INTERNAL AUDIT - UPATE

The Corporate Finance Manager introduced report number CFM351 which 
summarised the results of three audits and a follow-up report that had been 
undertaken between 8 September 2015 and 18 November 2015.

(1) Internal Audit Progress Report

Amjad Ali, the client manager from RSM presented the internal audit 
progress report and informed members that the plan was on track to be 
delivered by 31 March 2016. During the period covered by the report, three 
audits had been completed: insurance, safeguarding and the general 
ledger, all of which were given a positive, green assurance.

One low risk and two medium risk actions were raised during the insurance 
audit. The medium risk actions related to the Council not having an 
overarching documented policy on compensation payments and the 
Governance and Risk Officer not being informed of all compensation 
payments. This meant that the Council’s insurance provider could not 
determine whether the claim could be defended without financial loss to the 
Council. Examples were given of those types of claim that would be 
contested. The recommended actions would address the risk of the Council 
offering to make payments in situations where it was not at fault for the 
harm caused. Officers confirmed in response to members’ questions that 
the amounts involved were not material in the context of the accounts of 
the authority.

No actions were raised during the safeguarding audit, which found that 
there were good controls in place.

During the general ledger audit, one low risk and one medium risk action 
was raised. The medium risk action related to the timeliness of bank 
account and control account reconciliation and arrangements for the 
independent review of reconciliations in a timely manner. Members asked 
about the testing of disaster recovery arrangements; an external partner 
tested back-up tapes annually to ensure that the restore process worked 
and the information restored was in a workable state. After the meeting, 
and in response to a question raised by a member, the Executive Manager 
Commercial confirmed that the facility to reapply daily transaction logs up 
to the point of system failure did exist and was enabled. Therefore the only 

Page - 4



4

data at risk of being lost were those transactions that were not fully 
completed/saved at the actual point of failure.

(2) Internal Audit Follow-up Report

Actions related to six audits had been considered as part of the follow-up 
report. Of the 17 medium risk actions that had been followed-up, 1 had not 
been implemented and three were in progress of being implemented 
resulting in the conclusion that good progress had been made. The report 
included the status of each of the recommended actions, with further detail 
on those that were either in progress or had yet to be implemented.

Officers confirmed that the completion date for the Asset Management Plan 
action in respect of the reconciliation of the Flare and Logotech asset 
registers was December 2015 and had been completed.

Committee members discussed the action related to reconciliations 
between the finance system and the building control systems. Members 
challenged the amount of time it had taken to implement the actions and 
queried whether the delay was a result of further software developments 
required to ensure the programmes in use were fit for purpose. Officers 
assured Councillors that the software was fit for purpose but emphasised 
the intensive resource required to prepare and index new document 
management systems. The IDOX system had a phased implementation, 
going live in Building Control at the end of July, and in Planning at the 
beginning of November. The reporting side of the system had yet to be 
developed but the team were on schedule for completion in January 2016. 
APAS, the system IDOX was replacing, was scheduled to be turned off 
when the transition had been completed. 

The Executive Manager, Development and Growth updated members on 
progress against the action to add Section 106 Agreements to the Land 
Charges Register in a timely manner. At the time of the follow-up, there 
were 12 notifications to be updated in the system; these had all been 
added. Assurance was given that prior to the inclusion of those notifications 
on the system, manual checks were undertaken on those hardcopy 
documents.

The final outstanding action related to the planned cyclical maintenance 
and capital programme of housing stock and the conduct of stock condition 
surveys.

Members were advised that any recommendations still showing as 
outstanding would be picked-up as part of the next follow-up report. It was 
proposed that where there had been slippage in the completion date for 
actions of 6-months or more, the relevant officer should be on standby or 
invited to address the Committee to explain the reasons.

Page - 5



5

39. REVIEW OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Report number CFM347 was presented by the Senior Financial Accountant. 
The report asked members to consider proposed changes to be used in the 
preparation of the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts, including a change to the 
valuation date of Council assets and an adjustment to the Council’s 
depreciation policy, the current approach to capital expenditure relating to the 
housing stock and the way the Building Control partnership was accounted for 
in the Statement of Accounts.

Following a recommendation by External Audit from the closedown of the 
2014/15, it was proposed that a change be made to the depreciation and 
valuation accounting policies. The CIPFA code required that assets should be 
revalued with sufficient regularity to give assurance that there was no material 
variation between the date of valuation and the date of reporting. Historically 
assets had been valued on the first day of the financial year and it was 
proposed that the revaluation date was moved to 31 March. This would provide 
clarity of the Council’s compliance with this area of the CIPFA code and avoid 
the risk of a second valuation being undertaken in the event of a significant 
change in the property market within the year.

The second recommendation, relating to the componentisation policy was 
raised by external audit as the Code of Practice of Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom stated that large components of an asset should be 
broken down and represented separately on the balance sheet. The Council 
has maintained that the expenditure on the housing stock is to bring it up to 
Decent Homes Standard and any work carried out as part of this programme 
should not affect the value of the property as it would be expected to have that 
facility. Consequently the expenditure would be removed and the net effect on 
the property value and the balance sheet would be zero.

The report also proposed maintaining the same approach for representing the 
Building Control Partnership on the balance sheet as in 2014/15. Due to the 
materiality of the building control partnership on the overall position of South 
Kesteven District Council, it was proposed that group accounts for the 
partnership should not be completed and the accounts would continue to show 
only the Council’s element of the income and expenditure in the accounts.

Members of the Committee agreed the proposed changes to accounting policy 
outlined in the report.

Decision:

The Governance and Audit Committee approved:

1. The proposed change to the valuation date to 31 March for non-
current assets and the change in depreciation policy set out in 
report number CFM347

2. The continuation of the current policy used to estimate the value of 
capital expenditure relating to the housing stock during the 

Page - 6



6

production of the Council’s Statement of Accounts
3. The continuation of the current approach for accounting for the 

Building Control Partnership in 2015/16 Statement of Accounts

40. COUNTER FRAUD ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 (INCLUDING 
LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTER-FRAUD PARTNERSHIP UPDATE)

The Corporate Finance Manager presented report number CFM337 on the 
Counter Fraud Annual Report 2014/15, which set out key outcomes from 
counter fraud worked delivered during the year relating to both welfare/benefit 
fraud and non-welfare/benefit fraud. It also summarised the results of national 
initiatives and looked at future arrangements following the abolition of the Audit 
Commission in March 2015 and the closure of the National Fraud Authority in 
March 2014.

Of the 654 fraud referrals made during the year, 20 resulted in action, which 
was a reduction when compared to the previous year. This was partly attributed 
to the availability of resources and the targeting of those resources on the 
cases that were most likely to result in direct action being taken. 

During the year, 6 whistle-blowing allegations had been made. All were 
investigated thoroughly based on the information available and no further 
action was taken. The increase in reporting was attributed to media campaigns 
that had been run by the Lincolnshire Counter-Fraud Partnership.

Members were advised that from February 2016, the fraud investigation team 
would be transferred to the Department of Works and Pension as part of the 
Single Fraud Investigation Service. As part of this change, the Council would 
need to review legacy work and how it should be dealt with. Members would 
receive an update on the transfer and actions put in place to deal with legacy 
work when the counter-fraud framework was presented to the Committee in 
March 2016.

Training on counter-fraud would be made available in the new year for 
members of the committee, the wider Councillor cohort and officers of the 
council. Reference was also made to the National Fraud Initiative and the 
CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre.

Gillian Martin from the Lincolnshire Counter-Fraud Partnership gave a brief 
presentation, which covered:

 The estimated cost of fraud in the UK and the public sector
 The approximate fraud losses for local government losses (£2.1bn)
 A breakdown of the estimated costs of fraud to local authorities per year
 Negative impacts of fraud, e.g. reputational damage, distrust, poor 

morale, higher taxes, more expensive public services and funding for 
terrorist and criminal activity

 A definition of fraud and the main ways of committing fraud established 
by the Fraud Act 2006

Page - 7



7

 The creation of the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership and its core 
activities:

o Transfer of intelligence
o Co-ordinated and targeted fraud awareness campaigns
o Sharing specialist investigative resources
o Sharing best practice and expertise

 Responsibilities of the committee in relation to fraud and how they 
complemented the work of the Lincolnshire Fraud Partnership

 Different ways fraud comes to light and the warning signs of fraud

Through questioning the officers present, members identified that, while there 
was no local information, based on the national breakdown of fraud offences, 
the council’s total exposure to fraud loss was £2.3m.

Members were informed that no contribution was made by the district councils 
to the Lincolnshire Fraud Partnership; it was funded through a grant received 
from the Department of Communities and Local Government. The partnership 
was funded until March 2016. Going forward the Council would have to 
determine its level of investment in counter-fraud activity and how to offset the 
resource lost through the transfer to the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

Members approved the contents of the report.

Decision:

The Governance and Audit Committee approves the contents of report 
number CFM337.

41. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REVIEW

Report number CFM346, presented by the Corporate Finance Manager, 
summarised treasury management activity between April 2015 and September 
2015 and proposed amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy for 
2015/16 and 2016/17. The new treasury management strategy would be 
adopted as part of the Council’s budget on 29 February 2016.

Members noted that no long-term borrowing had been undertaken during the 
period covered by the report. Details of all the Council’s borrowing, which sat 
with the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) was listed in the schedule of loans 
outstanding attached at appendix A to the report. The Council had not 
undertaken any short-term borrowing.

The average size of the investment portfolio during the period covered by the 
report was £51.1 million. Fluctuations were because of the council’s role as 
billing and collection authority, meaning that it held significant quantities of cash 
while making precept payments.

A majority of the investment activity sat in short-term investments, with the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy stipulating that the Council should 

Page - 8



8

not hold more than 25% of investments as long term. During the period 
investment activity was maintained within the limits set out in the Prudential 
Code.

Looking at the focus of the Council going forward, two areas around investment 
had been identified which would require changes to the current strategy. The 
first was investing in property funds and investing in properties on a portfolio 
basis to the value of £5m. Maturity of these areas was longer-term, meaning it 
was not compatible with the current strategy, which was subject to a limit of two 
years. The other change proposed was to allow the authority to invest within its 
local authority company should it receive Cabinet approval on 7 December 
2015. Any funds lent to the company by the Council would be on a commercial 
basis.

One member referred to a meeting of the Resources Policy Development 
Group held on 26 November 2015 and proposals put forward to enable 
investment in physical properties and queried how the two different property 
proposals related to one another. Officers explained that investment in bricks 
and mortar and property funds were part of a suite of opportunities the Council 
could consider to ensure it got the maximum yield from its investment. The 
different measures were designed to complement one another.

Some concern was expressed about more money sitting with longer-term 
investments and depositing greater sums of money with the same institutions. 
To allay members’ fears officers explained that by broadening the strategy, a 
greater number of institutions would meet the Council’s investment criteria and 
provide the opportunity for a greater spread of funds.

Having been reassured, members noted the mid-year activity and approved the 
amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy for 2015/16 and 2016/17.

Decision:

The governance and Audit Committee noted the mid-year activity position 
of 2015-16 (April 2015 to September 2015) and approved the amendments 
to the Treasury Management Strategy for 2015/16 and 2016/17 as detailed 
in report number CFM346.

42. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 16:01.

Page - 9



KPMG Annual Report on 
grants and returns work 

2014/15

South Kesteven District Council

December 2015

P
age - 10

A
genda Item

 6



1© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contents

The contacts at KPMG 
in connection with this 
report are:

Tony Crawley
Director
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0116 256 6067 
tony.crawley@kpmg.co.uk

Mike Norman
Manager
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0115 935 3554
michael.norman@kpmg.co.uk

Page

■ Headlines 2

■ Summary of certification work outcomes 3

■ Fees 5

■ Recommendations 6

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their 
individual capacities, or to third parties.  We draw your attention to the Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies, which is available on Public 
Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently 
and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you 
should contact Tony Crawley, the engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact 
the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers, by email to 
andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by 
emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government 
House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.

P
age - 11



2© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Headlines

Introduction and 
background

This report summarises the results of work we have carried out on the Council’s 2014/15 grant claims and returns. 

This includes the work we have completed under the Public Sector Audit Appointment certification arrangements, as well as the work we 
have completed on other grants/returns under separate engagement terms. The work completed in 2014/15 is:

■ Under the Public Sector Audit Appointment arrangements we certified one claim – the Council’s 2014/15 Housing Benefit Subsidy claim. 
This had a value of £30.7m..

■ Under separate assurance engagements we provided a Reporting Accountant’s report on the Council’s 2014/15 Housing Pooling return. 
This had a value of £1.7m.

Certification results We gave an qualified certificate on the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy claim. 

We gave an unqualified Accountant’s Report on the Housing Pooling return. 

Pages 3 – 4

Audit adjustments Minor adjustments were made to the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy claim as a result of our work this year. The amount of subsidy due 
to the Council through the claim was reduced by £8,575. 

One minor adjustment was needed to be made to the Housing Pooling return. 

Pages 3 – 4

Fees The indicative fee for our work on the Council’s 2014/15 Housing Benefit Subsidy was set by Public Sector Audit Appointments at £5,960. 
The actual fee for this work was £7,100.

Our fee for the other ‘assurance’ engagements was subject to agreement directly with the Council and was £3,000.

Page 5

P
age - 12



3© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Comments 
overleaf Qualified Significant

adjustment
Minor

adjustment Unqualified

Public Sector Audit 
Appointments arrangements

■ Housing Benefit Subsidy

Other assurance engagements

■ Housing Pooling Return

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Summary of reporting outcomes

Detailed below is a summary of the reporting outcomes from our work on the Council’s 2014/15 grants and returns, showing where either audit 
amendments were made as a result of our work or where we had to qualify our audit certificate or assurance report. 

A qualification means that issues were identified concerning the Council’s compliance with a scheme’s requirements that could not be resolved 
through adjustment.  In these circumstances, it is likely that the relevant grant paying body will require further information from the Council to 
satisfy itself that the full amounts of grant claimed are appropriate.

Overall, we carried out work 
on two grants and returns:

■ one was unqualified with 
minor amendment;

■ one required a 
qualification to our audit 
certificate.

Detailed comments are 
provided overleaf. 1

2

P
age - 13



4© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Summary of certification work outcomes

This table summarises the 
key issues behind each of 
the adjustments or 
qualifications that were 
identified on the previous 
page.

Ref Summary observations Amendment

 Housing Benefit Subsidy

■ Testing of our initial and extended sample of Rent Allowance claims identified under and overpayments of benefit to 
claimants due to miscalculation of earned income. We also identified an unresolved £659 internal reconciliation error 
within the claim. 

■ We reported our findings to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) in the Qualification Letter which we 
submitted with the certified claim. DWP will consider the findings of the certification work, and may contact officers to 
request additional work on the issues identified. This is the first time the claim has been qualified in at least the last 5 
years. 

■ The amount of subsidy due to the Council through the claim was reduced by £8,575 as a result of changes made to 
the original claim submitted. These changes were largely to take account of routine year-end reconciliation 
adjustments which had not been processed before the claim’s submission deadline. The certified amended claim 
was submitted to DWP by the relevant deadline..

- £8,575

 Housing Pooling Return

■ The return was unqualified. One minor amendment was required, to include the correct total for mortgage payments 
received. 

+£45

P
age - 14



5© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Fees

Public Sector Audit Appointments certification arrangements

Public Sector Audit Appointments set an indicative fee for our work on the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy claim in 2014/15 of £5,960. Our 
actual fee for the work (subject to agreement by PSAA) was £7,100. This compares to the 2013/14 fee for this claim of £6,941. The increase in 
fee reflects additional testing and reporting required in response to the errors identified in 2014/15. 

Grants subject to other assurance engagements

The fee for our assurance work on the other returns was agreed directly with the Council. Our fee for 2014/15 was £3,000. 

Our fees for the Housing 
Benefit Subsidy claim are 
set by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments. 

Our fees for other assurance 
engagements on 
grants/returns are agreed 
directly with the Council.

The overall fees we charged 
for carrying out all our work 
on grants/returns in 2014/15 
was £10,100. 

P
age - 15



6© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Recommendations

We have given each recommendation a risk rating and agreed what action management will need to take.  

Priority rating for recommendations

 Issues that are fundamental and material to your overall 
arrangements for managing grants and returns or 
compliance with scheme requirements.  We believe that 
these issues might mean that you do not meet a grant 
scheme requirement or reduce (mitigate) a risk.

 Issues that have an important effect on your 
arrangements for managing grants and returns or 
complying with scheme requirements, but do not need 
immediate action.  You may still meet scheme 
requirements in full or in part or reduce (mitigate) a risk 
adequately but the weakness remains in the system.

 Issues that would, if corrected, improve your 
arrangements for managing grants and returns or 
compliance with scheme requirements in general, but 
are not vital to the overall system.  These are generally 
issues of best practice that we feel would benefit you if 
you introduced them.

Issue Implication Recommendation Priority Comment Responsible officer and target date

Housing Benefit Subsidy

Our testing identified 
errors in the processing of 
applications from 
claimants with income. We 
also identified an 
unresolved £659 internal 
reconciliation error within 
the claim.

The errors in the processing of 
applications resulted in 
over/underpayments of benefit to 
claimants. It is likely that, given 
the errors identified this year, 
further extended testing of these 
types of claimants will be required 
in 2015/16. The unresolved 
reconciliation error will also need 
to be addressed ahead of the 
2015/16 claim certification.

1 The Council should: 

• continue in its efforts to 
achieve high quality of the 
processing carried out by 
HB staff and ensure the 
training priorities include 
the consistent accuracy of 
assessment of benefit for 
claimants with income; and

• Ensure any internal 
reconciliation errors in the 
2015/16 claim are resolved 
before it is submitted to 
DWP.   



To ensure the accuracy of 
the earned income cases, 
targeted reviews will be 
on an ongoing basis. 
Quality checks will also 
be used to ensure that 
errors are minimised. 
Regular reconciliations 
will continue to be 
completed to ensure that 
expenditure is correctly 
presented across the 
subsidy cells

Strategic Lead – Programme Delivery

For the 2015/16 Claim.

P
age - 16



© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered 
trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International. 

P
age - 17



DRAFT External Audit 
Plan 2015/2016

South Kesteven 
District Council

March 2016

P
age - 18

A
genda Item

 7



1© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Headlines

Financial Statement Audit Value for Money Arrangements work£

There are no significant changes to the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in 2015/16, which provides stability in terms of the accounting standards the Authority 
need to comply with.

Materiality
Materiality for planning purposes has been based on last year’s expenditure and set 
at £1.2 million.

We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those 
which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance and this has been set 
at £60,000.

Significant risks
Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the 
likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

■ Provision for Business Rate appeals.

Professional standards require us to also consider two standard risks for all 
organisations. These relate to the risks of management override of controls and 
fraudulent revenue recognition.

See pages 3 to 5 for more details.

Logistics

£

The National Audit Office has issued new guidance for the VFM audit which applies 
from the 2015/16 audit year. The approach is broadly similar in concept to the previous 
VFM audit regime, but there are some notable changes:

■ There is a new overall criterion on which the auditor’s VFM conclusion is based; and

■ This overall criterion is supported by three new sub-criteria.

Our risk assessment is ongoing and we will report VFM significant risks during our audit

See pages 6 to 9 for more details.

Our team is:

■ John Cornett – Director

■ Mike Norman –Manager

■ Kerry Sharma – Assistant Manager

More details are on page 12.

Our work will be completed in four phases from February to September and our key 
deliverables are this Audit Plan, a Report to those charged with Governance, and an 
Annual Audit Letter as outlined on page 11.

Our fee for the audit is £47,273 (£62,130 2014/15) see page 10.

Other areas of audit focus
Other areas of audit focus are those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a 
material error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding. We have 
not identified any such risks at this stage.

P
age - 19



2© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial Statements Audit

Our financial statements audit work follows a four stage audit process which is identified 
below. Appendix 1 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on the Financial Statements Audit Planning stage of the Financial 
Statements Audit.

Value for Money Arrangements Work

Our Value for Money (VFM) Arrangements Work follows a five stage process which is 
identified below. Page 6 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on explaining the VFM approach for the 2015/16 [and the findings of our VFM 
risk assessment].

Introduction

Background and Statutory responsibilities

This document supplements our Audit Fee Letter 2015/16 presented to you in April 2015, 
which also sets out details of our appointment by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
(PSAA).

Our statutory responsibilities and powers are set out in the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice. 

Our audit has two key objectives, requiring us to audit/review and report on your:

■ Financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement): Providing an 
opinion on your accounts; and

■ Use of resources: Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources (the value for money 
conclusion).

The audit planning process and risk assessment is an on-going process and the 
assessment and fees in this plan will be kept under review and updated if necessary. 

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to thank officers and Members for their continuing 
help and co-operation throughout our audit work.

Substantive 
Procedures CompletionControl

Evaluation

Financial 
Statements Audit 

Planning

Risk 
Assessment

VFM 
audit work

Identification 
of significant 

VFM risks
Conclude Reporting

P
age - 20



3© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial statements audit planning

Financial Statements Audit Planning

Our planning work takes place during February 2016. This involves the following key 
aspects:

■ Risk assessment;

■ Determining our materiality level; and 

■ Issuing this audit plan to communicate our audit strategy.

Risk assessment

Professional standards require us to consider two standard risks for all organisations. We 
are not elaborating on these standard risks in this plan but consider them as a matter of 
course in our audit and will include any findings arising from our work in our 
ISA 260 Report.

■ Management override of controls – Management is typically in a powerful position to 
perpetrate fraud owing to its ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare 
fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively. Our audit methodology incorporates the risk of management 
override as a default significant risk. In line with our methodology, we carry out 
appropriate controls testing and substantive procedures, including over journal 
entries, accounting estimates and significant transactions that are outside the normal 
course of business, or are otherwise unusual.

■ Fraudulent revenue recognition – We do not consider this to be a significant risk for 
local authorities as there are limited incentives and opportunities to manipulate the 
way income is recognised. We therefore rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific 
work into our audit plan in this area over and above our standard fraud procedures.

The diagram opposite identifies, significant risks and other areas of audit focus, which we 
expand on overleaf. The diagram also identifies a range of other areas considered by our 
audit approach.

£

Management 
override of 

controls

Revenue 
recognition

Remuneration 
disclosures

Accounting 
for leases

Key financial 
systems

Impairment of 
PPE

Bad debt 
provision

Financial 
Instruments 
disclosures

Pension 
liability 

assumptions 
Provisions

Pension 
assets 

Compliance to 
the Code’s 
disclosure 

requirements

Keys:  Significant risk  Other area of audit focus  Example other areas considered by our approach

Fair value of 
PPE 

Provision for 
Business 

Rate Appeals

P
age - 21



4© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Significant Audit Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of 
a material financial statement error.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)

Provision for Business Rate appeals

■ Risk

On-going issues around the level of provisioning for Business Rate appeals 
exists, driven by increases in the number of both speculative and nationally 
driven appeals.
Local authorities have little control over the level of appeals and their outcome. 
It is difficult to anticipate the financial impact of successful appeals as the 
potential change in rateable value cannot be predicted. Also, there is usually no 
indication of timescales to settle an appeal, making it hard to measure when the 
financial impact will fall.
These appeals create uncertainty and have a direct impact on the share of 
collection fund balances distributable.

■ Approach

We will review the Authority’s approach to estimating its provision for business 
rate appeals against the requirements of IAS 37 — Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, in particular

■ ensuring that we test the completeness of the data used in the calculation; 
and

■ reviewing any assumptions used in the formulation of this accounting 
estimate.

£

Other areas of audit focus

Other areas of audit focus are those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material 
error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding. We have not identified 
any specific such issues at this stage. We will update the Governance and Audit 
Committee during the year if any new issues emerge.

P
age - 22



5© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)

Materiality

We are required to plan our audit to determine with reasonable confidence whether or not 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An omission or misstatement 
is regarded as material if it would reasonably influence the user of financial statements. 
This therefore involves an assessment of the qualitative and quantitative nature of 
omissions and misstatements.

Generally, we would not consider differences in opinion in respect of areas of judgement
to represent ‘misstatements’ unless the application of that judgement results in a financial 
amount falling outside of a range which we consider to be acceptable.

Materiality for planning purposes has been set at £1.2 million which equates to around 
1.5% of the prior year’s gross expenditure. 

We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision.

Reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the 
Governance and Audit Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the 
extent that these are identified by our audit work.

£

Under ISA 260(UK&I) ‘Communication with those charged with governance’, we are 
obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are 
‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 (UK&I) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as 
matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and 
whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.

In the context of the Authority, we propose that an individual difference could normally be 
considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £60,000.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 
audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the 
Governance and Audit Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

2015/16

£79 m

0

25

50

75

1,000

Materiality for the Authority based 
on prior year gross expenditure

Individual errors, 
where identified, 
reported to 
Governance and 
Audit Committee

Procedures 
designed to detect 
individual errors 

£60k

£900k

£m’s

P
age - 23



6© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work

VFM audit risk assessment

Financial statements and 
other audit work

Identification of 
significant VFM risks (if 

any) Conclude on 
arrangements to 

secure VFM

No further work required

Assessment of work by other review 
agencies

Specific local risk based work

V
FM

 conclusion

Continually re-assess potential VFM risks

£

Informed 
decision 
making

Working 
with 

partners 
and third 
parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment 

Overall criterion

In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.

Background to approach to VFM work

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires auditors of local government bodies 
to be satisfied that the authority ‘has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources’. 

This is supported by the Code of Audit Practice, published by the NAO in April 2015, which 
requires auditors to ‘take into account their knowledge of the relevant local sector as a 
whole, and the audited body specifically, to identify any risks that, in the auditor’s 
judgement, have the potential to cause the auditor to reach an inappropriate conclusion on 
the audited body’s arrangements.’

The VFM approach is fundamentally unchanged from that adopted in 2014/2015 and the 
process is shown in the diagram below. However, the previous two specified reporting 
criteria (financial resilience and economy, efficiency and effectiveness) have been 
replaced with a single criteria supported by three sub-criteria. These sub-criteria provide a 
focus to our VFM work at the Authority. The diagram to the right shows the details of
this criteria.

P
age - 24



7© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

VFM audit risk assessment We consider the relevance and significance of the potential business risks faced by all local authorities, and other risks that apply specifically to the 
Authority. These are the significant operational and financial risks in achieving statutory functions and objectives, which are relevant to auditors’ 
responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice.

In doing so we consider:

■ The Authority’s own assessment of the risks it faces, and its arrangements to manage and address its risks;

■ Information from the Public Sector Auditor Appointments Limited VFM profile tool;

■ Evidence gained from previous audit work, including the response to that work; and

■ The work of other inspectorates and review agencies.

Linkages with financial 
statements and other
audit work

There is a degree of overlap between the work we do as part of the VFM audit and our financial statements audit. For example, our financial 
statements audit includes an assessment and testing of the Authority’s organisational control environment, including the Authority’s financial 
management and governance arrangements, many aspects of which are relevant to our VFM audit responsibilities.

We have always sought to avoid duplication of audit effort by integrating our financial statements and VFM work, and this will continue. We will 
therefore draw upon relevant aspects of our financial statements audit work to inform the VFM audit. 

Identification of
significant risks

The Code identifies a matter as significant ‘if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would be of interest to the 
audited body or the wider public. Significance has both qualitative and quantitative aspects.’

If we identify significant VFM risks, then we will highlight the risk to the Authority and consider the most appropriate audit response in each case, 
including:

■ Considering the results of work by the Authority, inspectorates and other review agencies; and

■ Carrying out local risk-based work to form a view on the adequacy of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.

Our risk assessment is in progress and our key areas of focus will include your Medium Term Financial Planning arrangements.

P
age - 25



8© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

Assessment of work by other 
review agencies

and

Delivery of local risk based 
work

Depending on the nature of the significant VFM risk identified, we may be able to draw on the work of other inspectorates, review agencies and other 
relevant bodies to provide us with the necessary evidence to reach our conclusion on the risk.

If such evidence is not available, we will instead need to consider what additional work we will be required to undertake to satisfy ourselves that we 
have reasonable evidence to support the conclusion that we will draw. Such work may include:

■ Meeting with senior managers across the Authority;

■ Review of minutes and internal reports;

■ Examination of financial models for reasonableness, using our own experience and benchmarking data from within and without the sector.

Concluding on VFM 
arrangements

At the conclusion of the VFM audit we will consider the results of the work undertaken and assess the assurance obtained against each of the VFM 
themes regarding the adequacy of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.

If any issues are identified that may be significant to this assessment, and in particular if there are issues that indicate we may need to consider 
qualifying our VFM conclusion, we will discuss these with management as soon as possible. Such issues will also be considered more widely as part 
of KPMG’s quality control processes, to help ensure the consistency of auditors’ decisions.

Reporting We will report on the results of the VFM audit through our ISA 260 Report. This will summarise any specific matters arising, and the basis for our 
overall conclusion.

The key output from the work will be the VFM conclusion (i.e. our opinion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing VFM), which forms part of our 
audit report. 

P
age - 26



9© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Other matters 

Whole of government accounts (WGA)

We are required to review your WGA consolidation and undertake the work specified under 
the approach that is agreed with HM Treasury and the National Audit Office. Deadlines for 
production of the pack and the specified approach for 2015/16 have not yet been 
confirmed.

Elector challenge

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gives electors certain rights. These are:

■ The right to inspect the accounts;

■ The right to ask the auditor questions about the accounts; and

■ The right to object to the accounts. 

As a result of these rights, in particular the right to object to the accounts, we may need to 
undertake additional work to form our decision on the elector's objection. The additional 
work could range from a small piece of work where we interview an officer and review 
evidence to form our decision, to a more detailed piece of work, where we have to 
interview a range of officers, review significant amounts of evidence and seek legal 
representations on the issues raised. 

The costs incurred in responding to specific questions or objections raised by electors is 
not part of the fee. This work will be charged in accordance with the PSAA's fee scales.

Our audit team

Our audit team will be led by John Cornett supported by Mike Norman and Kerry Sharma 
ensuring an appropriate level of continuity to the audit. Appendix 2 provides more details 
on specific roles and contact details of the team.

Reporting and communication 

Reporting is a key part of the audit process, not only in communicating the audit findings 
for the year, but also in ensuring the audit team are accountable to you in addressing the 
issues identified as part of the audit strategy. Throughout the year we will communicate 
with you through meetings with the Strategic Director and the Governance and Audit 
Committee. Our communication outputs are included in Appendix 1.

Independence and Objectivity

Auditors are also required to be independent and objective. Appendix 3 provides more 
details of our confirmation of independence and objectivity.

Audit fee

Our Audit Fee Letter 2015/2016 presented to you in April 2015 first set out our fees for the 
2015/2016 audit. This letter also sets out our assumptions. We have not considered it 
necessary to make any changes to the agreed fees at this stage. 

The planned audit fee for 2015/16 is £47,185. This is a reduction in audit fee, compared
to 2014/2015, of £14,857 (25%).

Our audit fee includes our work on the VFM conclusion and our audit of the Authority’s 
financial statements. 

P
age - 27



10© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach

Driving more value from the audit through data and 
analytics
Technology is embedded throughout our audit approach 
to deliver a high quality audit opinion. Use of Data and 
Analytics (D&A) to analyse large populations of 
transactions in order to identify key areas for our audit 
focus is just one element. We strive to deliver new 
quality insight into your operations that enhances our 
and your preparedness and improves your collective 
‘business intelligence.’ Data and Analytics allows us to:
■ Obtain greater understanding of your processes, to 

automatically extract control configurations and to 
obtain higher levels assurance.

■ Focus manual procedures on key areas of risk and 
on transactional exceptions.

■ Identify data patterns and the root cause of issues to 
increase forward-looking insight.

We anticipate using data and analytics in our work 
around key areas such as accounts payable and 
journals. We also expect to provide insights from our 
analysis of these tranches of data in our reporting to add 
further value from our audit.

CompletionPlanning Control evaluation Substantive testing

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

A
ud

it 
w

or
kf

lo
w

Continuous communication involving regular meetings between Governance and Audit Committee, Senior 
Management and audit team

Initial planning 
meetings and risk 

assessment

Audit strategy 
and plan

Annual Audit 
Letter

Interim report 
(if required)

ISA 260 (UK&I) 
Report

Interim audit

Year end audit of 
financial 

statements and 
annual report

Sign 
audit 

opinion

■ Perform risk 
assessment 
procedures 
and identify 
risks

■ Determine 
audit strategy

■ Determine 
planned audit 
approach

■ Understand accounting 
and reporting activities

■ Evaluate design and 
implementation of 
selected controls

■ Test operating 
effectiveness of selected 
controls

■ Assess control risk and 
risk of the accounts 
being misstated

■ Plan substantive procedures

■ Perform substantive 
procedures

■ Consider if audit evidence is 
sufficient and appropriate

■ Perform completion 
procedures

■ Perform overall 
evaluation

■ Form an audit opinion

■ Governance and Audit 
Committee reporting

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

D&A
ENABLED

AUDIT 
METHODOLOGY

P
age - 28



11© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 2: Audit team

Your audit team has been drawn from our specialist public sector assurance department. 

Name John Cornett

Position Director

‘My role is to lead our team and ensure the delivery 
of a high quality, valued added external audit 
opinion.

I will be the main point of contact for the 
Governance and Audit Committee, Chief Executive 
and Strategic Directors.’

Name Mike Norman

Position Manager

‘I will continue to provide quality assurance for the 
audit work and specifically any technical 
accounting and risk areas. 

I will work closely with the finance team to ensure 
we add value.’

Name Kerry Sharna

Position Assistant Manager

‘I will be responsible for the on-site delivery of our 
work and will supervise the work of our audit 
assistants.’

Kerry Sharma
Assistant Manager

0115 935 3652
Kerry.sharma@kpmg.co.uk

Mike Norman
Manager

0115 935 3554
michael.norman@kpmg.co.uk

John Cornett 

Director

07468749927

John.cornett@kpmg.co.uk

P
age - 29



12© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 3: Independence and objectivity requirements

Independence and objectivity

Professional standards require auditors to communicate to those charged with governance, 
at least annually, all relationships that may bear on the firm’s independence and the 
objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff. The standards also place 
requirements on auditors in relation to integrity, objectivity and independence.

The standards define ‘those charged with governance’ as ‘those persons entrusted with the 
supervision, control and direction of an entity’. In your case this is the Governance and 
Audit Committee.

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent. APB Ethical Standard 
1 Integrity, Objectivity and Independence requires us to communicate to you in writing all 
significant facts and matters, including those related to the provision of non-audit services 
and the safeguards put in place, in our professional judgement, may reasonably be thought 
to bear on KPMG LLP’s independence and the objectivity of the Engagement Lead and the 
audit team.

Further to this auditors are required by the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice to: 

■ Carry out their work with integrity, independence and objectivity;

■ Be transparent and report publicly as required;

■ Be professional and proportional in conducting work; 

■ Be mindful of the activities of inspectorates to prevent duplication;

■ Take a constructive and positive approach to their work; 

■ Comply with data statutory and other relevant requirements relating to the security, 
transfer, holding, disclosure and disposal of information.

PSAA’s Terms of Appointment includes several references to arrangements designed to 
support and reinforce the requirements relating to independence, which auditors must 
comply with. These are as follows:

■ Auditors and senior members of their staff who are directly involved in the 
management, supervision or delivery of PSAA audit work should not take part in 
political activity.

■ No member or employee of the firm should accept or hold an appointment as a 
member of an audited body whose auditor is, or is proposed to be, from the same firm. 
In addition, no member or employee of the firm should accept or hold such 
appointments at related bodies, such as those linked to the audited body through a 
strategic partnership.

■ Audit staff are expected not to accept appointments as Governors at certain types of 
schools within the local authority.

■ Auditors and their staff should not be employed in any capacity (whether paid or 
unpaid) by an audited body or other organisation providing services to an audited body 
whilst being employed by the firm.

■ Auditors appointed by the PSAA should not accept engagements which involve 
commenting on the performance of other PSAA auditors on PSAA work without first 
consulting PSAA.

■ Auditors are expected to comply with the Terms of Appointment policy for the 
Engagement Lead to be changed on a periodic basis.

■ Audit suppliers are required to obtain the PSAA’s written approval prior to changing any 
Engagement Lead in respect of each audited body.

■ Certain other staff changes or appointments require positive action to be taken by 
Firms as set out in the Terms of Appointment.

Confirmation statement

We confirm that as of February 2016 in our professional judgement, KPMG LLP is 
independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and the 
objectivity of the Engagement Lead and audit team is not impaired.

P
age - 30



© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered 
trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International.

Produced by Create Graphics/Document number: CRT053550A

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We 
take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their individual capacities, or to third parties. We 
draw your attention to the Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies, which is 
available on Public Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place 
proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are 
dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact Andrew Bush, the 
engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with 
your response please contact the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers, by email to Andrew.Sayers@kpmg.co.uk
After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access 
PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk by telephoning 020 7072 
7445 or by writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, 
Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.

P
age - 31

mailto:Andrew.Sayers@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk


Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF:  CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER 

REPORT NO: CFM359

DATE:    24 March 2016

TITLE: Internal Audit Progress Report:
19 November 2015 to 9 March 2016

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

None

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Executive Member, Governance

CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Wyles
Corporate Finance Manager
r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
Tel: (01476) 406210

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below:

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and 
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS None

1. RECOMMENDATION

Governance and Audit Committee is requested to review and note the contents of the 
attached progress report that has been prepared by the internal auditors RSM.  
 
2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

This is the fourth in a series of regular in-year progress reports summarising the 
results of work undertaken by the internal audit service. This report covers the period 
19 November 2015 to 9 March 2016.  

Page - 32

Agenda Item 8

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

Introduction and Background

In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards the internal audit service 
provides assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s governance, 
risk management and control arrangements. The opinion provided within individual 
reports issued to management contributes towards an annual audit opinion that forms 
part of the framework of assurances that informs the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement.

Summary of Work Undertaken from 19 November 2015 to 9 March 2016

The internal audit plan for 2015-16 was approved by this Committee on 26 March 
2015 and this report provides details of progress against the plan – see Appendix A – 
accompanying report prepared by RSM.  This completes the audit plan for 2015-16.

During the period 19 November 2015 to 9 March 2016 seven reports have been 
finalised.  A Follow Up audit has also been undertaken – see Appendix B – 
accompanying report prepared by RSM.  A representative from RSM will be in 
attendance at the meeting to present and respond to any questions raised by 
members in relation to the key findings in their reports.

Number of Management Actions

Audited Area Opinion

Lo
w

M
ed

iu
m

H
ig

h

To
ta

l

A
cc

ep
te

d 
Green Waste Amber/Green 6 - - 6 6

Treasury Management Green - - - - -

Gas Servicing Amber/Green 5 2 - 7 7

Elections Green - - - - -

Planning Fees Green - - - - -

Risk Management Green 3 - - 3 3

Tenancy Management Amber/Green 3 3 - 6 6

Total 17 5 - 22 22
77% 23% - 100%

Follow Up Little 
Progress - 4 - 4 4

Page - 33



Page 3 

Key Points to Note:

Of the seven audits completed a total of 22 management actions have been raised 
and accepted by management. Of the 22 management actions raised, 17 have already 
been implemented.  The latest position on implementation is summarised below:

Green Waste
All six management actions have been implemented.

Gas Servicing
Six management actions have been implemented; the other one is not due but has 
been partially implemented.

Risk Management
One management action has been implemented; the other two are not due.

Tenancy Management
Four management actions have been implemented; the other two are not due.

Follow Up
All four management actions have now been implemented.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

This report has no direct impact on the Council’s resources, including finance/budget, 
people, land/property etc.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

None

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

These are included in the report.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations require every local authority to maintain an adequate and effective internal 
audit service that would include a review of progress. Those charged with governance 

Page - 34



Page 4 

are asked to review the contents of the attached report which summarises the work 
undertaken by the internal auditors that provides a review of the progress for the 
period from 19 November 2015 to 9 March 2016.

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

None

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – Internal Audit Progress Report prepared by RSM
Appendix B – Internal Audit Follow Up Report prepared by RSM

Page - 35



 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Internal Audit Progress Report 

Governance and Audit Committee 

24 March 2016 
 

Page - 36

Agenda Item 8a



     

 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 1 

CONTENTS 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Reports considered at this Governance and Audit Committee .................................................................................... 3 

3 Looking ahead .............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

4 Other matters ............................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix A: Internal audit assignments completed to date .............................................................................................. 8 

For further information contact ........................................................................................................................................ 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As a practising member firm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), we are subject to its ethical 
and other professional requirements which are detailed at http://www.icaew.com/en/members/regulations-standards-and-guidance. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily 
a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. 
 
Recommendations for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact before they are implemented. This report, or 
our work, should not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. 
We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be 
relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be relied upon to identify all 
circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 
 
This report is supplied on the understanding that it is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed and for the purposes 
set out herein. Our work has been undertaken solely to prepare this report and state those matters that we have agreed to state to 
them. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any 
rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the Council which obtains 
access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on this report (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other 
party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on 
representations in this report.  
 
This report is released to our Client on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as 
otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), without our prior written consent.  
 
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  
 

RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 

Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB.

Page - 37



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 2 

1 INTRODUCTION 

The internal audit plan 2015/16 was approved by the Governance and Risk Committee on 26 March 2015. 

This report provides a summary update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. 

This is our final progress report of 2015/16. Please see chart below for progress against the plan. 

 

 

100% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

1

Assignments Complete Assignments in Progress Assignments Not Yet Due

Page - 38



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 3 

2 REPORTS CONSIDERED AT THIS GOVERNANCE 
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

This table informs of the audit assignments that have been completed since the last Governance and Audit 

Committee. 

The Executive Summary and Key Findings of the assignments below are attached to this progress report. 

Assignment Status Opinion issued 
Actions agreed 

L M H 

Green Waste (15.15/16) Final 

 

6 0 0 

Treasury Management (16.15/16) Final 

 

0 0 0 

Gas Servicing (17.15/16) Final 

 

5 2 0 

Elections (18.15/16) Final 

 

0 0 0 

Planning Fees (20.15/17) Final 

 

0 0 0 

Risk Management (21.15/16) Final 

 

3 0 0 

Tenancy Management (22.15/16) Final 

 

3 3 0 

Follow Up 3 (19.15/16) * Final LITTLE PROGRESS 0 4 0 

*Follow Up report presented to Governance and Audit Committee separately. 

Appendix A details the full history of the audits completed in 2015/16 that have been presented to previous meetings 

of the Governance and Audit Committee. 

Page - 39



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 4 

2.1 Impact of findings to date 

 

 

Green Waste 

Conclusion: Amber-Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken six low priority findings were identified.  

Management actions were agreed in respect of all findings. 

 

 

Treasury Management 

Conclusion: Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

The controls identified to be in place were considered to be adequately designed, and testing found 
that they were being correctly applied, as a consequence, no findings were identified that required 
management attention. 

  

 

Gas Servicing 

Conclusion: Amber-Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken seven findings were identified; two medium and five low priority. 

Management actions were agreed in respect of all findings. 

The medium findings related to: 

 The number of properties on the spreadsheet used to monitor gas servicing could not be agreed to the 

number of properties notified for billing purposes. It was also identified that reliance is also placed on the gas 

contractor’s record as the prime property record for gas servicing. 

Information obtained at the time of additional testing identified that a manual reconciliation, using a 

spreadsheet, is being compiled between the two Council systems and the gas contractor’s system, however 

this was identified to still be work in progress.  

 

 Reconciliations are performed between the gas contractor’s log of properties due for a gas service and the 

list of properties in the Housing Management portfolio.  

Additional testing undertaken, based on analysis of information received post audit, identified a number of 
properties that appeared not to have been serviced in the previous 12 months. These queries were 
resolved, but it highlighted the need to ensure that housing records are maintained up to date at all times. 

Page - 40



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 5 

 

Elections 

Conclusion: Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

The controls identified to be in place were considered to be adequately designed, and testing found 
that they were being correctly applied, as a consequence, no findings were identified that required 
management attention. 

 

 

Planning Fees 

Conclusion: Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

The controls identified to be in place were considered to be adequately designed, and testing found 
that they were being correctly applied, as a consequence, no findings were identified that required 
management attention. 

  

 

Risk Management 

Conclusion: Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken three low priority findings were identified. 

Management actions were agreed in respect of all findings. 

 

Tenancy Management 

Conclusion: Amber-Green Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken six findings were identified; three medium and three low priority. 

Management actions were agreed in respect of all findings. 

The medium findings related to: 

 Occupancy checks are no longer being periodically undertaken therefore there is a risk that tenancy breaches 
such as subletting may not be identified. 

 Through sample testing we noted instances where the four week tenancy notice period was not being adhered 
to. This increases the risk of loss of tenancy income for the Council.  

 We identified that reviews of estate inspections and health and safety checks over communal areas were not 
being updated to confirm when necessary repairs had been carried out. We noted issues persisting over a 
number of months. This creates a risk of potential breaches of health and safety legislation or risk to the 
general public.  

 
Page - 41



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 6 

3 LOOKING AHEAD 

Work on the 2015/16 plan has been concluded, with no further assignments to be completed.  

 

Page - 42



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 7 

4 OTHER MATTERS 

4.1 Changes to the audit plan 

The following reviews have been deferred to 2016/17: 

 Financial Regulations 

 Procurement  

Page - 43



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 8 

APPENDIX A: INTERNAL AUDIT ASSIGNMENTS 
COMPLETED TO DATE 

Reports previously seen by the Governance and Audit Committee and included for information purposes only: 

Assignment Status Opinion issued 
Actions agreed 

L M H 

Follow Up 1 (1.15/16) Final 
REASONABLE 

PROGRESS 
0 4 0 

Food Safety Enforcement (2.15/16) Final 

 

1 2 0 

Welfare Reform (3.15/16) Final 

 

2 0 0 

Partnerships (4.15/16) Final 

 

2 3 0 

Homelessness (5.15/16) Final 

 

3 0 0 

Document Management and CRM 

(6.15/16) 
Final 

ADVISORY 

REVIEW 
5 4 0 

Aids and Adaptations (7.15/16) Final 

 

4 3 0 

Waste and Recycling - Inventory and 
Stock (8.15/16) 

Final 

 

2 1 0 

Voids Management (9.15/16) Final 

 

2 1 0 

Disposal of Surplus Equipment (10.15/16) Final 

 

0 2 0 

Page - 44



 

 South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 9 

Assignment Status Opinion issued 
Actions agreed 

L M H 

Insurance (11.15/16) Final 

 

1 2 0 

Safeguarding (12.15/16) Final 

 

0 0 0 

Follow Up 2 (13.15/16) Final GOOD PROGRESS 0 4 0 

General Ledger (14.15/16) Final 

 

1 1 0 

 

Page - 45



 

rsmuk.com 

The UK group of companies and LLPs trading as RSM is a member of the RSM network. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is 
an independent accounting and consulting firm each of which practises in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction. The RSM network is 

administered by RSM International Limited, a company registered in England and Wales (company number 4040598) whose registered office is at 11 Old Jewry, London EC2R 8DU. The brand and 
trademark RSM and other intellectual property rights used by members of the network are owned by RSM International Association, an association governed by article 60 et seq of the Civil Code of 
Switzerland whose seat is in Zug. 

RSM UK Consulting LLP, RSM Corporate Finance LLP, RSM Restructuring Advisory LLP, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP, RSM Tax and Advisory Services LLP, RSM UK Audit LLP, RSM 
Employer Services Limited and RSM UK Tax and Accounting Limited are not authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 but we are able in certain circumstances to offer a limited 

range of investment services because we are members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. We can provide these investment services if they are an incidental part of the 
professional services we have been engaged to provide. Baker Tilly Creditor Services LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for credit-related regulated activities. RSM 
& Co (UK) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to conduct a range of investment business activities. Before accepting an engagement, contact with the existing 

accountant will be made to request information on any matters of which, in the existing accountant’s opinion, the firm needs to be aware before deciding whether to accept the engagement. 

© 2015 RSM UK Group LLP, all rights reserved.  

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Chris Williams 

chris.williams@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07753 584 993 

 

Robert Barnett 

robert.barnett@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07791 237 658 

 

Amjad Ali 

amjad.ali@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07800 617 139 

 

Address: 

RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP 

Suite A, 7th Floor 

City Gate East 

Tollhouse Hill 

Nottingham NG1 5FS 

Phone: 0115 964 4450 

 

Page - 46



 

  South Kesteven District Council Green Waste15.15/16| 2 

1.1 Background 

The Green Waste scheme is a chargeable service, available to all residents for the District, allowing them to have their 

garden waste collected and disposed of by the Council for an annual fee. The fees and charges for the scheme are 

approved by Cabinet each year, and have not increased since the service was introduced in 2012/13. A 

recommendation is being made to Cabinet for these fees to be increased from 2016/17. 

The service runs from April to March, and the fee is charged in full, regardless of the time of year when the 

subscription is taken out. New subscribers to the scheme have to purchase a green bin from the Council. All 

subscribers receive a sticker to attach to the bin when they have paid the subscription fee, this identifies to collection 

operative’s which green bins they can empty. Collections are made fortnightly for most of the year, changing to 

monthly from December to February. 

The Civica system is used to complete all new applications, with customers re-subscribing each year. Stickers for 

adhering on green waste bins are posted to all customers once payment has been received. 

As at 1 December 2015, the scheme had 27,343 customers, who had purchased approximately 30,000 bin stickers, 

amounting to £733,216 of income.50% of sales are made online by customers, 42% are made over the phone and 

processed by Customer Services staff, and 8% are made in person, again being processed by Customer Services 

staff. 

 

1.2 Conclusion 

As the Civica system was only introduced in May 2015, and Green Waste was the first system to go live, there are a 

number of findings where we have identified areas for improvement; slight amendments to Civica and the process 

would result in an improved experience for both staff and customers. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take reasonable 

assurance that the controls in place to manage this risk are suitably 

designed and consistently applied. However, we have identified issues that 

need to be addressed in order to ensure that the control framework is 

effective in managing the identified risks. 

 

GREEN WASTE - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 47



 

  South Kesteven District Council Green Waste15.15/16| 3 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

Fees and charges for the Green Waste scheme are approved by Cabinet each year, and the fees to be levied have 

been costed to prevent the service from running at a deficit. Sample testing of 35 subscriptions to the 2015/16 scheme 

confirmed that income received for the sale of green bins and green waste stickers is correctly recorded on the 

Finance system. Income and expenditure against budget for the green waste collection is monitored on a monthly 

basis. 

Information on the Green Waste Collection service, including charges, is readily available to the general public via the 

Council’s website. A variety of methods and payment options are available for new customers signing up to the service 

and testing of a sample of 35 subscriptions during the 2015/16 year confirmed that welcome letters are sent to 

customers with the required number of stickers enclosed. Any new or additional bins are delivered to customers in a 

timely manner, with an internal performance measure of 10 working days being in place. 

During February to May 2015, the Council employed the services of an external mailing company, MRP, to print the 

letters and stickers, and mail these to customers due to the high demand during this period. Customer Services staff 

now print letters direct from Civica, and include the required number of stickers in the envelope. The design and colour 

of the sticker changes each year to allow for easy identification by Green Waste Operatives. Attributes are also added 

onto Bartech to allow Operatives to see whether the payment has been made. 

Email addresses are captured for all customers where possible, with an email reminder being sent in February of each 

year to advise of the new charges for the following year, and to encourage resubscription to the service. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

Policies and procedures are not adhered to, leading 

to failure in operational performance. 
3 (10) 2 (10) 5 0 0 

Green Waste charges are not effectively managed 

leading to a loss of income. 
0 (5) 1 (5) 1 0 0 

Total   6 0 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

 

Page - 48



 

  South Kesteven District Council Green Waste15.15/16| 4 

2 ACTION PLAN 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could 

lead to: Financial losses which could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or 

process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management 

issue that may, with a high degree of certainty, lead to: Substantial losses, violation of corporate 

strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media 

or adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

 

The table below sets out the actions agreed by management to address the findings: 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for management Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

Risk: Policies and procedures are not adhered to, leading to failure in operational performance. 

1 There are no policies and 

procedures in place for the 

Green Waste scheme in 

respect of the delivery of 

new bins. 

Low Policies and procedures 

will be documented to 

provide staff with 

consistent guidance on the 

process to be followed. 

31 March 2016 Business 

Manager - Street 

Care 

2 There is a lack of notes 

recorded within Civica as 

to the reasons why refunds 

and price variances are 

issued. 

No checks are undertaken 

as to whether the answers 

provided during the 

resubscription process, 

and therefore the fee 

charged, is correct. 

Low Customer Services staff 

will be reminded of the 

revised fees and charges 

for the new financial year, 

and also to record notes 

within Civica of the reason 

for any variances between 

the charge expected and 

that paid and for any 

refunds issued. 

 

We will investigate whether 

we can enable Civica to 

bring up a customer’s 

existing subscription details 

when they are ordering a 

new or additional bin, in 

order to prevent false 

answers being provided to 

the questions to minimise 

their costs. 

31 January 2016 Strategic Lead - 

Programme 

Delivery 

Page - 49



 

  South Kesteven District Council Green Waste15.15/16| 5 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for management Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

3 There were no 

reconciliations completed 

between the subscriptions 

to the 2015/16 Green 

Waste scheme, and the 

number of letters and 

stickers posted out to 

customers. 

Low The new supplier of 

printing and mailing service 

will be requested to provide 

a receipt of all mail 

despatched, and the 

stickers included within 

their letters, to ensure we 

can then reconcile this 

information with the 

records of sales that day. 

31 March 2016 Strategic Lead - 

Programme 

Delivery 

4 Opportunities are being 

missed to obtain feedback 

from customers who do not 

renew their subscription to 

the service. 

Low An email will be sent to 

customers who do not 

renew their subscription to 

the Green Waste service 

each year, to enable us to 

gain feedback on the 

service. 

30 June 2016 Strategic Lead - 

Programme 

Delivery 

5 Civica does not currently 

record the date of when 

bins were delivered, 

resulting in performance 

monitoring being 

undertaken manually. 

Low Civica will be amended to 

allow for the date of bin 

delivery to be recorded. A 

report will then be 

designed to allow for the 

Service Manager to 

monitor the performance of 

the Green Waste team. 

31 December 2015 Civica Project 

Officer 

Risk: Green Waste charges are not effectively managed leading to a loss of income. 

6 No reconciliations are 

performed between the 

stickers expected to be 

held, and those actually 

held. 

Low A sticker reconciliation will 

be undertaken each week, 

especially in times of peak 

sales, to account for all 

stickers ordered. Any 

significant variances 

between those expected 

and those counted will be 

investigated. 

31 March 2016 Strategic Lead - 

Programme 

Delivery 

Page - 50



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Treasury Management 16.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Background 

An audit of Treasury Management was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16. 

The Council has a dedicated Treasury Management Officer responsible for daily monitoring of the cash flow, and 

identifying investments and money market movements to ensure the Council maximises the interest available on its 

surplus funds, while also having funds available at the right time to meet financial commitments. 

All of the Council’s loans are from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). In March 2012 two additional loans were taken 

out totalling £120m for the debt settlement. One loan for £96.7m is for a period of 30 years with maturity date of 2042 and 

the second loan of £25m is for a period of eight years with a maturity date of 2020. As at 30 November 2015 the Council 

loans to the PWLB totalled £111.376 million (a balance of £1m remained for loans taken out during period May 1985 to 

November 1987 and the remaining balances of the two loans taken out in March 2012). 

1.2 Conclusion 

No issues were found that were consider significant enough to require management to take action. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take substantial 

assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage 

the identified risks are suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 

effectively. 

 

 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

The Council has a Treasury Management Strategy in place for 2015/16. The strategy outlines expected treasury 

activity, and has been approved by the Council. The strategy includes the Council's treasury management policy 

statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities. 

Treasury Management Procedural guidance is in place, setting out the manner in which the Council will seek to 

achieve its policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. This guidance was 

last updated in July 2015. 

The Council use the Logotech Treasury Management system as a cash flow forecasting tool on a daily basis. The 

actual cash flow is updated daily, and balanced to the bank accounts, and is used to identify either surplus funds that 

can be invested or funds required, which have to be withdrawn from Money Market Fund accounts to cover cash flow 

shortfalls. 

Money Market Fund account deposits and withdrawals are processed by the Treasury Management Officer through 

the My Treasury system, an electronic dealing system. All movement made are subject to independent review, and are 

recorded in the ‘Red Book”, a manual record retained in Finance. Each movement results in a deal ticket being 

produced, and a confirmation is received from the Counterparty (for deposits) or bank (for withdrawals). 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 51



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Treasury Management 16.15/16 | 3 

The Treasury Management Strategy defines limits for fixed term investments, and these are classified as either 

Specified or Non Specified investments. Review identified that between April and November 2015, 17 fixed term 

investments had been made, and testing of a sample of 10 of these found them all to have been made in accordance 

with the requirements of the treasury management strategy. 

Furthermore, all paperwork required to support money market transactions and fixed term investments was found to 

be adequately completed and filed. 

An investment register spreadsheet is maintained, recording all current investments, this is printed off on a daily basis 

to retain a record of the Council’s total investment record for each day. 

Payments required to make investments are actioned using CHAPS payments through NatWest bank’s online system 

Bankline. Review of access to make payments found that access to authorise payments is restricted to six senior staff 

in Finance, with the system having added security in that each transaction requires authorisation by two independent 

officers. 

As a further precaution, the Council also has an insurance crime policy covering the up to £5 million for employee 

dishonesty; computer fraud and funds transfer fraud, forgery and counterfeiting. 

Testing found that payments for PWLB loans are taken by direct debit, and that payments for the year to date had 

been taken on the correct dates and for the correct amounts, with journals having been prepared and processed to 

record the payments on the general ledger. The payments were also recorded onto Logotech for cash flow purposes. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

Insufficient cash available to meet liabilities. 0 (7) 0 (7) 0 0 0 

Council investments do not optimise interest 

earned. 
0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0 0 

Total   0 0 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

 

Page - 52



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Background  

An audit of Gas Servicing was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16. 

The Council has a legal duty to make sure that all gas appliances in properties owned and managed by the Council 

are checked each year by qualified gas servicing engineers and a certificate of compliance is obtained. Failure to 

complete these checks could have fatal consequences, as faulty gas appliances may emit poisonous carbon 

monoxide fumes, which are invisible and odourless. 

The Council’s gas servicing programme is undertaken by an external contractor, with whom a five year contract is in 

place. The contract commenced in April 2014. The gas contractor uses a web based system for managing the gas 

servicing programme and weekly reports and updates are provided to the Council’s Responsive Housing Repairs 

team. 

1.2 Conclusion 

Following testing, an issue relating to ensuring the property databases used for scheduling gas services are accurately 

maintained and up to date was identified. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take reasonable 

assurance that the controls in place to manage this risk are suitably 

designed and consistently applied. However, we have identified issues that 

need to be addressed in order to ensure that the control framework is 

effective in managing the identified risks. 
 

 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

The Council has in place a Gas, Solid Fuel, Oil and Renewable Source Heating Policy which sets out its commitment 

to tenant safety through an effective programme of safety inspections and servicing. The policy applies to all Council 

properties and tenants. However, this was found not to be version controlled, and not available to staff. 

A Gas Servicing Timeline document is in place. This is a flowchart and sets out the timeline for making appointments, 

based on no access being obtained, but there are no procedure notes in place for other administration duties for 

Council staff. 

A formal signed contract is in place with the contractor used to carry out the annual gas servicing programme, which 

covers the period April 2014 to March 2019. 

Testing identified that only Gas Safe registered contractors are used for the servicing of gas appliances. 

Tenants are fully informed of the need to carry out annual gas servicing and are made aware of the need to ensure 

that engineers can access their properties. Advance notice is given to the tenant by the gas contractor, who makes an 

appointment with the tenant for the service to take place. 

GAS SERVICING - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 53



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 3 

For the Council, a spreadsheet record of all domestic properties recording the expiry date of gas certificates is 

maintained to ensure that new certificates are obtained before they expire. However, we could not easily confirm that 

this included all relevant properties and identified that reliance is place on the gas contractor’s records, and no process 

to do a periodic reconciliation of the gas contractor’s database to the Council’s Housing Management system was in 

place. However after further sampling of records all those inspected were in date and compliant. 

A rolling 10 month servicing programme is in place to ensure that gas certification is not allowed to expire. 

For each gas service / inspection completed, a copy of the Gas Safe Record is recorded electronically on the gas 

contractor’s system to which council staff have access to view the certificate; however, the Council did not have copies 

of the certificates held on their own systems. Since the audit field work was initially completed the Gas Safety 

certificates up to December 2015 have been obtained from the gas contractor and saved on the Council’s electronic 

document management system. 

The gas contractor has a separate independent team of gas engineers who undertake a quality check of the 

completed gas services. A recent Health and Safety review identified that the Council has no independent assurance 

of the quality of work, or that Health and Safety standards are being adhered to by the Contactor’s staff. Following the 

letting of the gas contract, the Council’s Health and Safety Officer undertook a desktop review of the contract from a 

Health and Safety perspective. The concerns identified have been included on an action plan and are being addressed 

by the Business Manager - Responsive Housing Repairs. 

The gas contractor reports appliances that fail the inspection to the Responsive Housing Repairs Team orally and also 

in writing on the Gas Certificate. Minor repairs identified by the gas contractor are undertaken in accordance with the 

service contract. 

Monthly progress meetings take place between the Council and the gas contractor to discuss progress, performance 

and other issues. 

Each month a spreadsheet is provided by the gas contractor of the customer satisfaction results, however, this is not 

subject to independent validation. 

Complaints received in relation to gas servicing are recorded on the Council's performance management system and 

are responded to in line with the documented complaints policy. 

The Council's gas servicing budget is set based on the number of properties and how many will be serviced in a 12 

month period. For 2015/16 the forecast outturn is an under spend of approximately £9,000. 

 

Page - 54



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 4 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Overall Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

The overall risk is that Gas appliances are not 

serviced in line with legislative requirements 

potentially putting tenant’s lives at risk. 

0 (20) 7 (20) 5 2 0 

Total   5 2 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

 

Page - 55



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 5 

2 ACTION PLAN 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could 

lead to: Financial losses which could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or 

process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management 

issue that may, with a high degree of certainty, lead to: Substantial losses, violation of corporate 

strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media 

or adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

 

The table below sets out the actions agreed by management to address the findings: 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for 

management 

Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

Risk: Gas appliances are not serviced in line with legislative requirements potentially putting tenant’s lives 

at risk. 

1 The Gas, Solid Fuel, Oil and 

Renewable Source Heating 

Policy does not include 

version control information. 

Consequently it could not be 

determined when it was 

prepared. 

We were also informed that 

the policy has not been 

made available to staff. 

Low The date the Gas, Solid 

Fuel, Oil and Renewable 

Source Heating Policy 

was ‘last subject to 

review’ and the ‘next 

review date’ will be 

recorded on the 

procedure document. 

 

The procedure has been 

published to the staff on 

the Council’s intranet. 

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

2 There are no procedure 

notes in place for other 

administration duties for 

Council staff, e.g. ensuring 

the property database held 

by the gas contractor is 

correct, checking that all 

properties checked by the 

gas contractor have a valid 

Gas Certificate available, 

etc. 

Low Detailed procedure notes 

have been developed 

and shared with relevant 

staff for the gas servicing 

process. 

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

Page - 56



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 6 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for 

management 

Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

3 The number of properties on 

the spreadsheet used to 

monitor gas servicing could 

not be fully reconciled to the 

records held by the 

contractor. 

It was also identified that 

reliance is also placed on the 

gas contractor’s record as 

the prime property record for 

gas servicing. 

Medium The current process has 

been reviewed to ensure 

that the Council record is 

the prime record and will 

be used for monitoring of 

the gas services 

undertaken by the gas 

contractor to ensure that 

all properties are 

serviced in a timely 

manner. Records are 

now updated on the 

Council’s asset database 

with service expiry dates 

for monitoring and 

reporting. 

The first phase to align 

both systems is now 

complete. 

Work is ongoing to 

automate the reporting 

and data analysis 

process. 

May 2016 Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

4 Reconciliations are 

performed between the gas 

contractor’s log of properties 

due for a gas service and the 

list of properties in the 

Housing Management 

portfolio.  

Additional testing 

undertaken, based on 

analysis of information 

received post audit, 

identified initial reconciliation 

issues. However it was 

established that there were 

no discrepancies but it 

highlighted the need to 

ensure that housing records 

are maintained up to date at 

all times. 

Medium A full formal reconciliation 

will be undertaken 

annually in January, with 

monthly updates being 

done to ensure that 

changes to stock are 

correctly reflected in all 

three systems. New 

procedures have been 

developed to spot check 

the reconciliation of 

properties on a monthly 

basis and a full 

reconciliation has been 

undertaken since the 

audit. 

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

Page - 57



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 7 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for 

management 

Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

5 All Gas Safety Certificates 

issued for Council properties 

are held on the gas 

contractor’s system to which 

Council staff have been 

granted access. However, 

without this access the 

Council has no 

documentation to prove that 

gas installations have been 

tested annually. 

Following additional testing it 

was found that in the period 

since the audit field work 

was initially completed the 

Gas Safety certificates up to 

December 2015 have been 

obtained from the gas 

contractor. 

Low An electronic copy of the 

Gas Safe Record will be 

provided by the 

contractor and held by 

the Council on its 

electronic document 

management system. 

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

6 Each month a spreadsheet 

is provided by the gas 

contractor of the customer 

satisfaction results. 

A follow up on the refusals, 

not completed and a 

percentage of the 

dissatisfied tenants are 

contacted for further 

feedback. The project 

manager advised that the 

calls to obtain further 

feedback have not been 

made on a regular basis due 

to staffing levels.  

Low A follow up on the 

customer satisfaction 

results will be undertaken 

for the refusals, not 

completed and for all 

customers who report  

dissatisfied by contacting 

the relevant tenants for 

further feedback. The 

outcomes will be 

reviewed at the 

Operations Meeting to 

identify trends and agree 

actions where necessary.  

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

Page - 58



 

South Kesteven District Council / Gas Servicing 17.15/16 | 8 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for 

management 

Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

7 Following the award of the 

gas contract the Council’s 

Health and Safety Officer 

undertook a full review of the 

contract from a Health and 

Safety perspective. This 

identified some 

improvements that could be 

introduced and these are:: 

 Obtaining monthly copies 

of internal H&S Audits 

undertaken by the gas 

contractor 

 Six monthly internal H&S 

audits of internal gas 

engineers and monthly 

monitoring to be carried 

out by Council staff. 

 The commissioning of an 

external H&S Audit of the 

gas contract. 

Low Arrangements are being 

made for a third party gas 

contractor to be engaged 

to undertake inspections 

of 5 - 10% of the work 

undertaken by the gas 

contractor’s operatives. 

Quotes have been 

received and work will 

commence in April 2016. 

The gas contractor’s H&S 

Audit records are now 

received on a monthly 

basis. 

Implemented Business Manager 

- Responsive 

Housing Repairs 

 

Page - 59



 

  South Kesteven District Council Elections18.15/16| 2 

1.1 Background 

An audit of Elections was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16. 

The Chief Executive is the Electoral Registration Officer and the Returning Officer at District and Parish elections (as 

per Section 8 representation of Peoples Act 1983). In fulfilling their responsibilities in respect of elections the Chief 

Executive is assisted by the Executive Manager Corporate. 

The Council has a dedicated Electoral Services Team, led by the Elections and Democratic Services Team Leader. 

The team consists of two full time members of staff, a temporary member of staff and a visiting officer. The Team is 

responsible for the maintenance and upkeep of the Electoral Register for South Kesteven District Council, and this 

includes: the addition of new electors and amendments to existing records. The Team is also responsible for the 

administration and management of elections held (Local, National and European and referenda). The Xpress system 

is used for these purposes. 

Prior to 10 June 2014, the Head of each Household in the District was responsible for registering all householders; 

however,with the introduction of Individual Electoral Registration (IER) from this date, individuals are now responsible 

for their own voting registration. This procedural change requires the Council to ascertain the occupancy of each 

household annually. This was initially completed through sending a Household Enquiry Form to each address on the 

Electoral Register. Where no response was received, reminders were sent, followed by canvassing visits being made 

to obtain the required information. 

Throughout the year, there is a rolling registration process, which allows new residents to the District to register for 

inclusion on the Electoral Register. 

An annual canvass starts in July to enable publication of the Electoral Register on 1 December each year. The 

canvass involves issuing all residential properties within the District with Household Enquiry forms, monitoring the 

returns and issuing reminders where the forms are not returned. The Council also uses canvassers to visit households 

who have not returned forms following the second reminder. 

In addition to attending polling stations, electors have the option to vote by either post or by proxy. To do this they 

have to complete an application form providing a sample signature and their date of birth. The Xpress system 

electronically verifies these details on each returned postal vote to prevent fraudulent voting taking place. 

1.2 Conclusion 

There is an adequate control framework in place in respect of Elections and controls are generally being applied and 

as a result our internal audit opinion is graded as Green. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take substantial 

assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage 

the identified risks are suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 

effectively. 

 

ELECTIONS - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 60



 

  South Kesteven District Council Elections18.15/16| 3 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

Detailed procedure notes on electoral management are in place and these adequately document the processes for 
maintaining the electoral register. The procedure notes are made available to the Elections team members on a folder 
on the server. 

An Election Registration Annual Work Plan was established in November 2015. This document and sets out the key 
tasks and responsible officers and includes important dates. The tasks are ticked off as they are completed. 

A review of the job descriptions confirmed that the roles and responsibilities in respect of Elections are defined in the 
job descriptions of the Elections and Democratic Services Team Leader and team members. 

Bulletins are received from the Electoral Commission and these are communicated to the team. The bulletins are a 
summary of key messages to Returning Officers, Electoral Registration Officers, their staff and other stakeholders. 
The Bulletins are also available on the Electoral Commission website. 

Residents are able to apply for inclusion on the electoral register throughout the year and all applications received are 
checked before processing. Testing of 20 new applications for the electoral register within the current financial year 
identified that in all cases the applications had been accurately processed. 

Voters are able to register on the www.gov.uk/register-to-vote website, a link to this is provided on the Council’s 
website or by writing to the Council who then forward the voter a Registration form. 

Monthly reports are received from Building Control containing details of new properties developed in the area as well 
as changes to properties. Weekly reports are also received from Council Tax informing of any changes to liable 
parties. Notifications are also received from other Local Authorities of changes to voter location and a regular report is 
also received from the Registrar of Deaths. On receipt of the reports the appropriate changes are made to the 
Electoral Register. 

A register of Electors HEF Annual Canvass 2015 Project Plan was put into place for the 2015 annual canvass. In late 
July 2015, the Household Enquiry Forms (HEF) were sent to every household in the District, requiring householders to 
confirm the details of those living at the address and registered to vote are correct. Two reminder letters are issued 
and canvassers visit those properties where the form has still not been returned. A report is produced each week to 
monitor the progress made with the forms returned. 

Where there were no changes required to be made to the Electoral Register, the voters were provided with four 
options: online, phone, text or complete the form to confirm that no changes were required to be made. 

A report is run at the end of each canvass and is also intermittently during year and reviewed for duplicate 
entries.There is also a tab on the system which allows staff to view duplicate entries and make the necessary 
changes.  

Testing of 15 amendments which needed to be updated on the system in the current financial year identified that in all 
cases the amendments were correctly applied and these changes were made promptly after the change was required. 
Standard letters are issued to residents that are added or deleted from the Electoral Register. 

Access to the Electoral Register software is provided by IT on the request of the Elections and Democratic Services. 
IT makes the software available to the member of staff’s PC and the Xpress administrators set up the member of staff 
as a user. There are three designated members of staff with administrator access and the user list is subject to review 
every quarter. 

Each year a Communication Plan is put into place, which includes actions that will be undertaken, why it is taking 
place and a deadline date. The Plan includes social media campaigns to target groups who do not respond. 

The Council issues regular press statements regarding the elections and also uses social media like Facebook to 
publish information. Information on elections is also published on the Council’s website. 

Page - 61



 

  South Kesteven District Council Elections18.15/16| 4 

Election notifications are published 25 days before election at Council Offices, in the local media and also on the 
Council’s website. Notices of the elections are sent to the Parishes to be displayed. 

An Election Registration Annual Work Plan was established in November 2015, which sets out the important dates, 
key tasks and responsible officers. The tasks are ticked off as they are completed. 

The individual registration form includes a section “Can’t vote in person?” where the voter can indicate if they would 
like to vote by post or by proxy. The online application form also provides the same facility. A postal vote application 
form is then sent to the elector.  A report is produced from Xpress of all persons who have applied to vote by post and 
the postal ballot papers are then sent out to them. Testing a sample of new applications established that where the 
preference for postal voting was indicated this was correctly indicated onto their record. 

Temporary workers are recruited as canvassers during the annual canvass. The canvassers are required to chase 
those households who have not completed a return.   During elections, temporary staff  will assist by manning polling 
stations and counting of the votes. Training is provided to all staff involved with the elections (permanent, volunteers 
and temporary staff). 

On election days, eight Inspectors are used to visit polling stations two or three times during the day.  A report is 
produced to provide feedback. 

The results of all elections (District, Parish, Parliamentary, European and By-elections) are published on the Council’s 
website. The Elections Turnout document is used to monitor and record turnout of all elections held. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

Electoral Register is inaccurate or incomplete. 0 (16) 0 (16) 0 0 0 

Election notifications are not advertised 

appropriately. 
0 (6) 0 (6) 0 0 0 

Those requiring postal voting are not identified and 

actioned in sufficient time for a response. 
0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0 0 

Staff resources are not managed appropriately 

during elections. 
0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0 0 

Elections turnout is not monitored and recorded. 0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0 0 

Total   0 0 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of 

controls reviewed in this area.

Page - 62



 

  South Kesteven District Council Planning Fees 20.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Background 

An audit of Planning Fees was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16. 

The Planning & Compensation Act 2003, section 53 provides the legal framework for charging for pre application 

advice and identifies that fees levied should not exceed the costs of the service. A system of charging for pre-

application advice helps to reduce the number of speculative and time wasting enquiries. This allows the Council’s 

planning officers to concentrate upon genuine enquiries. 

A working group review was undertaken regarding introducing a charging regime; who to charge; the possible fees 

income and lessons learnt from other authorities. Following this the Council introduced pre application advice fees in 

2013. Pre-application advice charges are made for all requests for written advice. 

Uniform software is used to manage the planning processes and all requests for pre planning advice are recorded 

onto Uniform and work is not commenced until the applicable fees have been received. The requests are 

acknowledged and a written response is provided. 

 

1.2 Conclusion 

Based on the testing undertaken, we identified no significant findings that required management action.  

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take substantial 

assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage 

the identified risks are suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 

effectively. 

 

PLANNING FEES - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 63



 

  South Kesteven District Council Planning Fees 20.15/16 | 3 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

The Council has comprehensive procedure notes in relation to pre application planning advice fees. The procedure 

provides a step by step guide in relation to planning advice and fees and is published on the Council's website. In 

addition to this, information regarding planning and fees is also available on the Council's website. 

Prior to introducing charges for pre-application planning advice, the Council conducted an exercise to consider the 

merits of charging for the advice and a working group was set up which took account of the principles of introducing a 

charging regime, who to charge, the possible fees income and lessons learnt from other authorities. The purpose of 

charging for pre-application advice was to reduce the number of speculative and wasted enquiries. The conclusion of 

the exercise resulted in the following: 

 That a scheme of charges is introduced from 1st April 2013. 

 That the scale of charges should be set and agreed having regard to the cost of providing the service. 

 A trial run of procedures and processes be initiated by 1st January 2013. 

 Launch of service should include engagement with regular users and Councillors. 

As a result of the exercise fees were introduced that complied with statutory guidelines. 

Pre-application advice fees are subject to annual review and approval by the Council’s Cabinet. The fees for 2015/16 

were approved by the Cabinet in December 2014, and in November / December 2015 an exercise was undertaken to 

compare the Council’s fees with those of neighbouring Local Authorities. The results showed that the fees charged by 

the Council are in the higher bracket but are still within the legal limits. 

For a sample of 30 processed pre-planning advice applications, testing identified that: the receipt number was 

recorded on the system; the fee charged was in accordance to the table of fees; pre application advice 

acknowledgement letters were sent out to the customer; and the pre planning advice was provided by letter or email. 

Testing a sample of 30 pre planning applications processed in the current financial year identified when payments 

were being received: 

 The receipt number was always recorded on the system 

 The fees charged were in accordance to the table of fees, apart from the two minor errors identified below. 

 Pre application advice acknowledgement letters were always sent out to the customer 

 Responses were always sent via letter or email. 

In two instances it was found that the rate which was charged was not in accordance with the fee which was meant to 

be charged according to the table of fees 2015/16. It was determined that: 

 (Reference number S15/3294) Records on the system show that the customer was charged £380.48 when 

according to the table of fees this was supposed to be £380.40. We were informed by the Development 

Management Planner that the £0.08 overcharge came about from an error in communicating the correct fees. 

 (Reference number S15/3146) Fee required is recorded as £253, but according to the policy this should be 

£253.20, so undercharged. 

The value of these errors was considered negligible, and consequently no management action was required. 
Page - 64



 

  South Kesteven District Council Planning Fees 20.15/16 | 4 

Pre-planning application advice is only given once the fees have been received by the Council; consequently no 

process for chasing debtors is required. 

A cost effective exercise was undertaken in 2012 when fees for the service were introduced, however due to the due 

to the small volume of pre-planning applications received, fees received it is not considered cost effective for the 

Council to monitor this service. 

Executive Manager Development and Growth receives monthly budget reports from finance which are used to 

monitors the income and expenditure of all Planning Services. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

Fees levied exceed the costs of the service, 

resulting in the Council breaching the provision 

identified in section 53 of the Planning & 

Compensation Act 2003 

0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0 0 

Not all the costs incurred and income due are 

identified, resulting in financial loss to the Council. 
0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0 0 

Total   0 0 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

Page - 65



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Risk Management 21.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Background 

We carried out an audit of the Risk Management system as part of the agreed internal audit programme for 2015/16. 

Our periodic review of the risk management framework is designed to ensure that this process continues to evolve and 

is used effectively as a tool for good governance. 

Risk Management is fundamental to the Council’s achievement of its strategic objectives. The development and 

maintenance of an effective risk management system and assurance framework is a key element for providing on-

going assurance to management and Members over the effectiveness of controls identified to mitigate principal risks 

that threaten the achievement of strategic objectives. 

South Kesteven District Council has two documented risk registers: The Corporate Risk Register which contains those 

risks which may impact achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives and a Business Risk Register documenting 

risks identified at a business level.  The Business Risk Register is further broken down into ‘business as usual risks’ 

and ’exceptional risks’ which require a higher degree of monitoring and are discussed at Risk Management Group. 

A full review of the Business Risk Register was completed in December.  This involved the Governance and Risk 

Officer having meetings with all Business Managers to discuss the risks already recorded on the risk register and to 

consider any new risks that needed to be included. 

 

1.2 Conclusion 

The Council has in place an established process for identifying, recording and monitoring risks and has continued to 

demonstrate its commitment to the risk management process by continuously striving to improve the processes in 

place. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take substantial 

assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage 

the identified risk are suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 

effectively. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 66



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Risk Management 21.15/16 | 3 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

The Council continues to evolve the risk management process and in 2015 the Risk Management Framework was 

reviewed and updated to ensure the document was fit for purpose and is based on the principles of the ISO 31000 

International Standard for Risk Management. The framework includes detail on how to identify a risk, the scoring 

matrix in place to ensure all risks are scored using a standard methodology and a definition of the Council’s risk 

appetite. 

Risks captured on the risk registers are owned and managed by either an Executive Manager (for the Corporate Risk 

Register) or a Business Manager (for the Business Risk Register).  They are supported in this by the Governance & 

Risk Officer who provides support to managers if required and chairs the Risk Management Group. 

We have identified three areas where a management action is required. Our discussions during the audit revealed that 

the Council officers had also identified these areas for improvement and are fully engaged with addressing the actions. 

Further detail on these actions can be found in Section 2 of this report. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

Low Medium High 

The Council does not have a clear methodology in 

place for identifying objectives and identifying, 

assessing, prioritising, preventing or containing high 

priority risks. This may lead to inappropriate 

objectives being defined and risks not being 

identified or managed properly. 

2 (13) 1 (13) 3 0 0 

Total   3 0 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

Page - 67



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Risk Management 21.15/16 | 4 

2 ACTION PLAN 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could 

lead to: Financial losses which could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or 

process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management 

issue that may, with a high degree of certainty, lead to: Substantial losses, violation of corporate 

strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media 

or adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

 

The table below sets out the actions agreed by management to address the findings: 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for management Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

Risk: The Council does not have a clear methodology in place for identifying objectives and identifying, 

assessing, prioritising, preventing or containing high priority risks. This may lead to inappropriate objectives 

being defined and risks not being identified or managed properly. 

1 There is no clear link 

from the risks 

documented on the 

Corporate Risk Register 

to the Strategic objectives 

of the Council. 

Low Will include the 

corresponding strategic 

objectives on the corporate 

risk register. 

February 2016 Management 

Accountant  

Team Leader 

2 Attendance at Risk 

Management Group 

across the Business 

Managers is not 

consistent. 

Low The importance of 

attending and engaging at 

Risk Management Group 

will be reinforced to 

Business Managers. 

April 2016 Management 

Accountant  

Team Leader 

3 Staff with responsibility 

for risk management 

have not received 

refresher training in 

recent years. 

Low Provide back to basics 

training for all managers 

and consideration to 

extend this training to all 

staff. 

September 2016 Management 

Accountant  

Team Leader 

Page - 68



 

 South Kesteven District Council / Tenancy Management 22.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Background  

An audit of Tenancy Management was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16. 

The Council’s Housing Management section, under the Business Manager Housing, is responsible for the 

management of tenants in over 6,200 Council properties. 

The Government published Tenancy Standard documents in 2012 which set out standards which Local Authorities 

have to adhere to. For the purpose of this review, the relevant standards were identified as the Tenancy Standard, 

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Standard and the Neighbourhood and Community Standard. 

This review focused on the management of tenancies from sign up to termination and covered procedures and 

controls for the sign up process, tenancy checks, estate inspections, health and safety checks, complaints and 

termination notifications. 

1.2 Conclusion 

While on the whole testing found controls are place to being complied with, there were a number of issues identified 

that require management action which affected the level of assurance. 

Internal Audit Opinion: 

Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can take reasonable 

assurance that the controls in place to manage this risk are suitably 

designed and consistently applied. However, we have identified issues that 

need to be addressed in order to ensure that the control framework is 

effective in managing the identified risk. 
 

1.3 Key findings 

The key findings from this review are as follows: 

The Council has a Tenancy Strategy, Tenancy Policy and Housing Asset Management Strategy in place; these 

documents are available for members of the general public to view on the Council's website. 

Council policies relating to tenancy and housing management include statements to meet the requirements as defined 

in the Regulatory Consumer Standards published by the Government for Tenancy, Tenant Involvement and 

Neighbourhood & Community. 

When signing up a new tenant a checklist is used to ensure that all relevant documents have been signed, issued or 

received. Sample testing found these to be completed and signed in all 20 new tenancies reviewed, and that signed 

tenancy agreements were also held for all. 

During the period of an introductory tenancy (12 months) at least two appraisals are being carried out to determine 

whether or not the tenant is successfully maintaining their tenancy, although occupancy checks on secure tenancies 

are not being routinely undertaken. 

Records relating to suspected tenancy breaches for rent arrears and anti-social behaviour are maintained. 

TENANCY MANAGEMENT - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 69



 

 South Kesteven District Council / Tenancy Management 22.15/16 | 3 

Tenants are required to give the Council at least four weeks’ notice of their intention to vacate their property and end 

their tenancy. Testing found that the four weeks’ termination notice period is not always being adhered to. 

A pre-termination visit is conducted by the Voids team to identify repairs and other work that is required enabling better 

preparation ready for when the property is vacated. However, testing of 20 terminated tenancies identified two cases 

where no visit was undertaken with the reason for non-visits not being recorded. 

All new tenants are issued with a survey document to complete to indicate their satisfaction with the Council letting 

process.  However, it was identified that collation of responses received was found not to have been updated since 

October 2015. 

Compliments and complaints received in relation to tenancies are recorded on the Council’s performance 

management system, along with details of responses. 

The Council has published a schedule of Estate Inspections. Testing found that for 2015 the actual inspections 

undertaken were not done in line with the published schedule. 

A formal report is prepared following each estate inspection identifying what was checked and recording any issues 

found and actions required. 

Caretakers perform monthly health and safety checks of communal areas at blocks of flats and sheltered schemes 

with any issues identified being recorded. 

It was identified that for actions identified within estate inspection reports, and also on records of health and safety 

checks of communal areas, as being ‘reported to repairs’ there was no subsequent record to identify whether these 

findings had been satisfactorily rectified. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 

Risk Control 

design* 

Compliance 

with 

controls* 

Agreed actions 

   Low Medium High 

Tenant compliance with their tenancy agreement is 

not monitored / managed resulting in breaches 

being undetected, and financial / reputational loss to 

the Council. 

1 (19) 5 (19) 3 3 0 

Total   3 3 0 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

 

Page - 70



 

 South Kesteven District Council / Tenancy Management 22.15/16 | 4 

2 ACTION PLAN 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could 

lead to: Financial losses which could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or 

process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management 

issue that may, with a high degree of certainty, lead to: Substantial losses, violation of corporate 

strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media 

or adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

 

The table below sets out the actions agreed by management to address the findings: 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for management Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

Risk: Tenant compliance with their tenancy agreement is not monitored / managed resulting in breaches 

being undetected, and financial / reputational loss to the Council. 

1 We were informed by the 

Housing Management Team 

Leader that occupancy checks 

are no longer carried out 

routinely. 

Medium Consideration to be given 

to re-introducing 

occupancy checks, 

however, this will need 

approval from Strategic 

Management Team. 

May 2016 Business 

Manager Housing 

2 Testing of a sample of 20 

tenancy terminations found 

that in five cases the four 

week’s (28 days) notice was 

not adhered to. 

Medium Staff  have been reminded 

of the four week 

requirement and the 

procedure has been 

amended to clearly define 

the end of week start. 

 Implemented Housing 

Management 

Team Leader 

3 Review of a sample of 20 

tenancy termination records 

found that in two cases where 

no pre-termination visit was 

conducted, the Voids Admin 

Assistant advised that this 

may be due to staff being 

unable to contact the tenant to 

arrange a pre-termination visit.  

No evidence was available to 

support any attempts to 

contact the tenant. 

Low The procedure note has 

been amended to ensure 

that notes are kept when 

pre-termination visits have 

not taken place. 

 Implemented Housing 

Management 

Team Leader 

Page - 71



 

 South Kesteven District Council / Tenancy Management 22.15/16 | 5 

Ref Findings summary Priority Actions for management Implementation 

date 

Responsible 

owner 

4 Review of the Lettings new 

tenancy survey results 

spreadsheet found that it has 

not been updated for 

responses received since 

October 2015. 

Low Responsibility for adding 

New Tenant Survey 

responses to the 

spreadsheet has been 

reassigned to the Lettings 

team to ensure this is kept 

up to date. 

 Implemented Housing 

Management 

Team Leader 

5 A review of the Estate 

Inspections for 2015 identified 

that inspections are not 

carried out in line with the 

published schedule. 

Low The schedule and 

frequency of Estate 

Inspections will be 

reviewed taking into 

account the current 

resources available. 

May 2016 Business 

Manager Housing 

/ Housing 

Management 

Team Leader 

6 For actions identified in Estate 

Inspection reports and for 

Communal Area Health & 

Safety Inspection Reports it 

was noted that these did not 

identify whether these findings 

had been rectified, e.g. the 

recorded action may be 

'repairs informed' but there 

was no further record to say if 

these repairs had been 

completed. 

Medium The process has been 

amended to capture when 

the repairs have been 

completed within the 

spreadsheet.  A re-

inspection form has been 

devised and is hyperlinked 

to the spreadsheet.   

 Implemented Business 

Manager Housing 

/ Housing 

Management 

Team Leader 

Page - 72



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Follow Up 3 

FINAL 

Internal Audit Follow Up Report: 19.15/16 

25 February 2016 
 

Page - 73

Agenda Item 8b



     

 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 1 

CONTENTS 
1 Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Findings and Management Actions .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Appendix A: Definitions for Progress Made ...................................................................................................................... 8 

Appendix B: Scope ............................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Appendix C: Review of Completeness ............................................................................................................................ 10 

For Further Information Contact ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

 

 

 

As a practising member firm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), we are subject to its ethical and other 
professional requirements which are detailed at http://www.icaew.com/en/members/regulations-standards-and-guidance. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a 
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Recommendations for improvements should be 
assessed by you for their full impact before they are implemented. This report, or our work, should not be taken as a substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests 
with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Therefore, the most that the 
internal audit service can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in the risk management, governance and control 
processes reviewed within this assignment. Neither should our work be relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there 
be any. 
 
This report is supplied on the understanding that it is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed and for the purposes set out herein. 
Our work has been undertaken solely to prepare this report and state those matters that we have agreed to state to them. This report should not 
therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP 
for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the Council which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on this report 
(or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or 
liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by 
any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 
 
This report is released to our Client on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted 
by agreed written terms), without our prior written consent. 
 
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report. 

 

Debrief held 15 January 2015 Internal Audit team Chris Williams, Head of Internal Audit 

Rob Barnett, Director 

Amjad Ali, Client Manager 

Sheila Patel, Lead Internal Auditor 

Habiba Rasul,  Internal Auditor 

Andrew Menon, Internal Auditor 

Draft report issued 28 January 2016 

Responses received 25 February 2016 

Final report issued 25 February 2016 Client sponsor Richard Wyles, Corporate Finance Manager 

Distribution Richard Wyles, Corporate Finance Manager 

Claire Roberts, Management Accountant 

Team Leader 

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer 

Page - 74



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 2 

1.1 Introduction 

As part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16 we have undertaken a review to follow up progress 
made to implement the previously agreed management actions. The audits considered as part of the follow up review 
were: 

 07.15/16 Aids and Adaptations 

 08.15/16 Waste Recycling- Inventory Stock 

 09.15/16 Voids Management 

 10.15/16 Disposal of Surplus Equipment 

 14.15/16 General Ledger 

The following review had no management actions to follow up: 

 12.15/16 Safeguarding 

Eight medium priority management actions were considered in this review. The focus of this review was to provide 

assurance that management actions previously agreed have been adequately implemented. 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page - 75



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 3 

1.2 Conclusion 

Taking account of the issues identified in the remainder of the report and in line with our 

definitions set out in Appendix A, in our opinion South Kesteven District Council has 

demonstrated little progress in implementing management actions agreed to address 

internal audit management actions. 

 

We have reiterated management actions where these have not yet been implemented. 

In addition, we have agreed new / revised management actions where appropriate; these are 

detailed in the action plan. 

 

1.3 Action Tracking 

Action tracking enhances an organisation’s risk management and governance processes. It provides management 

with a method to record the implementation status of recommendations made by /management actions agreed with 

assurance providers, whilst allowing the Governance and Audit Committee to monitor actions taken by management. 

Action tracking is undertaken by South Kesteven District Council’s management on a regular basis, with an update 

provided to the Governance and Audit Committee at each meeting. As part of our Follow up review, we have verified 

this information (for high and medium management actions) and completed audit testing to confirm the level of 

implementation stated and compliance with controls. 

Page - 76



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 4 

1.4 Progress on Actions 

Implementation 

status by review 

Number of 

management 

Actions 

agreed 

Status of management actions Confirmation 

as completed 

or no longer 

necessary 

Implemented Implementation 

ongoing 

Not 

implemented 

Superseded 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (1)+(4) 

Aids and 

Adaptations 
3 1 1 1 0 1 

Waste and 

Recycling - Inventory 

and Stock 

1 0 0 1 0 0 

Voids Management 1 1 0 0 0 1 

Disposal of Surplus 

Equipment 
2 1 1 0 0 1 

General Ledger 1 1 0 0 0 1 

Implementation 

status by 

management 

action priority 

Number of 

management 

actions 

agreed 

Status of management actions Confirmation 

as completed 

or no longer 

necessary 

Implemented Implementation 

ongoing 

Not 

implemented 

Superseded 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (1)+(4) 

High 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Medium 8 4 2 2 0 4 

 

Page - 77



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 5 

2 FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT ACTIONS 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included only those actions graded as 2 and 3. Each action followed up has been categorised in line with 

the following: 

Status Detail 

1 The entire management action has been fully implemented. 

2 The management action has been partly though not yet fully implemented. 

3 The management action has not been implemented. 

4 The management action has been superseded and is no longer applicable. 

 

07.15/16 Aids and Adaptations 

Ref Management action Original 

date 

Original 

priority 

Audit findings Current 

status 

Updated management 

actions 

Priority 

issued 

Revised 

date 

Owner 

responsible 

2.1 A policy will be drafted 

and agreed internally in 

line with current guidance. 

December 

2015 

Medium Being Implemented. 

Discussion with the Business 

Manager Property 

Development found that the 

Council are in the process of 

developing a policy which will 

define the framework within 

which the Council operates 

its aid and adaptations 

service. 

2 The Council are currently 

in the process of 

developing a policy which 

will include the framework 

within which the Council 

operates its aid and 

adaptations service. This 

should be implemented by 

February 2016 

Medium February 

2016 

Business 

Manager 

Property and 

Development 

2.2 Completion certificates will 

be completed and put on 

file for all inspections of 

major works completed by 

Fosters. 

September

2015 

Medium Not Implemented. 

Testing of a sample of ten 

jobs completed by the 

adaptations contractor 

confirmed that in five cases, 

there were no completion 

certificates available despite 

work being completed. 

3 For future work the 

completion date will be 

recorded as when the 

work is inspected/certified 

as complete by SKDC and 

where possible the final 

inspection be carried out 

simultaneously with the 

contractor’s notification to 

avoid the time lag. 

Medium Immediate Business 

Manager 

Property and 

Development 

 

P
age - 78



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 6 

08.15/16 Waste and Recycling- Inventory and Stock 

Ref Management action Original 

date 

Original 

priority 

Audit findings Current 

status 

Updated management 

actions 

Priority 

issued 

Revised 

date 

Owner 

responsible 

2.3 All the relevant staff will be 

reminded that the control of 

stock and inventory should 

be in accordance to the 

procedures. 

September

2015 

Medium Not Implemented. 

Review of ten PPE Stock 

cards identified that the 

Number In/Out and Balance of 

stock was always input 

correctly on the card.  

However, it was identified: 

 In one case, a supervisor 

had not signed and 

approved the stock (Large 

Sweat Shirt) which was 

signed out on 12/01/16. 

 In another case, there were 

three items of stock (Large 

Bomber Jackets) which 

were not signed out. This 

was noted in the remarks 

section of the Stock card. 

3 Staff will be reminded 

about the importance of 

adhering to the stock 

procedures. Instructions 

issued and Audit provided 

with copy of the 

documentation, along with 

copies of the procedure 

notes completed 20
th
 

January. 

Medium Immediate Business 

Manager 

Street Care 

Services 

 

P
age - 79



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 7 

10.15/16 Disposal of Surplus Equipment 

Ref Management action Original 

date 

Original 

priority 

Audit findings Current 

status 

Updated management 

actions 

Priority 

issued 

Revised 

date 

Owner 

responsible 

2.4 a) To enable the 

reconciliation of the Waste 

Transfer Note to be made 

to the payments received 

Lincolnshire Processed 

Scrap Metal Recycling Co 

will be requested to 

document the Waste 

Transfer Note number on 

the Self-Bill Invoice. 

b) All Waste Transfer 

Notes are to be maintained 

on file until the Self-Bill 

Invoice is received. 

c) On receipt of the Self-Bill 

Invoice, the invoice will be 

matched to the related 

Waste Transfer Note to 

ensure accuracy of billing. 

The Waste Transfer Note 

will be attached to the 

invoice and the invoice will 

be maintained on file. 

d) A review will be 

undertaken to confirm if 

payment has been 

received for Transfer Note 

75212 dated 20 January 

2014. 

e) A regular check will be 

made of the Waste 

Transfer Notes on file to 

ensure that payments are 

received on a timely basis. 

Aug 2015 Medium Being Implemented. 

a, b & c) Testing a sample of 

10 waste transfer notes 

identified that: 

 The waste transfer number 

did not appear on the Self-

Bill invoice. We found that 

the cheque number on the 

waste transfer note 

matched that on the Self-

Bill Invoice. 

 In all cases the waste 

transfer notes were not 

attached to the 

corresponding invoice. 

 In three cases an invoice 

has been matched where 

there is a waste transfer 

note on file. 

d) A review was undertaken to 

ensure that payment for 

Transfer Note 75212 had 

been received. 

e) Discussion with the 

Business manager Street 

Care Services identified that a 

regular check is now being 

made to ensure that payments 

in relation to waste transfer 

notes are being received on a 

timely basis. We were 

informed that this not 

documented. 

2 We will email the scrap 

merchants and ask that all 

cheques are sent to us 

directly along with the self-

billing invoice. 

 

We will email the Banking 

Hall and ask that we are 

sent any rogue 

documentation, rather than 

the banking hall banking 

cheques on our behalf 

(without informing this 

office) 

All actions completed and 

evidence provided January 

2016. 

Medium Immediate Business 

Manager 

Street Care 

Services 

 

P
age - 80



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 8 

The following opinions are given on the progress made in implementing actions. This opinion relates solely to the 

implementation of those actions followed up and not does not reflect an opinion on the entire control environment 

Progress in 

implementing 

actions 

Overall number of 

actions fully 

implemented 

Consideration of 

high actions 

Consideration of 

medium actions 

Consideration of low actions 

Good 75% None outstanding None outstanding All low actions outstanding are 

in the process of being 

implemented 

Reasonable 51-75% None outstanding 75% of medium 

actions made are in 

the process of being 

implemented 

75% of low actions made are in 

the process of being 

implemented 

Little 30-50% All high actions 

outstanding are in 

the process of 

being implemented 

50% of medium 

actions made are in 

the process of being 

implemented 

50% of low actions made are in 

the process of being 

implemented 

Poor < 30% Unsatisfactory 

progress has been 

made to implement 

high actions 

Unsatisfactory 

progress has been 

made to implement 

medium actions 

Unsatisfactory progress has 

been made to implement low 

actions 

 

APPENDIX A: DEFINITIONS FOR PROGRESS MADE 

Page - 81



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 9 

Scope of the review 

As part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2015/16 we will review the management actions agreed in the 

following Internal Audit reviews: 

 07.15/16 Aids and Adaptations 

 08.15/16 Waste Recycling- Inventory Stock 

 09.15/16 Voids Management 

 10.15/16 Disposal of Surplus Equipment 

 14.15/16 General Ledger 

The following review had no management actions to follow-up: 

 12.15/16 Safeguarding 

 

Limitations to the scope of the audit assignment: 

 The follow up will only cover high and medium priority findings in the identified reports. 

 We will not review the whole control framework of the areas listed above. Therefore, we are not providing 
assurance on the entire risk and control framework of these areas. 

 Where testing has been undertaken, our samples have been selected over the period since actions were 
implemented or controls enhanced. 

 Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist. 

 

APPENDIX B: SCOPE 

Page - 82



 

  South Kesteven District Council / Follow Up 3 19.15/16 | 10 

APPENDIX C: REVIEW OF COMPLETENESS 

2014/15 Reports Followed Up 

All 2014/15 reports have now been followed up. 

2015/16 Reports Followed Up 

Review 

Number of Management Actions 
Follow-up 

Report 

Reference Agreed 
To Be 

Followed Up 

Not to Be 

Followed Up 

by IA 

01.15/16 Follow Up (May 2015) 4 4 0 13.15/16 

02.15/16 Food Safety 3 2 1 13.15/16 

03.15/16 Welfare Reform 2 0 2 13.15/16 

04.15/16 Partnerships 5 3 2 13.15/16 

05.15/16 Homelessness 3 0 3 13.15/16 

06.15/16 Document Management and CRM 9 0 9 13.15/16 

07.15/16 Aids and Adaptations 7 3 4 This Review 

08.15/16 Waste and Recycling - Inventory and Stock 3 1 2 This Review 

09.15/16 Voids Management 3 1 2 This Review 

10.15/16 Disposal of Surplus Equipment 2 2 0 This Review 

12.15/16 Safeguarding 0 0 0 This Review 

14.15/16 General Ledger 2 1 1 This Review 

2015/16 Reports Yet to be Followed Up 

Review 

Number of Management Actions 
Follow-up 

Report 

Reference Agreed 
To Be 

Followed Up 

Not to Be 

Followed Up 

by IA 

11.15/16 Insurance 3 2 1 N/A 

13.15/16 Follow Up 2 4 4 0 N/A 

15.15/16 Green Waste Only at Draft 

Stage 
  N/A 

16.15/16 Treasury Management 0 0 0 N/A 

17.15/16 Gas Servicing Only at Draft 

Stage 
  N/A 

Page - 83



 

rsmuk.com 

The UK group of companies and LLPs trading as RSM is a member of the RSM network. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is 
an independent accounting and consulting firm each of which practises in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction. The RSM network is 

administered by RSM International Limited, a company registered in England and Wales (company number 4040598) whose registered office is at 11 Old Jewry, London EC2R 8DU. The brand and 
trademark RSM and other intellectual property rights used by members of the network are owned by RSM International Association, an association governed by article 60 et seq of the Civil Code of 
Switzerland whose seat is in Zug. 

RSM UK Consulting LLP, RSM Corporate Finance LLP, RSM Restructuring Advisory LLP, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP, RSM Tax and Advisory Services LLP, RSM UK Audit LLP, RSM 
Employer Services Limited and RSM UK Tax and Accounting Limited are not authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 but we are able in certain circumstances to offer a limited 

range of investment services because we are members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. We can provide these investment services if they are an incidental part of the 
professional services we have been engaged to provide. Baker Tilly Creditor Services LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for credit-related regulated activities. RSM 
& Co (UK) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to conduct a range of investment business activities. Whilst every effort has been made to ensure accuracy, 

information contained in this communication may not be comprehensive and recipients should not act upon it without seeking professional advice. 

© 2015 RSM UK Group LLP, all rights reserved 

 

Chris Williams 

chris.williams@rsmuk.com 

07753 584993 

 

Robert Barnett 

robert.barnett@rsmuk.com 

07791 237658 

 

Amjad Ali 

amjad.ali@rsmuk.com 

07800 617139 

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Page - 84

mailto:chris.williams@rsmuk.com
mailto:robert.barnett@rsmuk.com
mailto:amjad.ali@rsmuk.com


Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF:  CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER 

REPORT NO: CFM360

DATE:    24 March 2016

TITLE: Internal Audit Plan 2016-17

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

None

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Executive Member, Governance

CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Wyles
Corporate Finance Manager
r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
Tel: (01476) 406210

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below:

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and 
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS None

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to review and approve the 
contents of the attached Internal Audit Plan 2016-17 that has been prepared by the 
internal auditors RSM.
 
2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

To inform the Governance and Audit Committee of the proposed internal audit plan to 
be undertaken in 2016-17.

Page - 85

Agenda Item 9

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

Introduction and Background

Under the Local Government Act 1972 (s151) and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations, the Council has a responsibility to maintain an adequate and effective 
internal audit service.  At South Kesteven the internal audit service is provided by 
RSM. 

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) the internal 
audit service provides assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s 
governance, risk management and control arrangements. The opinion provided within 
individual reports issued to management contributes towards an annual audit opinion 
that forms part of the framework of assurances that informs the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement.

RSM have evaluated our risk management processes and consider that they can 
place reliance on our risk registers/assurance framework to inform the internal audit 
plan. They have used various sources of information and discussed priorities for 
internal audit coverage with Executive Managers and Strategic Directors.  

Key Points to Note

The audit plan is a total of 160 days.  There are 15 audits (100 days) and 3 follow up 
audits (18 days).  There are 22 contingency days to allow for additional audits to be 
undertaken at the request of the Governance and Audit Committee or management 
based on changes in assurance needs which may arise during the year.  The 
remaining 20 days are for audit management and further detail in respect of this can 
be found in the attached report.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

This report has no direct impact on the Council’s resources, including finance/budget, 
people, land/property etc.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

None

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Page - 86



Page 3 

These are included in the report.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires every local authority to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of the financial affairs of the authority. 
Internal audit is an activity designed to add value and improve the operations of the 
authority. The Governance and Audit Committee is required to approve the internal 
audit plan for the year and monitor performance. 

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

None

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – Internal Audit Plan 2016-17 prepared by RSM

Page - 87



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Internal Audit Strategy 2016/17-2018/19 

Presented at the Governance & Audit 
Committee meeting of: 24 March 2016 
 

Page - 88



     

 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 1 

 

CONTENTS 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Developing the internal audit strategy .......................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Your internal audit service ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

4 Governance & Audit committee requirements ............................................................................................................. 6 

Appendix A: Internal audit plan 2016/17 ........................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix B: Internal audit strategy 2016/17 - 2018/19 ................................................................................................... 10 

Appendix C: Internal audit charter ................................................................................................................................... 20 

Appendix D: Our client care standards ........................................................................................................................... 24 

For further information contact ........................................................................................................................................ 25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report, together with any attachments, is provided pursuant to the terms of our engagement. The use of the report 

is solely for internal purposes by the management and board of our client and, pursuant to the terms of our 

engagement, should not be copied or disclosed to any third party without our written consent. No responsibility is 

accepted as the plan has not been prepared, and is not intended for, any other purpose. 

Page - 89



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 2 

 

1.1 Background 

South Kesteven is the most south westerly of the seven Lincolnshire Districts and comprises of four main market 

towns: Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping. In addition there are over 100 villages and hamlets spread 

throughout the District. 

According to a 2013 Halifax Quality of Life Survey, the District is considered one of the best districts to live in and an 

ideal location for new business development or business location.  

The Council owns and manages over 6,000 properties, providing quality housing and decent homes for families, the 

elderly, single and vulnerable people. 

The Council’s Corporate Plan highlights the key challenges facing the Council, previous successes and achievements 

and priority projects for the term of the plan, and a vision of where the Council wants to be by 2021. 

1.2 Vision and Objectives 

South Kesteven District Council has set out four main priorities: 

1. Growth 
2. Environment 
3. Culture 
4. Housing 

 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

Our approach to developing your internal audit plan is based on analysing your corporate 

objectives, risk profile and assurance framework as well as other factors affecting South Kesteven 

District Council in the year ahead, including changes within the sector. 

Page - 90



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 3 

 

2.1 Risk management processes 

We have used various sources of information (see Figure A below) and discussed priorities for internal audit coverage 

with the following people: 

• Daren Turner, Strategic Director 

• Tracey Blackwell, Strategic Director 

• Steve Ingram, Strategic Director 

• Richard Wyles, Corporate Finance Manager 

• Lucy Youles, Executive Manager – Corporate 

• Ian Yates, Executive Manager – Environment 

• Paul Thomas, Executive Manager – Development & Growth 

• Judith Davids, Executive Manager – Commercial 

• Neil Cucksey, Executive Manager – Property 

• Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Lead – Programme Delivery 

• Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer 

Based on our understanding of the Council, and the information provided to us by the stakeholders above, we have 

developed an annual internal plan for the coming year and a high level strategic plan (see Appendix A and B for full 

details). 

 

2 DEVELOPING THE INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 

We use your objectives as the starting point in the development of your internal audit plan. 

Page - 91



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 4 

 

Figure A: Sources considered when developing the Internal Audit Strategy 

 

 

2.2 How the plan links to your strategic objectives  

Each of the reviews that we propose to undertake is detailed in the internal audit plan and strategy within Appendices 

A and B. In the table below we bring to your attention particular key audit areas and discuss the rationale for their 

inclusion or exclusion within the strategy. 

Area Reason for inclusion or exclusion in the audit plan/strategy 

IT As technology and technology related threats and opportunities continue to evolve, it 
is imperative that organisations have a clear understanding of how these impact on 
their day to day operations. In discussion with management we have included a 
number of IT related reviews in the internal audit strategy which include: ICT 
Resilience, Web filtering and Information Security Policy. 

Commercial Environment One of the key risk themes identified at the recent risk management workshops is 

“Being effective in a commercial environment”.  

With funding restrictions continuing to impact on local government spending, many 

public sector organisations continue to develop income generating programmes and 

schemes to counteract the reduction in funding. This area requires a significant 

transformation in culture, behaviour and workforce skill set, coupled with potential 

implications on the standing orders. 

As and when any income generating schemes are identified and delivered, 

management and the Governance and Audit Committee may wish to consider 

internal audit work to ensure the control environment remains effective. 

 

As well as assignments designed to provide assurance or advisory input around specific risks, the strategy also 

includes: a contingency allocation, time for tracking the implementation of actions and an audit management 

allocation. Full details of these can be found in Appendices A and B.  

 

2.3 Working with other assurance providers 

The Governance & Audit Committee is reminded that internal audit is only one source of assurance and through the 

delivery of our plan we will not, and do not, seek to cover all risks and processes within the Council.  

We will however continue to work closely with other assurance providers, such as external audit, to ensure that 

duplication is minimised and a suitable breadth of assurance obtained. 

 

Page - 92



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 5 

 

3.1 Conformance with internal auditing standards 

RSM affirms that our internal audit services are designed to conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS). Further details of our responsibilities are set out in our internal audit charter within Appendix C. 

Under PSIAS, internal audit services are required to have an external quality assessment every five years. Our Risk 

Assurance service line commissioned an external independent review of our internal audit services in 2011 to provide 

assurance whether our approach meets the requirements of the International Professional Practices Framework 

(IPPF) published by the Global Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) on which PSIAS is based. 

The external review concluded that “the design and implementation of systems for the delivery of internal audit 

provides substantial assurance that the standards established by the IIA in the IPPF will be delivered in an adequate 

and effective manner”. 

3.2 Conflicts of interest 

We are not aware of any relationships that may affect the independence and objectivity of the team and which are 

required to be disclosed under internal auditing standards. 

3 YOUR INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE 

Your internal audit service is provided by RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP. The team will be led 

by Chris Williams supported by Rob Barnett as your Director. 

Page - 93



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 6 

 

In approving the internal audit strategy the Committee is asked to consider the following: 

• Is the Governance & Audit Committee satisfied that sufficient assurances are being received within our annual plan 

(as set out at Appendix A) to monitor the Council’s risk profile effectively? 

• Does the strategy for internal audit (as set out at Appendix B) cover the Council’s key risks as they are recognised 

by the Governance & Audit Committee? 

• Are the areas selected for coverage this coming year appropriate? 

• Is the Governance & Audit Committee content that the standards within the charter in Appendix C are appropriate to 

monitor the performance of internal audit? 

It may be necessary to update our plan in year should the risk profile change and different risks emerge that could 

benefit from internal audit input. We will ensure that management and the Governance & Audit Committee approve 

such any amendments to this plan. 

4 GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REQUIREMENTS 

Page - 94



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 7 

 

Audit High Level Scope for 2016/17  Days Proposed 

timing 

Corporate Finance 

Governance The review will focus on the governance structures and will consider 

the key elements of governance and the effectiveness and ability to 

react to and provide informed decision making with emphasis on 

compliance with the governance framework. 

Exact scope to be determined. 

6 Qtr 3 

Cash and Bank The review will cover all Council operations that involve cash 

collection and banking processes and will include: Compliance with 

Financial Procedures, receipting and recording of income, physical 

cash and cheques, income received directly into the Council’s bank 

accounts, segregation of duties, receipting system, reconciliations 

and management reporting.  

8 Qtr 3 

Purchase Orders 

and Creditors 

This review will consider controls in place to ensure that all creditor 

payments are valid, accurate, timely and are only in respect of goods 

and services ordered and received by the Council. 

7 Qtr 3 

Income and Debtors This review will seek to ensure that all income due to the Council is 

recorded in the accounting system and that controls are in place to 

monitor and reduce the levels of outstanding debt. 

6 Qtr 4 

Rent Collection Areas of consideration within this review will include: rent setting, the 

recording and monitoring of rent income, invoicing, collection of 

outstanding debt, performance monitoring and management 

reporting. 

6 Qtr 2 

Financial 

Regulations 

This review will consider the content of the Financial Regulations to 

ensure there is regular review and update, formal approval of 

changes, communication to and understanding by staff, compliance 

is monitored and breaches are identified and dealt with in line with 

disciplinary procedures. 

4 Qtr 2 

Procurement and 

Contracts 

This review will seek to ensure that policies and procedures in 

relation to procurement are followed and correctly applied. We will 

sample contracts across Council departments to ensure compliance 

with authorisation limits and Council procedures. We will also review 

the due diligence work undertaken by the Council when selecting 

contractors to ensure financial viability checks have been undertaken 

and plans are in place if selected contractors are unable to under 

deliver the work agreed. This review will include new and existing 

contractors. 

12 Qtr 3 

APPENDIX A: INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2016/17 

Page - 95



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 8 

 

Audit High Level Scope for 2016/17  Days Proposed 

timing 

Property 

Allocations and 

Lettings 

This review will seek to ensure that properties are utilised effectively 

for housing applicants who meet the prescribed criteria as per 

documented policies and procedures and in line with statutory 

requirements. 

6 Qtr 2 

Health and Safety - 

Asbestos 

This review will cover Health and Safety in respect of Asbestos and 

will include policies and procedures, risk assessments, staff training, 

information provided to staff and contractors and compliance with 

legislation. 

7 Qtr 1 

Environment  

Environmental 

Health 

This review will consider the processes the Council have in place to 

regulate and enforce environmental health laws and regulations. 

6 Qtr 2 

Taxi Licensing This review will consider compliance with the policies and 

procedures of the Council relating to the licensing of taxi operators 

and drivers. 

6 Qtr 1 

Commercial 

Absence 

Management 

This review will cover the procedures in place at the Council to 

monitor and manage employee absence levels. 

6 Qtr 4 

ICT Resilience To review the processes utilised by the Council for the management 

of risk in relation to the Council’s IT network. 

8 Qtr 2 

Geographical 

Information System 

(GIS) 

This review will cover the processes in place to ensure information 
on the Geographical Information System is accurately maintained 
and up to date. 

6 Qtr 1 

Performance Delivery 

Council Tax Support 

Scheme 

Following the introduction of local management of council tax, this 

review will consider the systems the Council has in place to provide 

support to residents on low income. 

6 Qtr 2 

Other internal audit activity 

Contingency To allow additional reviews to be undertaken in agreement with the 

Governance & Audit Committee or management based on changes 

in risk profile or assurance needs as they arise during the year. 

22  

Page - 96



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 9 

 

Audit High Level Scope for 2016/17  Days Proposed 

timing 

Follow up To meet internal auditing standards and to provide assurance on 

action taken to address recommendations previously agreed by 

management. 

18 Qtr 1 

Qtr 3 

Qtr 4 

Management  This will include: 

• Annual planning 

• Preparation for, and attendance at, Governance & Audit 

Committee 

• Regular liaison and progress updates 

• Liaison with external audit and other assurance providers 

• Preparation of the annual opinion 

20 Throughout 

the year 

 

Page - 97



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 10 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Corporate Finance 

Risk Management The Council does not have a clear methodology in 

place for identifying, assessing and mitigating key 

risks. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Governance The Council’s governance arrangements do not 

provide assurance to management, Members or for 

accountability purposes. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Cash and Bank Misappropriation of funds due to monies not being 

recorded accurately upon receipt. 

Monies not being securely held prior to banking or 

when transferring to the bank. 

Banking not being completed in a timely manner. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Purchase Orders and Creditors Financial loss to the Council through unnecessary 

and inappropriate invoices being paid. 

Financial or reputation loss to the Council due to a 

lack of / ineffective supplier due diligence. 

Non-compliance with public sector best practice, 

resulting in damage to reputation. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Income and Debtors Financial loss to the Council due to the lack of 

identification of monies due. 

Income is not received as expected, resulting in 

loss of funds to the Council. 

Bad debts are written off where there is a chance 

of recovery of funds, resulting in a loss of income. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

APPENDIX B: INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2016/17 - 
2018/19 

Page - 98



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 11 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Rent Collection Failure to identify and accurately record all 

properties in the rent accounting system. 

Tenants are not legally notified of rent increases 

leading to loss of rental income. 

Rent and other charges have been incorrectly 

calculated in respect of each dwelling and 

incorrectly recorded in the tenant’s rent account. 

Rent arrears are not identified / monitored and 

recovery action taken in accordance with internal 

procedures and relevant legislation. 

Collection levels are not monitored. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Officer Expenses Lack of compliance with Council policy and 

procedures relating to Officer expenses. 

Failure to monitor and control expenditure. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

NNDR All hereditaments within the District have not been 

identified. 

Bills are not raised in a timely manner and in line 

with legislation and internal policies. 

Reliefs and exemptions are granted 

inappropriately. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Financial Regulations Council requirements and regulations are not 

clearly set out, authorised, reviewed and 

communicated to staff, leading to a lack of 

compliance and possible losses due to fraud or 

error, inefficient processing or inappropriate 

activity. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining financial 

sustainability. 

   

Page - 99



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 12 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Procurement and Contracts Failure to demonstrate Value for Money from the 

procurement process including failure to ensure 

that an appropriate supplier is selected and that 

products and services procured are of an 

acceptable quality and performance standard. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Ensuring resilience/ quality in 

third parties. 

   

Council Tax Failure to raise accurate demand notices for liable 

properties and apply discounts and exemptions in 

line with legislation and internal policies. 

The annual billing deadline is not met. 

Low collection rates. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Treasury Management Insufficient cash available to meet liabilities. 

Council investments do not optimise interest 

earned. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining financial 

sustainability. 

   

General Ledger and Main 

Accounting System 

Inaccurate financial records. 

Inappropriate transactions are not identified. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Insurance Inadequate insurance arrangements in place 

leading to reputational and financial loss. 

Value for money is not obtained with regards to 

insurance services. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Medium Term Financial 

Strategy 

The Financial Strategy has not been developed 

appropriately and is not being adhered to. 

The Strategy does not support the financial 

objectives of the Council. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining financial 

sustainability. 

   

Page - 100



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 13 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Payroll Payroll records are not properly controlled resulting 

in financial loss to the Council. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Anti-Fraud Review Failure to manage fraud to an acceptable level. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Property 

Allocations and Lettings Allocations and letting are not dealt with 

consistently and in line with Council policy resulting 

in failure to comply with the Housing Act and 

associated legislation. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Property Investment Strategy Failure to properly risk assess properties identified 

for investment, or to invest in properties not 

targeted by the Council’s Property Investment 

Strategy, resulting in lower than expected revenue 

income. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Health and Safety - Asbestos 

(year 1), Construction 

Regulations (year 3) 

Serious breach of Health and Safety legislation. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Asset Management Plan The Council has not defined an Asset Management 

strategy that helps the Council to achieve its 

objectives. 

Assets are inaccurately, incompletely recorded or 

not recorded in a timely manner. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining financial 

sustainability. 

   

Environment 

Page - 101



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 14 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Licensing Laws and regulations relating to granting of 

licenses are being breached placing the Council in 

a position of facing legal action. 

Licenses are issued without appropriate 

authorisation. 

Expired licenses are not promptly detected. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Trade Waste Service Lack of clearly defined policy on trade waste 

service. 

Failure to ensure all premises receiving trade 

waste service are making appropriate payments. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Environmental Health Failure to enforce all laws and regulations relating 

to pollution. 

Fees charged are not in accordance with the 

approved / published scale of charges. 

Failure to investigate complaints within set 

deadlines. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Houses in Multiple Occupation Failure to identify, license and monitor Houses in 

Multiple Occupation within the District. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Neighbourhood Team The remit of the Neighbourhood team is not clearly 

defined, and there is an element of duplication of 

work with other departments. 

Staff employed as part of the Neighbourhood Team 

are not appropriately skilled or trained to deal with 

all issues the team is expected to deal with. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Grants Inaccurate records of grants maintained. 

Grants are not made in line with agreed criteria and 

are not appropriately authorised. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Page - 102



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 15 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Refuse Collection Risks associated with areas relating to refuse 

collection are not identified. 

Performance is not monitored including missed 

bins. 

Failure to deal with customer complaints leading to 

dissatisfaction with the service. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Taxi Licensing Failure to correctly apply the Council’s policies for 

granting taxi operator and driver licenses. 

Failure to review and set appropriate licence fees 

and enforce licensing services for taxi operator and 

divers licenced by the Council. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Commercial 

Absence Management Sickness data is not being correctly captured at the 

point of recording, especially the reasons for 

absence, since the Council has moved to direct 

inputting of sickness by services through the 

Managers Access system. 

Potential ‘problem areas’ are not identified and 

action taken. 

High levels of sickness absence in areas may 

impact on the ability to deliver services. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

South Kesteven Community 

Access Point 

Controls relating to the cash and banking process 

in place at South Kesteven Community Access 

Point are not in line with other areas of the Council. 

The service provided does not meet customer 

expectations. 

IT provisions are not fit for purpose. 

Staff are not utilising the agile working space 

provided within the facility. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Page - 103



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 16 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

ICT Resilience The ICT resilience arrangements are inadequate 

and do not meet the current requirements of the 

Council. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Ensuring effectiveness of 

contingency plans/ recovery plans. 

   

Performance and Project 

Management 

No performance policy / criteria have been set / 

agreed and performance indicators are not linked to 

the Council's objectives. 

Project milestones and outcomes are not clearly 

defined. 

Council and project key performance indicators are 

not monitored or investigated, therefore 

compromising quality and the Council not being able 

to identify non-achievement of its objectives. 

The accuracy of data reported for the key 

performance indicators cannot be relied upon. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Training - Learning and 

Development 

Lack of training and/or development of staff 

resulting in lack of expertise or critical skills. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Web Filtering Web filtering arrangements are not maintained up 

to date, or are not robust enough to detect / 

prevent a cyber-attack, while also restricting staff 

access to inappropriate internet sites. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Car Parking Failure to monitor the usage of car parks leading to 

over or under provision of facilities. 

The approved fees and charges are not correctly 

applied and / or all income due is not identified, 

leading to financial loss. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Page - 104



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 17 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Geographical Information 

System (GIS) 

GIS is incomplete or not up to date resulting in 

inaccurate data supplied to customers. 

Loss or failure of the systems resulting in the 

inability to process customer requests for 

information. 

Corporate Risk Theme:  Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Information Security Policy Policies and procedures are not in place to assist 

with the management of IT and information 

security. 

Security standards have not been implemented 

leading to the security of IT systems being 

compromised and/or data being lost, damaged, 

unavailable or unlawfully disclosed to unauthorised 

persons. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Ensuring effectiveness of 

contingency plans/ recovery plans. 

   

Page - 105



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 18 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Development and Growth 

Development Control Planning applications and inspections are not 
processed correctly or accurately or in accordance 
with planning legislation. 

Poor decision making due to poor quality or 

timeliness of information provided to management. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Street Naming and Numbering Failure to comply with legislation in relation to 
street naming and numbering. 

Failure to ensure payments received for all 

applications. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Performance Delivery 

Council Tax Support Scheme Failure to correctly process applications for Council 

Tax Support in a timely manner impacting on the 

Council’s Council Tax income and /or reputation. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Other Internal Audit Activity     

Contingency To allow additional reviews to be undertaken in 

agreement with the Governance & Audit 

Committee or management based on changes in 

risk profile or assurance needs as they arise during 

the year. 

   

Follow up To meet internal auditing standards and to provide 

assurance on action taken to address 

recommendations previously agreed by 

management. 

Corporate Risk Theme: Maintaining an effective internal 

control environment. 

   

Page - 106



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 19 

 

Proposed area for coverage Potential risks to the area 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Management  This will include: 

 Annual planning 

 Preparation for, and attendance at, Governance 

& Audit Committee 

 Regular liaison and progress updates 

 Liaison with external audit and other assurance 

providers 

 Preparation of the annual opinion 

   

Page - 107



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 20 

 

Need for the charter 

This charter establishes the purpose, authority and responsibilities for the internal audit service for South Kesteven 

District Council. The establishment of a charter is a requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

and approval of the charter is the responsibility of the Governance & Audit Committee. 

The internal audit service is provided by RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP (“RSM”). Your key internal audit contacts 

are as follows: 

 Partner  Director 

Name  Chris Williams Rob Barnett 

Telephone  07753 584 993 07791 237 658 

Email address chris.williams@rsmuk.com robert.barnett@rsmuk.com 

 

We plan and perform our internal audit work with a view to reviewing and evaluating the risk management, control and 

governance arrangements that the organisation has in place, focusing in particular on how these arrangements help 

you to achieve its objectives. 

An overview of our client care standards are included at Appendix D of the internal audit strategy plan for 2016/17 - 

2018/19. 

Role and definition of internal auditing 

“Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by introducing a 

systematic, disciplined approach in order to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 

control, and governance processes”. 

Definition of Internal Auditing, Institute of Internal Auditors 

Internal audit is a key part of the assurance cycle for your organisation and, if used appropriately, can assist in 

informing and updating the risk profile of the organisation.  

Independence and ethics 

To provide for the independence of Internal Audit, its personnel report directly to the Chris Williams (acting as your 

head of internal audit). The independence of RSM is assured by the internal audit service reporting to the Strategic 

Director (s151 Officer). 

The head of internal audit has unrestricted access to the Chair of Governance & Audit Committee to whom all 

significant concerns relating to the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management activities, internal control and 

governance are reported. 

Conflicts of interest may arise where RSM provides services other than internal audit to South Kesteven District 

Council. Steps will be taken to avoid or manage transparently and openly such conflicts of interest so that there is no 

APPENDIX C: INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

Page - 108

mailto:williams@rsmuk.com


 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 21 

 

real or perceived threat or impairment to independence in providing the internal audit service. If a potential conflict 

arises through the provision of other services, disclosure will be reported to the Governance & Audit Committee. The 

nature of the disclosure will depend upon the potential impairment and it is important that our role does not appear to 

be compromised in reporting the matter to the Governance & Audit Committee. Equally we do not want the 

organisation to be deprived of wider RSM expertise and will therefore raise awareness without compromising our 

independence. 

Responsibilities 

In providing your outsourced internal audit service RSM has a responsibility to: 

 Develop a flexible and risk based internal audit strategy with more detailed annual audit plans. The plan will be 

submitted to the Governance & Audit Committee for review and approval each year before work commences on 

delivery of that plan. 

 Implement the audit plan as approved, including any additional tasks requested by management and the 

Governance & Audit Committee. 

 Ensure the internal audit team consists of professional audit staff with sufficient knowledge, skills, and experience. 

 Establish a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program to ensure the quality and effective operation of internal 

audit activities. 

 Perform advisory activities where appropriate beyond internal audit’s assurance services to assist management in 

meeting its objectives. Examples may include facilitation, process design and training. 

 Bring a systematic disciplined approach to evaluate and report on the effectiveness of risk management, internal 

control and governance processes.  

 Highlight control weaknesses and required associated improvements together with corrective action recommended 

to management based on an acceptable and practicable timeframe. 

 Undertake follow up reviews to ensure management has implemented agreed internal control improvements within 

specified and agreed timeframes. 

 Provide a list of significant measurement goals and results to the Governance & Audit Committee to demonstrate 

the performance of the internal audit service. 

 Liaise with the external auditor for the purpose of providing optimal audit coverage to the organisation. 

Authority 

The internal audit team is authorised to: 

 Have unrestricted access to all functions, records, property and personnel which it considers necessary to fulfil its 

function. 

 Have full and free access to the Governance & Audit Committee. 

Page - 109



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 22 

 

 Allocate resources, set timeframes, define review areas, develop scopes of work and apply techniques to 

accomplish the overall internal audit objectives.  

 Obtain the required assistance from personnel within the organisation where audits will be performed, including 

other specialised services from within or outside the organisation. 

The head of internal audit and internal audit staff are not authorised to: 

 Perform any operational duties associated with the organisation. 

 Initiate or approve accounting transactions on behalf of the organisation. 

 Direct the activities of any employee not employed by RSM unless specifically seconded to internal audit. 

Key performance indicators (KPIs) 

In delivering our services we require full cooperation from key stakeholders and relevant business areas to ensure a 

smooth delivery of the plan. We proposed the following KPIs for monitoring the delivery of the internal audit service:  

Delivery Quality 

Audits commenced in line with original timescales agreed 

in the internal audit plan. 

Conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards. 

Draft reports issued within 10 working days of debrief 

meeting. 

Liaison with external audit to allow, where appropriate 

and required, the external auditor to place reliance on 

the work of internal audit. 

Management responses received from client management 

within 10 working days of draft report. 

Response time for all general enquiries for assistance 

is completed within 2 working days. 

Final report issued within 5 days from receipt of 

management responses. 

Response to emergencies such as concerns of 

potential fraud with 1 working day. 

Completion of internal audit plan by the end of the financial 

year. 

 

 

Reporting 

An assignment report will be issued following each internal audit assignment. The report will be issued in draft for 

comment by management, and then issued as a final report to management, with the executive summary being 

provided to the Governance & Audit Committee. The final report will contain an action plan agreed with management 

to address any weaknesses identified by internal audit.  

The internal audit service will issue progress reports to the Governance & Audit Committee and management 

summarising outcomes of audit activities, including follow up reviews.  

Page - 110



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 23 

 

As your internal audit provider, the assignment opinions that RSM provides the organisation during the year are part of 

the framework of assurances that assist Strategic Management Team in taking decisions and managing its risks. 

As the provider of the internal audit service we are required to provide an annual opinion on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the organisation’s governance, risk management and control arrangements. In giving our opinion it 

should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit service can provide to 

management is a reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in risk management, governance and 

control processes. The annual opinion will be provided to the organisation by RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP at 

the financial year end. The results of internal audit reviews, and the annual opinion, should be used by management 

and the Council to inform the organisation’s annual governance statement.  

Data protection 

Internal audit files need to include sufficient, reliable, relevant and useful evidence in order to support our findings and 

conclusions. Personal data is not shared with unauthorised persons unless there is a valid and lawful requirement to 

do so. We are authorised as providers of internal audit services to our clients (through the firm’s Terms of Business 

and our engagement letter) to have access to all necessary documentation from our clients needed to carry out our 

duties. 

Personal data is not shared outside of RSM. The only exception would be where there is information on an internal 

audit file that external auditors require access to as part of their review of internal audit work or where the firm has a 

legal or ethical obligation to do so (such as providing information to support a fraud investigation based on internal 

audit findings). 

RSM has a Data Protection Policy in place that requires compliance by all of our employees. Non-compliance will be 

treated as gross misconduct. 

Fraud 

The Governance & Audit Committee recognises that management is responsible for controls to reasonably prevent 

and detect fraud. Furthermore, the Governance & Audit Committee recognises that internal audit is not responsible for 

identifying fraud; however internal audit will assess the risk of fraud and be aware of the risk of fraud when planning 

and undertaking any internal audit work. 

Approval of the internal audit charter 

By approving this document, the internal audit strategy, the Governance & Audit Committee is also approving the 

internal audit charter. 

Page - 111



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 | 24 

 

APPENDIX D: OUR CLIENT CARE STANDARDS 

 Discussions with senior staff at the client take place to confirm the scope six weeks before the agreed audit start 

date. 

 Key information such as the draft assignment planning sheet is issued by RSM to the key auditee four weeks before 

the agreed start date. 

 The lead auditor will contact the client to confirm logistical arrangements two weeks before the agreed start date. 

 Fieldwork takes place on agreed dates with key issues flagged up immediately. 

 A debrief meeting will be held with audit sponsor at the end of fieldwork or within a reasonable time frame. 

 Two weeks after a debrief meeting a draft report will be issued by RSM to the agreed distribution list. 

 Management responses to the draft report should be submitted to RSM. 

 Within five days of receipt of client responses the final report will be issued by RSM to the assignment sponsor and 

any other agreed recipients of the report. 

 

Page - 112



 

rsmuk.com 

The UK group of companies and LLPs trading as RSM is a member of the RSM network. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is 
an independent accounting and consulting firm each of which practises in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity of any description in any jurisdiction. The RSM network is 

administered by RSM International Limited, a company registered in England and Wales (company number 4040598) whose registered office is at 11 Old Jewry, London EC2R 8DU. The brand and 
trademark RSM and other intellectual property rights used by members of the network are owned by RSM International Association, an association governed by article 60 et seq of the Civil Code of 
Switzerland whose seat is in Zug. 

RSM UK Consulting LLP, RSM Corporate Finance LLP, RSM Restructuring Advisory LLP, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP, RSM Tax and Advisory Services LLP, RSM UK Audit LLP, RSM 
Employer Services Limited and RSM UK Tax and Accounting Limited are not authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 but we are able in certain circumstances to offer a limited 

range of investment services because we are members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. We can provide these investment services if they are an incidental part of the 
professional services we have been engaged to provide. Baker Tilly Creditor Services LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for credit-related regulated activities. RSM 
& Co (UK) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to conduct a range of investment business activities. Whilst every effort has been made to ensure accuracy, 

information contained in this communication may not be comprehensive and recipients should not act upon it without seeking professional advice. 

© 2015 RSM UK Group LLP, all rights reserved 

 

Chris Williams 

chris.williams@rsmuk.com 

07753584993 

 

Rob Barnett 

robert.barnett@rsmuk.com 

07791237658 

 

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Page - 113

mailto:robert.barnett@rsmuk.com


Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

REPORT OF: Corporate Finance Manager

REPORT NO: CFM365

DATE:  24th March 2016

TITLE: Statement of Accounting Policies 2015/16

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

N/A

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Cllr  Terl Bryant
Executive Member, Resources

CONTACT OFFICER: Amy Oliver – Financial Accountant Team Leader
a.oliver@southkesteven.gov.uk
Telephone (01476) 406208

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council 
and  Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

CFM347 - Review of Capital & Building Control 
Accounting Policies 

Page - 114

Agenda Item 10

mailto:a.oliver@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Governance & Audit Committee approve the Statement 
of Accounting Policies, as set out at the Appendix 1 to this report to be used in 
the production of the 2015/16 financial statements.  

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The Council’s Accounting Policies are reviewed annually, prior to the 
preparation of the Statement of Accounts, to ensure that they are up to date 
and in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (The Code).

When changes are made to the policies, it is a requirement that these are 
reported to those charged with governance.

Following a review of the Code for the 2015/16 accounts the only substantive 
change to the Council’s accounting policies is to reflect the introduction of IFRS 
13.

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

Accounting Policies

The 2015/16 Statement of Accounts will summarise the Council’s transactions 
for the 2015/16 financial year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2016.  
It will be prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 20115-16 (The Code) which is based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting convention 
adopted is historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of 
non-current assets.

The Code requires the implementation of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to 
be applied in 2015/16. This has an impact for accounting policy Investment 
Property & Financial Instruments.

All other accounting policies have been reviewed for the 2015/16 financial year 
to ensure that they comply with The Code, to ensure they accurately reflect the 
transactions that have occurred and that they have been applied consistently. 
Alongside this the policies have been amended to reflect the recommendations 
agreed by Governance & Audit on the 3rd December 2015.

Appendix A is a full set of accounting policies to be applied in the preparation of 
the Statement of Accounts 2015/16.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 None

Page - 115



Page 3 

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included 
in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Failure to meet statutory 
deadline and/or qualification 
of statement of accounts

The actions to mitigate these risks 
are detailed in the report

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM  IMPACT ANALYSIS

7.1 N/a

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 N/a

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Prior to the compilation of the statement of accounts for 2015/16 it is important 
that members of Governance and Audit Committee have the opportunity to 
discuss and comment on the accounting policies to be used in the production of 
the financial statements.  These policies if agreed, will be applied to the 
treatment of all transactions that make up the figures in the Statement of 
Accounts to ensure that the accounts present a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Council at the balance sheet date and of its income and 
expenditure for the financial year.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

Local authorities are required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
prepare a statement of accounts in accordance with relevant regulations. The 
policies referred to are a requirement of the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2011.  Any updates and amendments should be reported to 
Governance and Audit Committee in accordance with its role to  approve the 
Statement of Accounting Policies. 

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

11.1 N/a

12.     APPENDICES:

1. Statement Of Accounting Policies

Page - 116



Page 4 

Appendix 1

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

I. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2015/16 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2016.  The Council is required to prepare an 
annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those 
regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2015/16 and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2015/16, supported by 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.

II. ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are 
made or received. In particular:

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure 
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap 
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as 
inventories on the Balance Sheet.

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 
made.

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the 
relevant financial instrument, rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the 
contract.

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to 
revenue for the income that might not be collected. 

Page - 117



Page 5 

III. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments 
that mature in 30 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management.

IV. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed 
separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in 
the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of 
the Council’s financial performance.

V. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES & 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct 
a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e.  in the 
current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period 
adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices 
or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, 
other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance.  
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting, 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had 
always been applied.  

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

VI. CHARGES TO REVENUE FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to 
record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year.

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service.
 Revaluation and Impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the loss can be written 
off.

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.

The Council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount 
calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Council in accordance with statutory 
guidance.  Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are therefore 
replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance by way of an adjusting transaction 
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two.

Page - 118



Page 6 

VII.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Benefits Payable during Employment

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. 
They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, 
bonuses and non monetary benefits for current employees and are recognised as an expense 
for services in the year in which the employees render service to the Council. An accrual is 
made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by 
employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next 
financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following 
accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year 
in which the holiday absence occurs.

Termination Benefits: 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate 
an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept 
voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.  They are charged on an accruals basis 
to the appropriate service, or where applicable, to the Non Distributed Costs line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement a the earlier of when the Council can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the council recognises costs for a 
restructuring.

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require 
the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the 
pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant 
accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to 
and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension 
enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the 
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end

Post-Employment Benefits 

Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, 
administered by Lincolnshire County Council.  The scheme provides defined benefits to 
members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees worked for the Council.  

The Council recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the revenue account when 
employees earn them, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.

Page - 119



Page 7 

Local Government Pension Scheme

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit scheme:

 The liabilities of the Lincolnshire County Council pension scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation  to 
retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality 
rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees. 

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate calculated 
by the Actuaries (based on the indicative rate of return on the Bond yields and inflation 
rates).

 The assets of the Lincolnshire County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the balance sheet at their fair value:

- Quoted securities – current bid price
- Unquoted securities – professional estimate
- Unitised securities – current bid price
- Property - market value

 The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

- Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned 
this year –  allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the 
revenue accounts of services for which the employees worked

- Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or 
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs

- Net interest on the net defined pension liability (asset) i.e. net interest expense for the 
Council – the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that 
arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This is 
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning 
of the period taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) 
during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

- The return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the defined 
benefit liability (asset) charged to the Pension Reserve as Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure

-  Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 
because the actuaries have updated their assumption – charged to the Pensions 
Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

- Contributions paid to the Lincolnshire County Council pension fund – cash paid as 
employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted 
for as an expense.  

Page - 120



Page 8 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or directly to pensioners 
in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.   

In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the 
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such 
amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the 
Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being 
required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits 
are earned by employees.

Discretionary Benefits

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in 
the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any 
member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for 
using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

VIII. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is 
authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting 
period - the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect these.

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period - the 
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of 
events would have a material effect, disclosures is made in the notes of the nature of 
the event and an estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement 
of Accounts.

Page - 121



Page 9 

IX. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Liabilities 

Financial Liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and 
carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest 
payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of 
interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was 
originally recognised. 

For all of the borrowing that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principle repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account is the amount payable for the 
year in the loan agreement.

All current borrowing is with the Public Works Loan Board and the Council has no intention at 
present to make early settlement of these loans.  Borrowing costs that relate to these loans 
are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as they are incurred.

Financial assets are classified into two types:

 Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 
quoted in an active market.

 Available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have 
fixed or determinable payments.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a 
party to contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. 
They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  Annual credits to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by 
the effective rate of interest of the instrument.  For all of the loans that the Council has made, 
this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principle 
receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that 
payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge 
made to the relevant service (for receivables specific to that service)  or the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 
and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of the asset are credited or debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.

Page - 122



Page 10 

Available-for-sale Assets

Available-for-sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and 
carried at fair value.  Where the asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are included.

Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value, where it is deemed to be material.  

X. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Where the Council has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the 
transaction is converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the 
transaction was effective. Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the year-end, 
they are reconverted at the spot exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting gains or losses are 
recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

XI. GOVERNMENT GRANTS & OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable 
assurance that:
 The Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and
 The grants or contributions will be received

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contributions have been 
satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service 
potentially embodied in the asset in the form of the grant or contribution are required to be 
consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must 
be returned to the transferor.

Money advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or 
contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and 
contributions) or Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (non ring fenced revenue grants and 
all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where Capital Grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure

XII. HERITAGE ASSETS

Heritage assets are held or maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and 
culture.   They are initially recognised at cost if this is available.   If cost is not available, values 
are only included in the Balance Sheet where the cost of obtaining valuation is not 
disproportionate to the benefit derived.  For most of the Council’s heritage assets, insurance 
valuations are used.  Where no market exists or the asset is deemed to be unique, and it is not 

Page - 123



Page 11 

practicable to obtain a valuation, the asset is not recognised in the Balance Sheet but 
disclosed in the notes to the accounts.

Heritage assets are depreciated over their useful life if this can be established.  If an asset is 
considered to have an indefinite life, no depreciation is charged.  Disposals, revaluation gains 
and losses and impairments of heritage assets are dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
policies relating to property, plant and equipment.  

The cost of maintenance and repair of heritage assets is written off in the year incurred.

XIII. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable 
and controlled by the Council (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that 
future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council. 

Expenditure on the development of the Council’s website is not capitalised.  

Intangible Assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair 
value of the asset held by the Council can be determined by reference to an active market. In 
practice, no intangible asset held by the Council meets this criterion, and they are therefore 
carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its 
useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset 
might be impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gains or losses arising on the 
disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure 
Line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an 
impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital 
Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts 
Reserve.

The useful life of intangible assets is assessed by the Chief Finance Officer at the time of 
acquisition.  Intangible assets are derecognised when no future economic benefits are 
expected from them.

XIV. INVENTORIES AND LONG TERM CONTRACTS

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Long term contracts are  accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit on the 
provision of services with the value of works and services received under the contract during 
the financial year.  

Page - 124



Page 12 

 
XV. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of 
services or production of goods or is held for sale.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the 
price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued 
annually according to market conditions at the year end. Gains and losses on revaluation are 
posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on 
disposal. 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However 
revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have 
an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of 
the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital 
Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts 
Reserve.

XVI. LEASES

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the 
lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 
separately for classification.

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in 
return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of specific assets

The Council as Lessee

Finance Leases:

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet 
at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the leases inception (or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a 
liability for the obligation to pay the lessor e.g. payments net of financing costs. Initial direct 
costs of the Council are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry 
into the lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as 
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Lease payments are apportioned between:
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to 

write down the lease liability, and
 A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the 
policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease 

Page - 125



Page 13 

term if this is shorter than the assets estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does 
not transfer to the Council at the end of the lease period).

The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and 
impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead a prudent annual contribution is made 
from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory 
requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by 
a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with 
the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference 
between the two.

Operating Leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased 
property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight line basis over the life of the 
lease; even if this does not match the patterns of payments (e.g. there is a rent free period at 
the commencement of the lease).

The Council as Lessor

Finance Leases

Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the 
lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and 
Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A 
gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal) matched 
by a lease (long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between

 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease 
debtor (together with any premiums received), and

 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement)

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not 
permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a 
capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund 
Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the 
amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future 
financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital 
Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are 
received, the element for the capital receipts for the disposal of the asset is used to write down 
the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve.

The written off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page - 126



Page 14 

Operating Leases

Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, 
the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made 
on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income.

XVII. OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply 
or service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of 
Practice 2015/16 (SeRCOP)  (for example, charges are based on estimated or actual time 
allocations with the exception of administrative building costs – floor area basis).  The total 
absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are 
shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the exception of:

 Corporate & Democratic Core – costs relating to the Council’s status as a multi-
functional, democratic organisation.

 Non Distributed Costs – the cost of discretionary benefits awarded to employees 
retiring early and impairment losses chargeable on Assets Held for Sale..

These two cost categories are defined in SeRCOP and accounted for as separate headings in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of Net Expenditure on 
Continuing Services.
 

XVIII. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods 
and services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be 
used during more than one financial year are classified as Property Plant and Equipment. 

Recognition: 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council, over more than one year 
and that the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that maintains but does 
not add to an assets potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. 
repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.  

Enhancement is expenditure intended to:
 lengthen substantially the useful life of the asset,
 increase substantially the value of the asset,
 increase substantially the extent to which the asset can be used

.
The Council has a de-minimis of £10,000 for capital expenditure, with the exception of the 
purchase of motor vehicles.  Where the total cost of an asset is higher than £10,000 but only 
part of the expenditure has occurred within a financial year that expenditure would be included 
in the balance sheet even if it was below the de minimis level. 

Page - 127



Page 15 

Measurement

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

 the purchase price
 any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 

be capable of operating in the manner intended by management

The Council does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred while assets are under construction.

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash 
flows of the Council). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost 
of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council.

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
 Dwellings – current value determined using the basis of existing use value for social 

housing (EUV-SH).  The social housing discount applied in 2015/16 is 34%.
 Community assets and assets under construction –  historical cost. 
 Plant, Vehicles & Equipment – depreciated historical cost
 All other classes of assets – current value, unless there is no market-based evidence of 

fair value because of the specialist nature of the asset.  In this case fair value is estimated 
using the Depreciated Replacement Cost method.

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are re-valued where there have been 
material changes in the value, but as a minimum every five years.  Valuations of property 
assets are carried out by the District Valuer, an external, qualified valuer, who is independent 
of the Council. The method of valuations is as recommended by CIPFA and in accordance 
with the principles and guidance notes issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.   
Operational assets constructed or acquired during the year will be re-valued on 1 April of the 
following year.  

Increases as a result of revaluations are debited to the appropriate asset account, with the 
opposite entry going to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains, except to the 
extent where it reverses a previous revaluation loss that was charged to a service revenue 
account within the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement.  In this case the 
revaluation gain will first be used to offset the previous loss and any further gain is then taken 
to the Revaluation Reserve.  Revaluation gains charged to Surplus or Deficit on Provision of 
Services are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.

Decreases as a result of revaluation, which are not specific to one asset but affect several, are 
revaluation losses as opposed to impairments.  The decrease is recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve up to the balance in respect of each asset affected and then in Surplus or Deficit on 
Provision of Services.   Any such charge taken to Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services is 
then transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the 
date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into 
the Capital Adjustment Account.

Page - 128



Page 16 

Impairment

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be 
material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the 
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains)

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 
the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not 
been recognised.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic 
allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets 
without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and 
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:

 Land is not depreciated as it will not have a finite life.

 Council Dwellings and Other Buildings are depreciated using the straight line method. The 
finite useful life is assessed by the District Valuer at the time of revaluation but for Council 
Dwellings is usually 50 years, and for other buildings is between 1 and 60 years.

 Plant and Equipment are also depreciated by the straight line method. Useful life is 
assessed by the Chief Finance Officer at the time of acquisition, usually between 3 and 10 
years.  Some assets have a longer life span, up to 30 years.  

 Vehicles are depreciated using the reducing balance method at a rate of 25% per annum.

 Non-current assets held-for sale are not depreciated.

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been 
chargeable based on their historic cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Componentisation: 

Only assets with a carrying amount more than or equal to £500,000 at the beginning of the 
financial year are considered for componentisation.  To be recognised as a component the 

Page - 129



Page 17 

value of the part of the asset being considered must be more than or equal to 10% of the value 
of the asset, and have a life less than or equal to half that of the main asset.  When a 
component is replaced, the carrying amount of the old component is derecognised and the 
new component is recognised. If the carrying amount of the old component is not known, this 
is estimated by indexing back from the cost of the new component and adjusting for 
depreciation and impairment over the old component’s useful life.  The Building Costs Index 
will be used.

The depreciation calculated is charged to the service revenue accounts, central support 
service accounts and trading accounts. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been 
chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Depreciation charges for non-housing assets are not proper charges to the General Fund, so 
are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Depreciation charges for HRA dwellings that are covered by the Major Repairs 
Allowance (MRA) are real charges and are included in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. If the depreciation charged is higher than the MRA an amount equal to the 
difference is transferred to the HRA from the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR). If the depreciation 
is lower than the MRA the transfer is from the HRA to the reserve. These transactions are 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is classified as an Asset 
Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the 
lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to 
a fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted in the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up 
to the amount of any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of 
Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before 
they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations 
that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their 
recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the 
Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited 
to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of 
disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Amounts for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A proportion 
of receipts related to housing disposals is payable to the Government. The balance of receipts 
is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new 
capital investment or set aside to reduce the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the capital 

Page - 130



Page 18 

financing requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current 
assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.

XIX. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions: 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or 
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or 
service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For 
instance the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making 
of a settlement or the payment of compensation.  

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council becomes aware of the 
obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 
Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year - where it 
becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a 
lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the 
relevant service.

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered 
from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the 
relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the obligation is 
settled.

The council has made a provision for settling the self-insured element of Public Liability 
insurance claims.

Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts.

Contingent Assets

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council.

Page - 131



Page 19 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential.

XX. RESERVES

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a 
reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the 
expenditure.  

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes e.g. for non-current assets, 
retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Council – 
these reserves are explained in the relevant policies.

XXI. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but 
that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to 
the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.   
Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital 
resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts 
charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax.

XXII. VAT 

Income and expenditure excludes any amounts related to VAT, as in the main, VAT collected 
is payable to HM Revenue & Customs and VAT paid is recoverable from them. VAT is 
included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

XXIII. PRINCIPAL  AND AGENT TRANSACTIONS

In its capacity as a billing authority the Council acts as an agent - council tax income is 
collected and distributed by the Council both on its own behalf and as an agent for 
Lincolnshire County Council and Lincolnshire Police Authority.  Non Domestic Rate (NDR) 
income is collected on behalf of the Government.  

Where the Council is acting as an agent, transactions are not reflected in the financial 
statements, except where cash is collected or expenditure is incurred on behalf of the other 
bodies.  In this case a debtor or creditor will be raised.

Council Tax income is included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Account on an 
accruals basis.   

 

Page - 132



Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE  

REPORT OF:  Corporate Finance Manager

REPORT NO: CFM367

DATE:   24 March 2016

TITLE: UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS TO BE USED TO 
CALCULATE  IAS19 PENSION FIGURES IN 2015/16 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

None

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Cllr Terl Bryant
Resources Executive Member

CONTACT OFFICER: Amy Oliver, Financial Accountant Team Leader
a.oliver@southkesteven.gov.uk
Telephone 01476 406208

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

N/A Full impact assessment
Required: N/A

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and  
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS None

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 It is recommended that Governance & Audit Committee support the IAS19 
(International Accounting Standard 19) assumptions that are to be used in the 
production of the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts. 

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to allow the Committee to consider the 
assumptions the pension fund actuary proposes to use in preparing the IAS 19 
figures to be reported in the annual Statement of Accounts.  It is an audit 
requirement that those charged with governance have the chance to consider 
these assumptions.

Page - 133

Agenda Item 11

mailto:a.oliver@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT

3.1 IAS19 - Employee Benefits is one of the financial reporting standards with 
which we must comply when producing our annual Statement of Accounts.

3.2 The basic requirement of IAS19 is that an organisation should account for 
retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, irrespective of when they 
are paid out.

3.3 To calculate the cost of earned benefits for inclusion in the Statement of 
Accounts, the scheme actuaries use certain assumptions to reflect expected 
future events which may affect the cost.  The assumptions used should lead to 
the best estimate of the future cash flows that will arise under the scheme 
liabilities.  Any assumptions that are affected by economic conditions should 
reflect market expectations at the balance sheet date.

3.4    SKDC will use the calculated costs and the underlying assumptions, based 
upon the advice of the actuary of the Lincolnshire County Council Pension Fund 
and the administering authority (Lincolnshire County Council), in preparing the 
annual Statement of Accounts.  

3.5 A formal actuarial valuation is carried out every three years, the last being as at 
31st March 2013.  The figures produced for 31st March 2016 are estimates 
based on the last full actuarial valuation rolled forward and allowing for any 
change in the underlying assumptions.  

3.6 Financial Assumptions for 2015/16

The information provided below is derived from a briefing note prepared by the 
Actuary dated February 2016.  This note provides summary information with 
respect to the financial performance of the Fund and the underlying 
assumptions that are used to calculate future financial projections.  These 
assumptions will be tracked between the dates of 31 January and closedown 
dates of the 31st March 2016 to ensure the financial position is wholly up to 
date.

Price Inflation – this allows for the effect of inflation on salary growth.  At 31st 
January 2016 this was in the range from 3.1% to 3.3%.  (At 31st March 2015 it 
was in the range 3.0% to 3.4%).  

Pension Increase Rate –Public sector pension increases are linked to the 
Consumer Prices Index (CPI).  There is no direct evidence to base the CPI 
assumption on and therefore the actuary estimates the gap between RPI and 
CPI. On the basis of evidence from the Office for National Statistics the gap that 
will be used at 31st March 2016 is 1.0%. (At 31st March 2015 it was 0.9%)

Salary Increase Rate – reflects the expected rate of growth in pensionable pay, 
allowing for increases over and above inflation, e.g. career progression. The 
assumptions to be used are a 1% increase for the next four years and to revert 
to RPI in future years.  

Page - 134



Page 3 

Discount Rate – this allows for the effect of inflation on the liabilities in the 
scheme.  The assumption as at 31st January 2016 was in the range 3.6% - 
3.8%, (up from a range of 3.1% - 3.3% at  31st March 2015).  

Expected Return on Assets – This reflects the interest earned and changes in 
values of the investments within the scheme and will be based on market 
values as at 31st March 2015.  (At 31st March 2015 it was 3.2%).  At 31st 
January 2016, the expected return on equities is expected to be similar to the 
average discount rate of 3.7%.

All the calculations will be reviewed by the Actuary as at 31st March 2016 to 
confirm that there have been no material changes to the rates to be used over 
the two months since January 2016, and to calculate final figures.

3.7 Demographic Assumptions

Pensioner Mortality – this impacts on the length of time pensions are expected 
to be payable.  For the 2015/16 accounts the mortality assumptions are to be 
based on the same analysis used in 2014/15.  At the present time, the life 
expectancy figures are not available, but will be calculated as at 31 March 
2016.  

Commutation – this allows for the effect of future retirees choosing to take a 
larger initial lump sum and reduced annual pension.   The assumptions are 
25% of members who joined the scheme prior to 1st April 2008 and 63% of 
members who joined since that date.  These ratios are not expected to change 
for the 2015/16 accounts.  

Other demographic assumptions are used e.g. rates of withdrawal from the 
scheme, number of ill-health early retirements etc.  These assumptions are 
based on past experience and will not change from those used in 2013/14

3.8 Financial Impact

Appendix A shows the rates used as at 31st March 2015, the rates as at 31st 
January 2016, the direction of the movement to date and the impact of each of 
those movements on the Council’s accounts.

The projected changes in prices, pensions and salaries are likely to be broadly 
neutral and therefore the charge to the councils Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account should not increase significantly. 

An increase in the expected return on assets would cause the pension liability 
on the balance sheet to decrease from £52.067 million. 

The increase in the discount rate used to calculate the value of the liabilities will 
have the effect of increasing the liability held in the balance sheet.

It is therefore possible that in the 2015/16 financial accounts, the annual charge 
made within the accounts will be higher than in 2014/15. The liability on the 
balance sheet will be reduced by the higher than expected return on assets and 
increased by the higher discount rate.  However, market conditions at 31st 

Page - 135



Page 4 

March 2016 could change and the impact on the accounts is not certain until 
that time. 

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

All of the figures relating to IAS 19 are simply accounting adjustments made to 
comply with accounting standards and have no direct impact on resources.  
The amount charged to the General Fund Balance is the actual amount paid 
out in employers contributions and not the charge calculated in accordance with 
IAS19.  The liability shown in the balance sheet is an estimate based on 
assumptions and would only ever become payable if the Council ceased as a 
going concern. 

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included 
in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
None identified that are of a 
high risk nature

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None.

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None.

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Prior to the compilation of the statement of accounts for 2015/16  it is important 
that members of Governance and Audit Committee have the opportunity to 
discuss and comment on the underlying financial assumptions made by the 
actuary in respect of the Council pension fund.  These assumptions, if agreed, 
will have an impact on both the comprehensive income and expenditure 
account and the balance sheet for the financial year 2015/16. 

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The terms of reference of the Governance and Audit Committee require the 
Committee to approve the underlying assumptions detailed in this report which 
are used to calculate International Accounting Standard 19 pension figures in 
the statement of accounts.

11.     APPENDICES:
Appendix A - Financial Assumptions

Page - 136



Page 1 

APPENDIX  A

IAS 19 ASSUMPTIONS FOR 2015/16 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

Financial Assumptions
Rate As At 
31/03/15 (%)

Rate as at 
31/01/16 (%) Movement Financial Impact 

Price Inflation 3.3 3.2 ↓
Decrease in the charge for cost of future 
pensions

Pension Increase Rate 2.4 2.2 ↓ Decrease in liabilities

Salary Increase Rate 2.8            1.0 ↓

                                                                    
Decrease in the charge for cost of future 
pensions

Expected Return on Assets 3.2 3.7 ↑ Decrease in liabilities

Discount Rate 3.2 3.7 ↑ Increase in liabilities

P
age - 137



Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF: CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER

REPORT NO: CFM362

DATE:    24 March 2016

TITLE: Risk Management – Corporate Risk Register Update

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

None

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Executive Member, Governance 

CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Wyles
Corporate Finance Manager
r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
Tel: (01476) 406210

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) 
below:

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and 
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS CFM321 Risk Management – 
Corporate Risk Register Update 25 June 2015
The above reports can be located by putting their 
reference number in the search section of the committee 
website via the link below:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDocSearch.aspx
?bcr=1

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Governance & Audit Committee is requested to:

i) note the contents of this report
ii) review and approve the updated Corporate Risk Register as attached at 

Appendix A

Page - 138

Agenda Item 12

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDocSearch.aspx?bcr=1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDocSearch.aspx?bcr=1


Page 2 

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

One of the key areas for the Committee as part of its terms of reference is to monitor 
and review the risk management arrangements in place, and the activities that are 
being undertaken, in order to mitigate those risks.    

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

The Corporate Risk Register was last reviewed by Committee in June 2015.  The 
register has recently undergone a fundamental review by holding a facilitated 
workshop with executive managers and external expertise from our internal auditors 
RSM.  An initial workshop was held following the completion of an internal 
questionnaire that asked for the main challenges/opportunities/risks facing the Council 
in the medium term.  The responses to these questions were used as the basis for the 
workshop discussion.

The review focussed on removing specifically described corporate risks and replacing 
with broader headings that will have a longer term timeline.  This then allows for issues 
within the broader headings to be incorporated without the need for specific 
descriptions that may only have a short term timeline attached to them.     

The suggested broader headings are (linkage to previous risks in brackets):

1. Ensuring effectiveness of contingency plans/recovery plans for key locations/ 
systems (5, 8)

2. Maintaining an effective internal control environment (able to mitigate against 
material failure) (6, 7, 8)

3. Ensuring ongoing resilience and quality in third parties ie partners, major 
providers and suppliers etc (2, 3, 4, 5)

4. Ensuring continued financial sustainability (1, 2, 5, 6)
5. Being effective in a commercial environment (6, 7, 8)

The previous Corporate Risk Register had the following risks:

1. A sustainable Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is not achieved
2. There is a loss of partnerships/ Service Level Agreements (SLA), income or 

grant funding
3. Failure to deliver against the Grantham Growth priorities
4. Failure to identify and implement actions to support the community and 

businesses to minimise the effects of the economic downturn 
5. Unable to provide critical/non critical services
6. Failure to recruit and develop staff to meet changing customer demands and 

available resources
7. Reduction in staff morale due to changes brought in by the flexible organisation 

programme 
8. Ability for ICT infrastructure and support systems to be adapted and configured 

in order to provide a resilient framework, specifically to meet the challenges of 
agile working and customer access strategy 

Page - 139



Page 3 

Each of the revised risks were assigned to an executive manager to take responsibility 
for capturing and monitoring the actions relating to each risk and scoring the risk pre 
and post risk mitigation.  A further officer workshop was held to identify existing 
controls, plans and mitigations that currently manage the risk and to identify the 
additional action that is required.  The output from the workshop has resulted in a 
revised Corporate Risk Register attached as Appendix A.  The Committee will receive 
the register with updated actions and controls on a six monthly basis.

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016)

In April 2016 CIPFA is expected to publish a new Code of Practice on Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government:  Framework (2016).  The Framework will define the 
principles that should underpin the governance of each local government body and 
provides a structure to assist local authorities with their own approach to governance.  
The Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance will be revised to reflect the new 
code and will be submitted to the next available Governance and Audit Committee for 
approval.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

This report has no direct impact on the Council’s resources, including finance/ budget, 
people, land/property etc.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

None

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

These are contained within the report.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

Members of the Committee are responsible for monitoring actions taken, and to be 
taken, on behalf of the Council to identify corporate business risks and assess whether 
they are being effectively managed.  It is essential they are kept up to date with details 
of the risks and how they have been mitigated.

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

Page - 140



Page 4 

None

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – Corporate Risk Register

Page - 141



Appendix A – DRAFT Corporate Risk Register March 2016

Page 1 of 5

Controls effectiveness judgement (assessment by Executive Managers)

 Effective = design of control/mitigation is appropriate and is consistently applied
 Partially effective = improvements in design of control and application required to make effective
 Not effective = the control does achieve the desired outcome

Corporate Risk Themes Existing controls/plans/mitigations 
(and judged effectiveness)

Re
sid

ua
l R

isk
 S

co
re

Action to be taken to 
enhance or expand existing 
controls

1. Ensuring effectiveness of 
contingency plans/recovery 
plans for key locations/ 
systems

Owner:
Executive Manager Environment

Context/Notes
This risk focuses on the Council’s 
failure to respond and lead in an 
effective manner to a major incident 
or event. This could be within the 
Council itself eg major IT 
infrastructure failure, building 
fire/flood or wider within the 
Community itself, created via an 
external event or emergency. 

Therefore not achieving the intended 
outcome or making the situation 
worse, thus wasting resources 
further, contributing to 
damage/injury, as well as a high 
likelihood of reputation damage and 
potential for legal claims against the 
Council (even corporate 
manslaughter potential).

 Emergency Plan (EP) maintained and 
regularly reviewed to ensure fit for use 
(Effective)

 Desktop training exercise undertaken to 
test the Business Continuity Plan (BCP) 
facilitated by LCC. Training needs 
identified and addressed (Effective)

 SKDC ICT Disaster Recovery Plan  
(Partially effective – see action 1.3 & 
1.4)

 SKDC Business Continuity Plans and 
Business Impact Assessments. These 
identify restoration timescales for key 
services, with the premises relocation 
plan dealing with physical/site options  
(Partially effective – see action 1.3 & 
1.4)

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
1 

  x
   

Im
pa

ct
 3

   
= 

  M
ed

iu
m

 3

1.1 Completion of emergency 
plan exercise

1.2 Completion of BCP exercise 
(physical and ICT)

1.3 Complete the premises plan 
linking with the updating of 
ICT Disaster Recovery Plan

1.4 Telephony resilience 
solution to be introduced

Page - 142



Appendix A – DRAFT Corporate Risk Register March 2016

Page 2 of 5

Corporate Risk Themes Existing controls/plans/mitigations 
(and judged effectiveness)

Re
sid

ua
l R

isk
 S

co
re

Action to be taken to 
enhance or expand existing 
controls

2. Maintaining an effective 
internal control 
environment (able to 
mitigate against material 
failure)

Owners:
Executive Manager Corporate 
Corporate Finance Manager

Context/Notes
This risk focuses on the potential for 
failure of the Council’s core internal 
control (and governance) framework 
but leading to a significant loss ie 
financial and otherwise eg H&S 
failing. 

In effect the Council should be in a 
position to mitigate such a risk 
through rigorous review of design 
and application of the controls, hence 
ensuring that internal audit and other 
assurance activities are appropriately 
focussed. 

The ramifications of a significant 
control risk failure are substantial, 
not only with regard to the loss but 
often the rectification costs post 
event, including financial and 
reputational.

 Annual audit plan developed by senior 
officers and members is targeted at key 
risks areas and responsive to new areas 
of risk  (Effective)

 External audit regime  (Effective)

 Corporate governance, fraud and H&S 
team resource  (Effective)

 Quarterly assurance statements 
compiled and reviewed by executive 
managers testing compliance with key 
business activities, supporting AGS 
compilation  (Partially effective –  see 
action 2.4)

 Range of Performance Indicators (PI’s) 
that monitor internal controls  
(Effective)

 Range of polices that underpin the 
control framework – financial 
regulations, counter fraud strategy, risk 
management framework, contract 
procedure rules coupled with staff 
induction training and communication 
of changes when they occur  (Partially 
effective – see actions 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3)

 Regular reporting at member level at 
Governance and Audit Committee  
(Effective)

 Compliance with transparency code  
(Effective) 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
2 

  x
   

Im
pa

ct
 3

   
= 

  H
ig

h 
6

2.1 Review and update of key 
polices to ensure they 
match the current working 
environment

2.2 Review of NetConsent 
(policy management 
system) fitness for purpose 
as means for 
communicating policy and 
procedure/managing 
compliance

2.3 Development of staff 
training plan in connection 
with core responsibilities 
and duties ie data 
protection, financial rules, 
Freedom of Information etc

2.4 Strengthen level of 
challenge re outcomes from 
quarterly assurance 
statements to ensure that 
areas in need of 
improvement are 
highlighted and actions 
agreed to make 
improvement required

Page - 143



Appendix A – DRAFT Corporate Risk Register March 2016

Page 3 of 5

Corporate Risk Themes Existing controls/plans/mitigations 
(and judged effectiveness)

Re
sid

ua
l R

isk
 S

co
re

Action to be taken to 
enhance or expand existing 
controls

3. Ensuring ongoing resilience 
and quality in third parties 
ie partners, major 
providers and suppliers etc

Owner:
Executive Manager Property

Context/Notes
This risk relates to the potential for 
the failure of a major supplier of 
Council services or partner with 
whom the Council co-delivers/enables 
provision of services or operations. In 
the event of such a failure, either in 
resilience or quality, then the Council 
would be significantly compromised 
and would have to undertake 
significant remedial work.

The Council undertake significant 
checks pre-contract award, though 
may not be as rigorous post award. 
This may indicate some need to 
strengthen the contract management 
process and how the Council can use 
this to its advantage. 

There does not appear to be a clear 
picture of what might be the key 
contracts and/or partnerships and 
some further work may be required 
to establish the risk profile of each of 
these/impact of failure on the 
Council.

Key third party organisations have 
been identified in individual business 
area Business Continuity Plans with, 
so far, some indication of alternative 
contingencies should that party fail to 
provide the service.  

 Assessment of bids/tenders through 
scoring of evaluation criteria, financial 
and health and safety diligence checks 
prior to award of contract  (Effective)

 Regular monitoring meetings with 
contractors throughout life of contract  
(Partially effective)

 Some contracts based on open book 
approach to financial monitoring  
(Partially effective)

 Firefly contract database kept up to 
date by individual business areas and 
could be used to identify key contracts/ 
partnerships or suppliers  (Not effective)

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
3 

  x
   

Im
pa

ct
 3

   
= 

  H
ig

h 
9

3.1 Review the post contract 
award arrangements in 
place for ensuring on-going 
resilience, quality and 
financial stability of third 
parties

3.2 Review of Firefly application 
– use of, and maintenance 
of, data in the system and 
the system’s fitness for 
purpose

Page - 144



Appendix A – DRAFT Corporate Risk Register March 2016

Page 4 of 5

Corporate Risk Themes Existing controls/plans/mitigations 
(and judged effectiveness)

Re
sid

ua
l R

isk
 S

co
re

Action to be taken to 
enhance or expand existing 
controls

4. Ensuring continued 
financial sustainability

Owner:
Corporate Finance Manager

Context/Notes
This risk relates to the Council being 
unable to properly execute and 
achieve its medium term financial 
plan – what would be the underlying 
causes as well as the effects on the 
Council, how clearly are these 
understood. 

The Council’s financial standing is 
currently sound though it is 
imperative that the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) remains fit 
for purpose.

The government are likely to continue 
to pursue a self-financing model for 
councils.

This risk is also closely linked to risk 5.

 Annual review of MTFS updating the 5 
year horizon scan including reserve 
levels and future changes to funding 
(Effective)

 Annual budget setting for revenue and 
capital including funding  (Effective)

 Utilisation of external financial support 
that provides support for funding 
modelling  (Effective)

 Regular budget monitoring reports and 
updates to senior officers and members  
(Effective)

 Development of a fit for the future 
(transformation plan) that includes 
actions that will support the closing of 
future budget gaps  (Partially effective)

 Treasury Management Strategy to 
ensure the Council are acting within the 
prudential indicators  (Effective)

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
2 

  x
   

Im
pa

ct
 2

   
= 

  M
ed

iu
m

 4

See 5.

Page - 145



Appendix A – DRAFT Corporate Risk Register March 2016

Page 5 of 5

Corporate Risk Themes Existing controls/plans/mitigations 
(and judged effectiveness)

Re
sid

ua
l R

isk
 S

co
re

Action to be taken to 
enhance or expand existing 
controls

5. Being effective in a 
commercial environment

Owner:
Executive Manager Commercial

Context/Notes
This relates to the Council taking a 
more commercial outlook in the way 
in which it provides services/does 
business. This will require a 
significant transformation in culture, 
behaviour and most of all workforce 
skill set, coupled with potential 
implications on the Council’s standing 
orders etc (potential link to risks 2 
and 3).

The risk is that the Council will not be 
able to achieve this, or in doing so 
this impacts detrimentally on the 
Councils core services/customers ie 
quality deteriorates at the expense of 
commerciality.

There is also an implication here on 
the Council finances if there is 
reliance on outcomes from 
commercial activity. 

Does the Council have a clear 
commercial strategy, in particular 
what it means by commerciality and 
why this is appropriate (a reasonable 
and regular challenge for the Council 
to ask itself). How prepared is the 
Council culture and skill set/ 
experiences to achieve the change 
that will be required.

 Mandatory Commercial Awareness 
workshop for all senior managers 
(Effective)

 Potential new ways of working (Fit for 
the Future (FFF) initiatives) put forward 
for evaluation  (Partially effective)

 Top 9 “Big Ticket” initiatives agreed by 
Strategic Management Team (SMT)  
(Effective)

 Local Authority Control Company in 
place  (Effective)

 Commercial investment fund created 
(Effective)

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
3 

  x
   

Im
pa

ct
 3

   
= 

  H
ig

h 
9

5.1 Work with SMT/Members to 
look at building a culture 
and environment that will 
encourage entrepreneurship 
and fully support taking 
initiatives forward

5.2 Follow through on case 
study initiatives discussed 
during senior manager 
“Developing Commercial 
Awareness” workshops held 
in February 2016 (creation 
of plan)

5.3 Put identified FFF initiatives 
through stage 1 of the new 
fast-track project process

5.4 Ensure the 9 “Big Ticket” 
initiatives have appropriate 
governance and are tracked 
and monitored 

5.5 Establish how the Council 
can build, and increase 
corporately, its commercial 
capacity, capability and 
behaviour to deliver the 
above

5.6 Develop a clearly defined 
commercial road map that 
identifies expected 
outcomes covering next 1-5 
years

5.7 Linked to 5.6, undertake a 
review of existing 
collaborations for the 
purpose of assessing level of 
contribution, fitness for 
purpose, as well as identify 
activities where the Council 
should seek further 
collaboration

Page - 146



Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF: CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER

REPORT NO: CFM361

DATE:    24 March 2016

TITLE: Counter Fraud Strategy

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

None

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Executive Member, Governance

CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Wyles
Corporate Finance Manager
r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
Tel: (01476) 406210

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below:

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and 
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Governance & Audit Committee is requested to approve the updated counter 
fraud strategy appended to this report.

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

In accordance with the terms of reference of the Committee it is a requirement to 
review and update the Counter Fraud Strategy. 

Page - 147

Agenda Item 13

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven,gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

Background

CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) published a Code of 
Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption and a Counter Fraud 
Assessment Tool in October 2015.  The Code sets out high level principles of good 
counter fraud practice that can be applied across public services.  

The five principles of the Code are to:

 Acknowledge responsibility
 Identify risks
 Develop a strategy
 Provide resources
 Take Action

The Code replaces CIPFA's previous guidance Managing the Risk of Fraud, Actions to 
Counter Fraud and Corruption, commonly known as the 'Red Book'.

In addition to the Code there is a Counter Fraud Assessment Tool which has been 
designed to help measure counter fraud arrangements against the Code.  This will be 
particularly useful for the Annual Governance Statement which must include an 
evaluation of the adequacy of counter fraud arrangements.

The Assessment Tool has been designed to:

 Follow the counter fraud code principles
 Provide evidence and examples to describe good practice
 Focus on performance not compliance
 Provide an overall rating and identification of areas for improvement
 Provide an auditable, evidenced statement

It is also useful for tracking improvement, reporting results and can be used for 
benchmarking against peers.  It is recommended that officers utilise this tool to assess 
the current reality and to track progression against the agreed actions.

CIPFA is recognised as the standard setter and are supported by key influencers.  It is 
therefore good practice to revise our document to reflect the principles within the Code 
to ensure that it continues to meet the new guidance and to ensure that the framework 
is still fit for purpose.  

The strategy has been reduced in content to ensure it is more focused on the key 
components, provides a clearer narrative and has been benchmarked with similar 
documents from other authorities.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

Page - 148



Page 3 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

This report has no direct impact on the Council’s resources, including finance/budget, 
people, land/property etc.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

None

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

These are contained within the report.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

As part of a robust corporate governance framework it is important that the Council’s 
Counter Fraud Strategy reflects best practice as set out in the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption and is reviewed on a regular basis to 
monitor the outcomes of the strategy and its effectiveness. As such the strategy is 
reviewed via a report to the Council’s Governance and Audit Committee. 

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

None

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – Counter Fraud Strategy

Page - 149



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 1

Counter Fraud Strategy
Introduction
South Kesteven District Council is responsible for protecting public assets, acting in the public interest and making 
best use of resources to achieve intended outcomes.  The Council also has a legal responsibility under the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 for ensuring that financial management is adequate and effective and has a 
sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of functions which includes arrangements for 
the management of risk.  The Council is determined to maintain its reputation of not tolerating theft, fraud, 
corruption, bribery or abuse of position for personal gain in any area of its organisation or activities.  It is committed 
to the prevention and detection of all forms of fraud and corruption committed against it both internally and 
externally.  

The purpose of this document is to set out the Council’s strategy for developing a structured approach to the 
management of fraud and corruption risk across the organisation with the aim of minimising losses or risk of losses 
as a result of fraud or corruption.  The strategy is designed to prevent losses due to theft, fraud, corruption, bribery 
and abuse of position by:

 Maintaining a ‘zero tolerance’ culture and a stance of providing a strong deterrent
 Ensuring a good level of awareness of fraud risk across the organisation
 Ensuring that effective mechanisms to prevent and detect fraud are incorporated into policies and systems
 Promoting a culture of openness, integrity and accountability on the part of its Members and employees
 Eliminating, as far as possible, opportunities for theft, fraud, corruption, bribery and abuse of position to take 

place
 Establishing effective arrangements for the detection and investigation of any malpractice that does occur and 

for the imposition of appropriate sanctions against offenders
 Providing suitable information and training for Members and employees to ensure that they are aware of their 

duty and responsibility to assist the Council to achieve these objectives

In addition to the strategy, the Council has a Counter Fraud Policy which sets out the responsibilities of senior 
management and staff for ensuring that appropriate actions are taken for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
corruption, and the procedures to be followed where fraud or corruption is detected or suspected.

Overview of strategy
This Counter Fraud Strategy, with supporting Policy, applies to all employees, contractors and any persons or 
organisations doing business with the Council.  It applies to all aspects of the Council’s business.  In adopting this 
strategy the Council aims to reflect the values set out in the Seven Principles of Public Life formulated by the Nolan 
Committee (Annex 1).  

The strategy is structured on the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption which 
consists of five principles, detailed overleaf, and the most up to date thinking on good governance for the public 
sector, the International Framework:  Good Governance in the Public Sector (2014).  It is in the International 
Framework that there are the clearest links to the principles in the code.  The International Framework states:

Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved.

The fundamental function of good governance in the public sector is to ensure that entities achieve 
their intended outcomes while acting in the public interest at all times.

Page - 150



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 2

Good governance is characterised by robust scrutiny, which places important pressures on improving 
public sector performance and tackling corruption.

When considering the Code against the International Framework there are two clear messages:  the importance of 
achieving intended outcomes and acting in the public interest and being seen to do so.  It is clear from the outset 
that good governance cannot be achieved if the fraud and corruption risks faced are unacknowledged or 
inadequately addressed.

CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption
This strategy is structured on the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption which 
consists of five principles:

Acknowledge responsibility

• the governing body should acknowledge its responsibility for ensuring that the risks associated with fraud and 
corruption are managed across all parts of the organisation

Identify risks

• fraud risk identification is essential to understand specific exposures to risk, changing patterns in fraud and 
corruption threats and the potential consequences to the organisation and its service users

Develop a strategy

• an organisation needs a counter fraud strategy setting out its approach to managing its risks and defining 
responsibilities for action

Provide resources 

• the organisation should make arrangements for appropriate resources to support the counter fraud strategy

Take action

• the organisation should put in place the policies and procedures to support the counter fraud and corruption 
strategy and take action to prevent, detect and investigate fraud

Counter Fraud Assessment Tool
In addition to the Code there is a Counter Fraud Assessment Tool which has been designed to help measure counter 
fraud arrangements against the Code.  This will be particularly useful for the Annual Governance Statement which 
must include an evaluation of the adequacy of counter fraud arrangements.

The Assessment Tool has been designed to:

 Follow the counter fraud code principles (68 questions across the five principles)
 Provide evidence and examples to describe good practice
 Focus on performance not compliance
 Provide an overall rating and identification of areas for improvement
 Provide an auditable, evidenced statement

Page - 151



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 3

The Council will undertake regular self assessments utilising the Assessment Tool in order to evaluate the 
development and integration of the counter fraud arrangements.  This will also provide useful monitoring on further 
embedding initiatives.  and it is recommended that officers utilise this tool to assess the current reality and to track 
progression against the agreed actions.

Monitoring
This strategy forms part of the Council’s arrangements for Corporate Governance.  There is a requirement for the 
Council to monitor the outcome of the strategy and review its effectiveness.  As such the strategy is periodically 
reviewed, updated and reported to the Governance and Audit Committee.

Finally, the code states that when making reference about adherence to the code within the Annual Governance 
Statement, the level of conformance should be assessed and therefore is approved by the person responsible for 
signing off the Annual Governance Statement.

Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership
The Council is part of the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership which was established to create the framework for 
a county-wide anti-fraud approach.  It provides a forum for counter fraud specialists and subject area experts from 
Lincolnshire County Council and the seven district councils to develop and deliver proactive exercises and investigate 
fraud.  The key aims of the Partnership are to: 

 deliver joint fraud proactive exercises across Lincolnshire
 deliver savings and achieve outcomes which will reduce fraud within the county
 develop and deliver an effective co-ordinated fraud awareness programme
 share intelligence, investigative resource, expertise and best practice 

The governance arrangements of the Fraud Partnership will be approved and overseen by the Chief Finance Officer 
Group.

Prevention, including deterrence and detection
The Council recognises the importance of protecting its assets through a planned programme of work directed at 
deterring fraud.

Internal audit will consider fraud risk, where relevant, in all of the audits it undertakes, as well as carrying out an 
ongoing programme of audits in spend and revenue areas which, whilst not necessarily high value, are particularly 
susceptible to fraud risk. In addition, as part of the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership, there is an ongoing fraud 
prevention plan including targeted prevention, deterrence, detection and fraud risk assessment activity.

Wherever possible, the results of fraud investigations, including any judicial action taken, will be reported both 
internally and externally as part of the deterrence process. 

National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
The Council also participates in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a sophisticated data matching exercise 
that matches electronic data within and between participating bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  The Council may 
also participate in similar initiatives run by other bodies such as the Inland Revenue.    

This section acts as notification to employees that their data will be provided, upon request, to comply with the 
requirements of the NFI and in conjunction with the Fair Processing Notice.    

Page - 152



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 4

Participants in the NFI data matching exercise must inform individuals that their data will be processed as required 
by the Data Protection Act 1998.  This is known as the Fair Processing Notice.  The Fair Processing Notice, which is 
published on the Council’s web-site, must clearly set out an explanation that their data may be disclosed for the 
purpose of preventing and detecting fraud and that their data will be provided for this purpose as well as where to 
obtain more information about the processing in question.  

Training and awareness
The Council is committed to ensuring all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to preventing fraud and 
corruption, and will ensure that there is an on-going training and awareness programme for staff regarding 
measures to minimise the risk of fraud and corruption. The Council also recognises that the organisation is exposed 
to risk from external partners and suppliers and will ensure there is an on-going programme of awareness to ensure 
external partners and suppliers understand the Council’s commitment to protect its funds against fraud and 
corruption.  

Investigation
The Council is committed to investigating all suspected occurrences of fraud and corruption. Investigations will be 
undertaken in accordance with the Fraud Response Plan. Updates on fraud investigation work will be provided to 
Strategic Management Team and Governance and Audit Committee. 

Identification of systemic issues and lesson learnt
Internal Audit will ensure that control and/or systemic issues identified during investigations are reported to the 
business in order that similar occurrences are prevented in the future and any lessons learnt are effectively 
managed.

Sanctions
The Council is committed to pursuing all possible sanctions for proven cases of fraud and/or corruption. The Council 
will pursue internal disciplinary, criminal and civil sanctions where there is evidence to support the occurrence of 
fraud and/or corruption.

Recovery of losses
The Council is committed to seeking to minimise any potential loss due to fraud and/or corruption. In all cases of 
suspected fraud the Council will take action to minimise the risk of further loss. In all cases of proven fraud and/or 
corruption the Council will take action where it is available to seek to recover any funds lost due to fraud.

Conclusion
The Council expects staff at all levels to lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, policy 
and practices. The Council also expects that individuals and organisations with whom it deals, will act towards the 
Council with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption.

The Council has put in place this strategy to assist in the fight against fraud and corruption. These arrangements will 
be kept under review to ensure that all opportunities to take advantage of developments in techniques for 
preventing and detecting fraudulent or corrupt activity are maximised. This Strategy fully supports the Council's 
desire to maintain a culture of openness, fairness, trust and dignity; free from fraud and corruption.

Page - 153



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 5

Counter Fraud Policy
Introduction 
The Council is committed to promoting an environment of effective corporate governance (the way in which we 
manage our affairs) through the openness, integrity and accountability of its Members and employees.

The purpose of this policy is to outline the responsibilities for ensuring that appropriate actions are taken for 
preventing, detecting and deterring fraud, corruption, bribery or other irregularity and sets out the procedures to be 
followed where fraud or corruption is detected or suspected.

The policy underpins the commitment already made by the Council to provide the highest quality of services to all of 
our residents and customers by:

 Promoting clear and positive community leadership
 Consulting with and listening to local people in its planning and decision making
 Making the most efficient and effective use of public resources through the rigorous application of value for 

money principles
 Encouraging co-operative and partnership working with public, private and voluntary organisations
 Supporting, valuing and developing its Members and staff thereby enabling them to contribute to the 

continuous improvement of the quality of services

Related documentation that supports the Counter Fraud Policy:

 Whistleblowing Policy
 Fraud Response Plan
 Code of Conduct 
 Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Support Counter Fraud Policy
 Anti-Money Laundering Policy
 Information Security Policy
 Acceptable Use of ICT Assets Policy

Responsibilities
The following senior officers have statutory responsibilities for regulating the conduct of the Council.

 The Chief Executive responsible for the overall management and direction of the Council
 The Section 151 Officer responsible for the financial management and financial probity of the Council
 The Monitoring Officer responsible for the legal probity of the Council

The Chief Executive, Strategic Directors and Executive Managers have responsibility for the proper organisation and 
conduct of their services.  The Council expects them to maintain an environment in which employees and others feel 
comfortable in raising issues relating to the way in which business is conducted.

The Council expects and requires all of its employees to display honesty and integrity in their personal dealings with 
the Council, both as members of staff and as users of Council services.  The good sense and alertness of employees 
can also prove vital in drawing management attention to any areas of systems weakness which could provide 
opportunities for fraud. 

The Council also expects and requires all individuals and organisations (such as contractors, voluntary bodies and 
service users) with which it comes into contact to act towards the Council with honesty and integrity. 

Page - 154



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 6

All Members and employees must ensure always that they avoid situations where there is potential for a conflict of 
interest.  Such situations can arise with externalisation of services, licensing, tendering and planning and land issues.  
Effective role separation will ensure that decisions are seen to be based on impartial advice and avoid concern about 
the improper disclosure of confidential information.

Members of the Council
All Members of the Council are required to comply with relevant legislation, with the Member Code of Conduct and 
with the Council’s Standing Orders including those relating to Finance and Contracts.  These are set out in the 
Council’s Constitution.

Members sign to indicate that they have read and understood the Member Code when they take office.  Conduct 
and ethical matters are specifically covered within Members’ induction and refresher training.

Members are required to register disclosable pecuniary interests in the Register of Members’ Interests maintained 
by the Monitoring Officer.  Members are responsible for ensuring that the information recorded about them in the 
Register is kept up to date.

Members are required, at the earliest opportunity, to declare disclosable pecuniary interests in respect to matters 
being discussed at meetings of full Council, the Cabinet, Committees, Boards and Panels.  They are also expected to 
comply with the Member Code when representing the Council on external bodies.

Members are required to declare the receipt of all gifts and hospitality over the value of £50 in a separate Register 
maintained by the Monitoring Officer.  Items of a lower value can also be entered in the Voluntary Register.

Member behaviour is also governed by the Planning Code of Good Practice and the Member/Officer Relationship 
Protocol, which form part of the Constitution.

The Council has arrangements in place to ensure the good conduct of Members.  The Monitoring Officer, an 
Independent Person appointed by Council and a review board of councillors discharge this function.

Employees
A key preventative measure is for managers to take effective steps at the recruitment stage to establish, as far as 
possible, the suitability, honesty and integrity of potential employees.  Temporary and contract appointments need 
to be considered in this context as well as permanent appointments.  

Managers should consider whether criminal records checks are appropriate for particular appointments.  Further 
advice on the relevant procedures can be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and/or Human Resources.

The Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees sets out the Council’s expectations and requirements for personal 
conduct including a policy statement on personal interests.  Employees are reminded that they should not use their 
professional position within the Council to seek advantage.  A copy of the Employee Code is available on the intranet 
and reproduced within the Constitution.

Employees must declare to the Monitoring Officer any pecuniary and/or non-pecuniary interests in Council contracts 
in accordance with Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Employees are not permitted to accept any fees or rewards whatsoever other than their proper remuneration.  
Where any gifts, other than small value gifts freely available at conferences/seminars etc, or hospitality are accepted 
on behalf of the Council these must be recorded in the appropriate Gifts and Hospitality Register which is maintained 
by the Monitoring Officer.

Page - 155



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 7

The Council has Disciplinary Procedures in place which are applicable to all employees.  This procedure will be used 
in the event of any action taken against an employee of the Council.

         
All managers must actively promote the Council’s counter fraud culture.  They must pay particular attention to cases 
where employees, for example, do not regularly take annual leave and to situations where recognised checking 
mechanisms have broken down due to sickness or vacancies.  Such situations could point to the existence of, or lead 
on to, fraud, corruption and bribery.

The Monitoring Officer
The Council has designated the Executive Manager Corporate as being its Monitoring Officer in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2000.  The Monitoring Officer is under a duty to report to the Council if at 
any time it appears to her that any act, proposal, decision or omission by the Council is contrary to law.

Financial systems and procedures
The Council has appointed the Strategic Director (Corporate Focus) and the Corporate Finance Manager as the 
officers responsible for making arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs under the 
provisions of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  

These officers also have responsibilities under Section 114 of the Local Government Act 1988 to make a formal 
report to the Council in the event that it appears to them that it has incurred, or may incur, unlawful expenditure or 
expenditure in excess of the resources available to the Council.

The Council’s approved financial procedures are set out in:

 Financial Regulations and accompanying guidance notes
 Standing Orders in Relation to Contracts (linked to the Councils Contract Procurement and Procedure Rules).

These procedures are binding on all employees and on all Members of the Council.  

It is the responsibility of Directors, Executive Managers and Business Managers to ensure that the procedures 
operated by their staff comply with the requirements set out in these two documents.  Advice can be obtained from 
the Corporate Finance Manager whenever needed.

The Financial Regulations form the basis on which systems have been designed to cover all aspects of the Council’s 
financial administration.  A key element is the requirement for separation of duties to ensure that errors and 
opportunities for fraud are minimised.  Executive Managers and Business Managers are responsible for ensuring that 
the financial systems used in their sections are properly followed and documented, and that the appropriate 
controls are maintained.

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations, the Council maintains an effective 
internal audit service.  The Council’s internal audit service is supplied on a contract basis.

Internal audit provide an independent review as to whether financial systems are being operated in an appropriate 
and effective manner.  Any weaknesses identified are reported to management who have the duty to take corrective 
action.

It is a requirement that Local Authorities alert all acts of fraud and/or corruption exceeding £10,000 in value.  The 
Council’s Corporate Finance Manager will co-ordinate the completion of the appropriate documentation which will 
be sent to External Audit.  Managers are required to notify the Corporate Finance Manager of all acts of fraud and/or 
corruption exceeding £10,000 in value and complete the relevant paperwork. 

Page - 156



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 8

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support
In relation to Housing Benefit fraud, the Council has a corporate fraud investigation resource which is responsible for 
the investigation of potential benefit fraud.  The Council recognises it faces special challenges in ensuring the 
financial integrity of the benefits system, whilst maintaining a quality service for law abiding applicants and 
landlords.  It has therefore adopted a detailed Counter Fraud Policy for the benefits service, which is integral to the 
overall policy framework set out in this document.

IT Security
The Council’s IT arrangements are designed to ensure the secure use of systems for their approved purposes.  
Specific policies have been developed to regulate the following areas of risk:

 Unauthorised access to and use of Council equipment and systems
 Disclosure of confidential information
 Importing of unapproved data and programs
 The threats posed by virus infections
 Improper use of emails and the internet

External Safeguards
The Council’s external auditors are required to comply with their own Code of Audit Practice. 

The Council is committed to maintaining a positive and constructive relationship with its external auditors.  The Code 
emphasises the responsibility of the authority’s own management to prevent and detect fraud, corruption and 
bribery.  An important part of the role of external audit is to review the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements 
for meeting this responsibility.

The Council co-operates with other local authorities and other bodies in combating fraud, corruption and bribery.  
Data may be exchanged with these organisations where appropriate and subject to compliance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998.  These bodies include:

 The Council’s External Auditor
 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
 The Local Government Ombudsman 
 HM Revenue and Customs
 Lincolnshire Constabulary
 The Department for Work & Pensions (DWP)
 Department of Communities and Local Government
 Other local authorities

Information obtained direct from members of the public is also important in bringing issues to the Council’s 
attention.  This can include complaints lodged under the Council’s complaints procedure and questions raised with 
the External Auditor during the audit of the Council’s accounts.

Money laundering 
Any service within the Council that receives money from an external person or body is potentially vulnerable to a 
money laundering operation.  The need for vigilance is vital and if there is any suspicion concerning the 
appropriateness of a cash transaction this must be reported to the Corporate Finance Manager, the Council’s 
nominated Money Laundering Reporting Officer, without alerting the payee.   

Page - 157



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 9

The possibility of money laundering through corporate borrowing and lending is minimised through the application 
of best practice in the Council’s Treasury Management Function.  The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
complies with the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy) publication, Treasury Management in 
the Public Services – Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes.  

The Council’s Legal & Democratic team have their own professional guidance in relation to Money Laundering which 
places a duty on solicitors to report any suspicions.  These may override their legal professional privilege and 
confidentiality.  

Prevention
The Council recognises that prevention is better than cure.  Fraud, corruption and bribery will be minimised where 
proper procedures are followed, sound financial systems are in place and effective arrangements are made for 
oversight and monitoring.

The Council has developed a comprehensive network of procedures and systems to provide deterrence against 
fraud, corruption and bribery and to assist in their detection.  These arrangements will be reviewed and developed 
as necessary to keep pace with future developments.

Raising concerns
Anyone who has a genuine concern about potential fraud, corruption, bribery, or weak financial systems within the 
Council is encouraged to bring it to the Council’s attention (in confidence) through any of the following channels:

 The Chief Executive
 The Section 151 Officer
 Corporate Finance Manager
 The Monitoring Officer
 Any other Strategic Director or Executive Manager
 Governance & Risk Officer
 The Council’s internal auditors

All of the above are required by the Council to take such concerns seriously and to ensure that they are properly 
investigated.

If you are not certain as to the extent of the problem you have identified you should still report it.  What appears, on 
initial consideration, to be only a minor incident can sometimes turn out to be much more serious after 
investigation.  

The only circumstance in which someone raising an issue could face criticism or (in the case of employees) 
disciplinary action is where they have made a malicious or vexatious allegation which they know to be untrue.  

If, for any reason, you feel unable to raise your concern through any of the contacts listed above, you can also 
approach any of the following:

 A councillor (name and telephone numbers are available on the internet/intranet or from Legal & Democratic)
 The External Audit Manager (the external auditor is not a Council employee and is not subject in any way to the 

Council’s control).  Telephone: 0115 935 3545
 The Local Government Ombudsman.  Telephone: 01904 380200

The Council has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to encourage and enable members of staff to raise serious 
concerns.  

In addition, members of the public are encouraged to report any concerns.  If any person genuinely believes that 
someone is committing a crime they should immediately report their suspicions. 

Page - 158



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 10

Lincolnshire Councils now have one confidential hotline and email address: 

0800 0853716

whistleblowing@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Detection and investigation 

Detection
Internal control procedures are designed to deter fraud and can also provide indicators of where fraudulent activity 
may be occurring.  Where large amounts of data are involved statistical analysis can also highlight individual 
transactions that fall outside normally expected parameters and are worthy of examination.    

It is often the alertness of Members, employees and members of the public to potential fraud that enables detection 
to occur and appropriate action to take place.

All employees have a duty to report suspected irregularities to their Business Manager or through the other channels 
that are set out in this strategy.  It is essential that these channels are seen to be fully supported by all managers.   

Investigation
Strategic Directors, Executive Managers and Business Managers must report all instances of potential fraud or 
corruption immediately to the S151 Officer or Corporate Finance Manager.  This duty applies even where the 
amount of money involved may appear to be relatively trivial as an apparently minor matter can turn out to be much 
more significant after investigation.

In consultation with the Chief Executive, the Section 151 Officer/Corporate Finance Manager will determine how a 
potential instance of fraud or corruption will be investigated.  The options available to them include:

 Conducting an internal investigation by Council staff 
 Asking Internal Audit to investigate
 Asking the External Auditor to investigate
 Referring the matter to the Police

The Council may also work in co-operation with one or more of the following bodies who will assist in scrutinising 
the Council’s systems and defend against fraud, corruption and bribery: 

 Local Government Ombudsman
 Central Government Departments, Inspectorates
 HM Customs and Excise

 Inland Revenue 
 Department For Works and Pensions
 Police

Whichever investigation route is chosen senior management will ensure the full co-operation and support of Council 
staff.  Council contractors will also be expected to co-operate with an investigation where appropriate.

Where an investigation includes reference to the actions or conduct of Members full cooperation will be expected 
from the Members concerned.

All investigations undertaken by the Council will comply with relevant legislation and codes of practice, in particular:

 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984

Page - 159

mailto:whistleblowing@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 11

 Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) – limited use and confined to serious crime only as directed 

by local Magistrates
 Data Protection Act 1998

Specific investigation procedures involving direct or covert surveillance carried out by Council employees or agents 
will be properly authorised, documented and reported in accordance with RIPA.  Employees are expected to fully 
comply with the Surveillance Guidelines and Procedures issued by the Council.

Investigations will also have full regard to the provisions of the Council’s Equalities Policy.

Where the outcome of an investigation indicates improper conduct on the part of an employee the Council’s 
disciplinary procedures will be applied.  Referral of any matter to the Police will not be a bar to disciplinary action.

Where financial impropriety is discovered or suspected the Council may call the Police in.  Following a Police 
investigation the Police themselves and the Crown Prosecution Service will determine whether to pursue a criminal 
prosecution.

Where a suspected irregularity is material, or could seriously affect the reputation of the Council, then the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and relevant Cabinet Member must be informed.

The type and nature of reports to management will vary according to the type of alleged fraud being investigated.  
These reports although confidential may need to be forwarded to specified individuals eg the Police, other 
Government Agencies, Executive Managers and Executive Directors.

The Council may initiate prosecutions in the case of benefit fraud, as detailed in its Housing Benefit and/or Council 
Tax Support Counter Fraud Policy.

The Council may also decide to initiate civil legal action to recover any losses it has suffered. 

Where a court conviction has been secured the Council will normally issue a press release to assist the local media in 
covering the story.  The Council believes that such publicity can serve as a deterrent to the commission of other 
offences.

Training and awareness
The Council recognises that the continuing success of the counter fraud strategy will depend to a considerable extent 
on the effectiveness of its training programmes and the responsiveness of its Members and employees.  With that in 
mind, training programmes will be used to reinforce counter fraud awareness throughout the authority.

Member induction courses will stress the need for Members to set the tone for the authority by full compliance with 
ethical and conduct standards.

Directors, Executive Managers and Business Managers are reminded of their special responsibility for ensuring that 
opportunities for fraud, corruption and bribery are minimised within their areas of responsibility and, that where 
such problems are suspected, they are promptly reported to the S151 Officer or Corporate Finance Manager.

Induction courses for employees do generally include some coverage of conduct issues including conflicts of interest, 
gifts and hospitality, and an explanation of the Whistleblowing Policy, although this should be explained in more 
detail by the Line Manager.

For employees involved in internal control systems, the importance of adhering to authorised procedures, 
particularly in relation to separation of duties is stressed.

Page - 160



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 12

Annex 1:  Seven Principles of Public Life 
as formulated by The Nolan Committee (The Committee on Standards in Public Life) 

• Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interestSelflessness

• Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work.  They should not act or take decisions in 
order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends.  They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships

Integrity

• Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and 
on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or biasObjectivity

• Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions 
and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 
ensure thisAccountability

• Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doingOpenness

• Holders of public office should be truthfulHonesty

• Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour.  They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occursLeadership

Page - 161



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 13

Annex 2:  Definitions

Fraud
There are many definitions of fraud but the Serious Fraud Office states that:

Fraud is a type of criminal activity, defined as an abuse of position, or false representation, or 
prejudicing someone’s rights for personal gain. Put simply, fraud is an act of deception intended for 
personal gain or to cause a loss to another party.

The many definitions of fraud all include reference to an act of “deception” and the Fraud Act 2006 (while not 
providing a clear definition of the term fraud) states that, for there to be fraud, the fraudster must intend to ‘make a 
gain for himself or another, or cause loss to another or to expose another to a risk of loss’. The 2006 Act further 
states that this must be conducted in a dishonest way.  (Annex 3 is a summary of The Fraud Act).

Corruption
Corruption also has a number of definitions. Transparency International states that corruption is ‘the abuse of 
entrusted power for private gain’.

Bribery
The Bribery Act 2010: Quick Start Guide (Ministry of Justice) defines bribery as ‘giving someone a financial or other 
advantage to encourage that person to perform their functions or activities improperly or to reward that person for 
having already done so. So this could cover seeking to influence a decision-maker by giving some kind of extra 
benefit to that decision maker rather than by what can legitimately be offered as part of a tender process’.  (Annex 4 
is a summary of The Bribery Act).

Page - 162



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 14

Annex 3:  Summary of The Fraud Act 2006
There are a number of other areas that are not included within this summary.  This summary focuses on those issues 
that are more likely to affect fraud within the public sector.

Section 1 – Fraud
A person is guilty of fraud if he/she is in breach of any of the Sections listed in subsection (2) which provide for 
different ways of committing the offence.

The Sections are:

• Section 2 – Fraud by false representation
• Section 3 – Fraud by failing to disclose information
• Section 4 – Fraud by abuse of position
• Section 7 – Making or supplying articles for use in fraud

Maximum penalty is imprisonment for a term up to 10 years. 

Section 2 – Fraud by false representation
A person is in breach of this Section if he/she:

• Dishonestly makes a false representation; and
• Intends, by making the representation to make a gain for himself or another, or to cause loss to another or to 

expose another to a risk of loss

Explanatory notes:
• Note a gain need not have taken place, intent suffices
• ‘Gain’ includes keeping what one has, as well as a gain by getting what one does not have
• ‘Loss’ means not getting what one might get, as well as losing something that one has
• Importantly the loss can be permanent or temporary (previously the onus was on intention to permanently 

deprive)

A representation is false if:
• It is untrue or misleading; and
• The person making it knows that it is, or might be, untrue or misleading
• The term ‘representation’ is defined under s.2 (3) of the Act as any representation as to fact or law, including a 

representation as to the state of mind of the person making it, or any other person

Subsection (4) states the representation may be expressed or implied.

Subsection (5) states a representation may be regarded as made if it (or anything implying it) is submitted in any 
form to any system or device designed to receive, convey or respond to communications (with or without human 
intervention).  

Section 3 – Fraud by failing to disclose information
A person is in breach of this Section if he/she:

• Dishonestly fails to disclose to another person information which he is under a legal duty to disclose; and
• Intends, by failing to disclose the information, to make a gain for himself or another, or to cause loss to another 

or to expose another to a risk of loss

Page - 163



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 15

Explanatory notes:
This section applies to all parties where a person is under a duty to disclose something and by not doing so could 
create some gain or where the failure to disclose causes a loss or puts another at a risk of a loss.

Section 4 – Fraud by abuse of position
A person is in breach of this Section if he/she:

• Occupies a position, in which he is expected to safeguard, or not act against, the financial interests of another 
person

• Dishonestly abuses that position; and
• Intends, by means of the abuse of that position to make a gain for himself or another, or to cause loss to another 

or expose another to a risk of loss

Explanatory notes:
S.4 (2) A person may be regarded a having abused his position even though his conduct consisted of an omission 
rather than an act.  This offence focuses on those persons who are in positions of financial trust and have insight and 
possibly control of another’s financial situation. There will be some form of relationship or agreement between both 
parties for the offence to operate:  the relationship can be one of client, employee, family, trustee and beneficiary or 
simple trust. Although the offence focuses on the area of finance of the victim, it appears by the wording of the 
section that the actual gain to the offender may not be monetary, although it invariably will be.

Section 7 – Making or supplying articles* for use in frauds
Under section (1) a person is guilty of an offence if he makes, adapts, supplies or offers to supply any article:

• Knowing that it is designed or adapted for use in the course of or in connection with fraud or
• Intending it to be used to commit, assist in the commission of, fraud.

*An article includes any program or data held in electronic form, and can also include anything that can be used to 
make, alter, remove, supply or store something by electronic means in connection with fraud.

Page - 164



Counter Fraud Strategy – Page 16

Annex 4:  Summary of The Bribery Act 2010

Corruption
Where someone is influenced by bribery, payment or benefit-in-kind to unreasonably use their position to give some 
advantage to another.

Irregularity
An irregularity may be any significant matter or issue, other than fraud or corruption, which may warrant 
consideration or investigation.  An example of an irregularity may be where a member of staff makes a genuine error 
or mistake in the course of their duties/responsibilities but where this error or mistake is subsequently hidden 
perhaps to the on-going detriment of the Council.   Additionally, an irregularity may involve consideration of the 
possible inappropriate use of the Council funds or assets which may or may not constitute fraud, theft or corruption.

Bribery
The Bribery Act 2010 reforms the criminal law to provide a new, modern and comprehensive scheme of bribery 
offences that will enable courts and prosecutors to respond more effectively to bribery at home or abroad.  The 
Bribery Act will apply to all organisations based or operating in the UK.  The Act covers all forms of bribery, directly 
or indirectly, whether or not it involves a public official in the UK or abroad.  There are offences for individuals and a 
corporate offence for organisations and partnerships.  Penalties for non-compliance are serious.  In the past bribery 
has been viewed within the definition given above for corruption.

The Bribery Act introduces four main offences:
Note – A ‘financial’ or ‘other advantage’ may include money, assets, gifts, hospitality or services.

1. Offences of bribing another person – A person is guilty of an offence if he/she offers, promises or gives a 
financial or other advantage to another person.

2. Offences relating to being bribed – A person is guilty of an offence if he/she requests, agrees to receive or 
accepts a financial or other advantage.  It does not matter whether the recipient of the bribe receives it directly 
or through a third party, or whether it is for the recipient's ultimate advantage or not.

3. Bribery of a foreign public official – A person who bribes a foreign public official is guilty of an offence if the 
person’s intention is to influence the foreign public official in their capacity, duty or role as a foreign public 
official.

4. Failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery – Organisations, which includes Local Authorities, must 
have adequate procedures in place to prevent bribery in relation to the obtaining or retaining of business. 

Further information may be obtained from the internet under ‘Bribery Act 2010’.   To protect yourself and the 
Council, any Council Officer who is offered a bribe by way of money, assets, gifts, hospitality or services must advise 
their line manager immediately.  All gifts and hospitality must be declared and registered. 

Abuse of position for personal gain 
Defined as: “making, contributing to or influencing a decision of the authority to take or to avoid any action, when 
such a course is motivated by improper consideration of financial or other advantage for the individual concerned or 
for any other person.”

Page - 165



Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF: CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER

REPORT NO: CFM366

DATE:    24 March 2016

TITLE: Financial Regulations

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

Council Decision

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Terl Bryant
Resources Executive Member
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Corporate Governance Executive Member

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Roberts
Management Accountant Team Leader
c.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: (01476) 406203

INITIAL IMPACT
ASSESSMENT:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below:

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and 
Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1. RECOMMENDATION

Governance & Audit Committee is requested to recommended to Council the  approval 
of the updated Financial Regulations  and there inclusion into the Council’s 
Constitution.

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The purpose of this report is to recommend the updated changes to the Councils 
Financial Regulations following the Committee’s review. 

Page - 166

Agenda Item 14

mailto:c.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

Background

The Council’s Financial Regulations set out the overarching framework of rules for the 
proper financial administration of the authority and the responsibilities of those carrying 
out duties with a financial implication.  The Financial Regulations have been reviewed 
to ensure they are in line with best practice and the latest CIPFA guidance. 

Financial Regulations

The Financial Regulations have been reviewed and updated in line with the CIPFA 
Good Practice Guide and are attached as Appendix A. An integral part of this review 
has been to benchmark our regulations with other district councils and an internal 
survey of key users of the regulations has also been undertaken. Taking this 
information into account, the current Financial Regulations have been updated and 
some minor amendments required. 

Proposed Changes

The proposed changes to the Financial Regulations are outlined below;

 Amendments to reflect the current management structure of the Council 
following the Corporate Re-Design programme and the re-designation of 
officers and members

 An increase to the authorisation limit for Team Leaders, further detail on 
proposed limits are provided later in this report

 An increase to the budget virement (transfer of budget) limits for Business 
Managers, Executive Managers and Strategic Directors.  Further detail is given 
later in Appendix B

 New levels with respect to Executive Member authorisation levels
 Inclusion of a reference to the procedure for compensation payments following 

a recent Internal Audit in this area detailed later in this report
 An updated layout of the regulations to ensure they are clear and easy to 

understand for users

Compensation Payments

A paragraph has been included under Financial Regulation D: Systems and 
Procedures in respect of compensation payments (D.11). An internal audit in 2015/16 
recommended the inclusion of this to ensure there is a clear and concise approach 
adopted by the Council and that all potential claims and payments must be referred to 
the Governance and Risk Officer before payments are agreed.

Page - 167



Page 3 

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

This report has no direct impact on the Council’s resources, including finance/budget, 
people, land/property etc.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION (INCLUDING HEALTH AND SAFETY AND DATA
         QUALITY)

None

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

These are contained within the report.

10. COMMENT OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
 
Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs.  They 
apply to every member and officer of the Council and anyone in the private or public sector 
that acts on its behalf.

Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 the designated officer shall make 
arrangements for the proper administration of the authorities’ financial affairs. Those 
arrangements include the making and review of Financial Regulations.

The Governance and Audit Committee are required to review the Regulations and make 
recommendations to Council for changes proposed. It is a requirement that the Regulations 
are contained in the Council’s Constitution.

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICE MANAGER

None

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – Financial Regulations
Appendix B – Summary of proposed delegated/authorised limits

Page - 168



 1

your council working for you

South Kesteven District Council
Stamford • Grantham • Bourne • The Deepings

 DRAFT
Financial  

Regulations

Page - 169



2 

3 4
2

18
Index
Financial Regulations
Financial Management Responsibilities
Financial Planning
Risk Management and Control of Resources
Financial Systems and Procedures
External Arrangements

7Financial Regulations

Page - 170



 3

Financial Regulations

1.1 The purpose of these Financial Regulations is to set out the framework of rules for the proper 
financial administration of the authority and the responsibilities of those carrying out duties with a 
financial implication. Councillors, employees and outside consultants engaged by the council are 
required to comply with these Financial Regulations.

1.2 Where appropriate, Financial Regulations and other financial instructions must be read in 
conjunction with Contract Procedure Rules.

1.3 Where appropriate, Financial Regulations covering Strategic Directors, Executive Managers  and 
Business Managers shall include team leaders, officers and cost centre managers in their services 
authorised by them to undertake duties. A list of Strategic Directors, Executive Managers and 
Business Managers is retained in Financial Services.

1.4 References to the s151 Officer shall include those officers of Financial Services authorised by the s151 
Officer to undertake specific duties.

1.5 Financial Regulations shall be reviewed from time to time by the s151 Officer who shall 
recommend to the Governance & Audit Committee and Council any amendment which he or she 
considers necessary.  Questions regarding the interpretation of these Financial Regulations shall 
be referred to the s151 Officer or in his/her absence the Deputy s151 Officer.

1.6 These Regulations are supported by Guidance Notes which provide details of the underlying 
processes for the implementation of the Regulations. The Guidance Notes covers the following areas:

1. Introduction

8
53

Section 1: Financial Management 
Financial Management Standards
Managing Expenditure
Accounting Policies, Records and Returns
The Annual Statement of Accounts

Section 2: Financial Planning
Financial Planning & Performance Plans
Budgets and Medium-Term Planning
Capital Programmes
Maintenance of Reserves

Section 3: Risk Management and  
Internal Control
Risk Management and Internal 
Control Audit 
Preventing Fraud and Corruption

Assets & Asset Disposal
Intellectual Property
Leasing
Treasury Management
Staffing

Section 4: Financial Systems and Procedures
Financial Systems and Procedures
Income and Expenditure
Payments to Employees and Members
Taxation
Trading Accounts and Business Units

Section 5: External Arrangements
Partnerships, External Funding & Work 
for Third Parties

Page - 171



4 

Financial Regulations

 INTRODUCTION
A.1 Financial management covers all financial 

accountabilities in relation to the running of the 
authority, including the policy framework and 
budget process.

 THE COUNCIL
A.2 The Council is responsible for adopting the 

authority’s constitution and members’ code of 
conduct and for approving the policy framework 
and budget within which the Executive 
operates. It is also responsible for approving 
and monitoring compliance with the authority’s 
overall framework of accountability and control. 
The framework is set out in the constitution. 
The Council is also responsible for monitoring 
compliance with the agreed policy and related 
Executive decisions.

A.3 The Council is responsible for approving 
procedures for recording and reporting 
decisions taken. This includes those key 
decisions delegated by and decisions 
taken by the Council and the Executive.  
These delegations and the allocations of 
responsibilities for decision making are set out 
in the constitution.

 THE EXECUTIVE
A.4 The Executive is responsible for proposing the 

policy framework and budget to the Council, 
and for discharging Executive functions in 
accordance with the policy framework and 
budget.

A.5 Executive decisions can be delegated to a 
committee of the Executive, an individual 
Executive member, an officer, joint 

arrangements or a combination of these.

 POLICY DEVELOPMENT  
GROUPS (PDG’S)

A.6 The PDG’s will meet in public and private to 
make recommendations to the Executive and 
Council on the development of policies.

 COMMITTEES OF THE EXECUTIVE

 Scrutiny Committee
A.7 The Scrutiny Committee meets in public 

(except in the case of an exempt item) to 
review and scrutinise the performance of the 
Council and can also hold the Executive to 
account for its actions.  It has a key role in 
considering other matters of local concern.

 Governance and Audit Committee
A.8 The Governance and Audit Committee is 

a committee of the Council and reports to 
the Council.  The committee oversees the 
assurance arrangements in place in respect of 
the Authority’s system of governance, internal 
control and risk management.  It has right 
of access to all the information it considers 
necessary and can consult directly with internal 
and external auditors.  The committee is 
responsible for reviewing the external auditor’s 
reports, the annual audit letter, internal audit’s 
annual report and for approval of the annual 
accounts.

2. Financial Regulation A:
 Financial Management

031

Page - 172



 5

Financial Regulations

 Other Regulatory Committees
A.10 Planning, conservation and licensing 

are not Executive functions but are 
exercised through the politically balanced 
Development Control and Licensing 
Committee under powers delegated by 
Council.

 Independent Remuneration Panel
A.11 This panel provides independent advice 

on the members’ allowances scheme and 
pensionable remuneration for members.

 THE STATUTORY OFFICERS

 Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)
A.12 The Head of Paid Service is responsible 

for the corporate and overall strategic 
management of the authority as a whole.  
He/she must report to and provide 
information for the Executive, the Council, 
the Scrutiny Committee, Policy Development 
Groups and other committees.  He/she is 
responsible for establishing a framework for 
management direction, style and standards 
and for monitoring the performance of the 
organisation.  The Head of Paid Service 
is also responsible, together with the 
Monitoring Officer, for the system of record 
keeping in relation to all the council’s 
decisions.

 The Monitoring Officer
A.13 The Monitoring Officer is responsible 

for promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct.  The Monitoring 
Officer is responsible for reporting any 
actual or potential breaches of the law 
or maladministration to the Council and/

or to the Executive, and for ensuring that 
procedures for recording and reporting key 
decisions are operating effectively.

A.14 The Monitoring Officer must ensure that 
Executive decisions and the reasons for 
them are made public.  He or she must also 
ensure that council members are aware of 
decisions made by the Executive and of 
those made by officers who have delegated 
Executive responsibility.

A.15 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for 
advising all councillors and officers about 
who has authority to take a particular 
decision.

A.16 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for 
advising the Executive and/or Council about 
whether a decision is likely to be considered 
contrary or not wholly in accordance with the 
policy framework.

A.17 The Monitoring Officer (together with the 
s151 Officer) is responsible for advising the 
Executive and/or Council about whether a 
decision is likely to be considered contrary 
or not wholly in accordance with the budget.  

 Actions that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ 
include:
• Initiating a new policy
• Committing expenditure in future years 

above the budget level
• Incurring interdepartmental transfers 

above virement limits
• Causing the total expenditure 

financed from council tax, grants and 
corporately held reserves to increase,  

38 7

Page - 173



6 

Financial Regulations

or to increase by more than a specified
amount.

A.18 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for 
maintaining an up to date constitution.

 Strategic Director - Corporate Focus
A.19 The s151 Officer (also referred to in 

statute as the Chief Finance Officer) has 
statutory duties in relation to the financial 
administration and stewardship of the 
authority.  The Deputy s151 Officer is the 
Corporate Finance Manager. This statutory 
responsibility cannot be overridden.  The 
statutory duties arise from:

• Section 151 of the Local  
Government Act 1972

• The Local Government Finance Act 1988
• The Local Government and  

Housing Act 1989
• Local Government Finance Act 1992
• Local Government Act 2000 
• The Local Government Act 2003
• The Accounts and Audit  

Regulations 2011 

A.20 The s151 Officer is responsible for:
• The proper administration of the 

authority’s financial affairs
• Ensuring financial stewardship on behalf 

of the community
• Setting and monitoring compliance with 

financial management standards
• Advising on the corporate financial 

position and on the key financial controls 
necessary to secure sound financial 
management

• Contributing to corporate management 
and leadership

• Providing financial advice and 
information, and advising whether 

particular decisions are likely to be 
contrary to the policy framework or 
budget

• Promoting and encouraging both a basic 
level of financial awareness amongst all 
councillors and staff and more detailed 
financial training for those with specific 
financial responsibilities

• Leading and managing an effective and 
responsive financial service. On a day 
to day basis, this is discharged by the 
Corporate Finance Manager who is the 
Deputy s151 Officer

• Preparing the revenue budget and capital 
programme

• Reporting, at the time the budget is 
considered and the council tax set, on the 
robustness of the budget estimates and 
the adequacy of financial reserves

• To keep under review during the year 
the finances of the authority, and take 
action if there is evidence that financial 
pressures will result in a budget 
overspend or if there is a shortfall  
in income

• Treasury management

A.21 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 requires the s151 Officer to report 
to the Council, the Executive and external 
auditor if the authority or one of its officers:

• Has made, or is about to make, a 
decision which involved incurring 
unlawful expenditure

• Has taken, or is about to take, an 
unlawful action which has resulted or 
would result in a loss or deficiency to the 
authority

• Is about to make an unlawful entry in the 
authority’s accounts

31 8

Page - 174



 7

Financial Regulations

A.22 Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires:
• The s151 Officer to nominate a properly 

qualified member of staff to deputise 
should he or she be unable to perform 
the duties under section 114 personally. 
This is the Corporate Finance Manager 
who is the Deputy s151 Officer.

• The authority to provide the s151 Officer 
with sufficient staff, accommodation and 
other resources – including legal advice 
where this is necessary – to carry out the 
duties under section 114.

A.23 Part 11 of the Local Government Act 2003 
introduces a requirement for the s151 
Officer to report upon the robustness of 
the estimates made for the purposes of the 
budget and tax setting calculations and the 
adequacy of proposed reserves.

A.24 It is the duty of the s151 Officer in preparing a 
report under Section 114 to consult as far as is 
practicable:

   a) the Chief Executive as the designated head of 
the authority’s paid service under Section 4 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;

   b) the designated Monitoring Officer, under 
Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.

A.25 Where the s151 Officer has made a report 
under Section 114 he/she shall send a copy 
to the person responsible for the audit of 
the authority’s accounts and all members of 
the authority.

A.26 The Council shall hold a meeting within 21 days 
of the report being sent.  In this period up to the 
meeting, all action in respect of the report must 
be suspended until it has been considered.

A.27 To enable these duties to be carried out he/
she shall be a member of or represented on 
any officers’ management team created by the 
Council, where he/she considers issues relating 
to financial implications will be discussed.

A.28 The s151 Officer is responsible for providing 
advice and guidance over all accounting 
and financial operations in whichever 
service they are performed.  He/she is the 
principal financial advisor to the Council, 
Executive and all committees of the Council.  
He/she shall attend or be represented at 
all meetings of the Council and at such 
committees, as he/she considers necessary 
on the grounds that there are matters of 
financial importance likely to be discussed.

A.29 The s151 Officer shall be authorised to 
increase the financial limits/prescribed 
amounts contained within the following 
sections of these procedures by the inflation 
factor deemed most appropriate, subject 
to increases being notified to all Strategic 
Directors, Executive Managers and 
Business Managers.

 Head of Internal Audit
A.30 The Council’s internal audit service is 

outsourced and is, currently, provided by 
RSM.  The role of the Head of Internal 
Audit is provided by RSM as part of this 
arrangement.  Under the CIPFA Code 
of Practice for Internal Audit in Local 
Government 2006, the Head of Internal 
Audit is required to provide annually an 
opinion designed to assist the authority to 
meet its obligations, under Regulation 4 
of the Accounts and Audit Regulations, to 
review at least annually the effectiveness 

4 23

Page - 175



8 

Financial Regulations

of the system of internal control and also to 
assist in producing the Annual Governance 
Statement.

 
 CHIEF OFFICERS
A.31 Strategic Directors, Executive Managers 

and Business Managers are responsible for:
• ensuring that Executive members are 

advised of the financial implications 
of all proposals and that the financial 
implications have been agreed by the 
s151 Officer or his/her Deputy

• signing contracts on behalf of the 
authority (in accordance with standing 
orders – contract procedure rules)

A.32 It is the responsibility of Executive Managers 
and Business Managers to consult with the 
s151 Officer or his/her Deputy and seek 
approval on any matter liable to affect the 
authority’s finances materially, before any 
commitments are incurred.

 OTHER FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITIES

 Virement
A.33 The Council is responsible for agreeing 

procedures for virement of expenditure 
between budget headings.

A.34 Executive Managers and Business Managers 
are responsible for agreeing in-year virements 
within delegated limits, in consultation with the 
s151 Officer or his/her Deputy where required 
and they must notify the s151 Officer or his/
her Deputy of all virements.

  Treatment of Year-End Balances
A.35 The Governance and Audit Committee 

is responsible for agreeing procedures 

for carrying forward material under and 
overspendings on budget headings.

 Accounting Policies
A.36 The s151 Officer is responsible for selecting 

appropriate accounting policies and 
ensuring that they are applied consistently in 
line with relevant codes of practice.

 Accounting Records and Returns
A.37 The s151 Officer is responsible for 

determining the appropriate accounting 
procedures and records for the authority.

A.38 All business areas must use the Council’s 
corporate accounting system for their 
financial management requirements and 
associated corporate procurement.  The 
s151 Officer must be consulted on any 
proposal to develop alternative systems.

 The Annual Statement of Accounts
A.39 The s151 Officer is responsible for ensuring 

that the annual statement of accounts is 
prepared in accordance with the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom. (CIPFA/LASAAC).  The 
Governance and Audit Committee has been 
designated by Council as the appropriate 
Committee responsible for approving the 
annual statement of accounts.

28 61

Page - 176



 9

Financial Regulations

 INTRODUCTION
B.1 The Council is responsible for agreeing the 

authority’s policy framework and budget, 
which will be proposed by the Executive. In 
terms of financial planning, the key  
elements are:

• The Corporate Plan
• The Council’s Priorities
• The Medium Term Financial Strategy

 POLICY FRAMEWORK
B.2 The Council is responsible for approving the 

policy framework and budget.  The policy 
framework is detailed at Article 4 of the 
constitution.

B.3 The Council is also responsible for 
approving procedures for agreeing 
variations to approved budgets, plans and 
strategies forming the policy framework and 
for determining the circumstances in which 
a decision will be deemed to be contrary to 
the budget or policy framework.  Decisions 
should be referred to the Council by the 
Monitoring Officer.

B.4 The Council is responsible for setting the 
level at which the Executive may reallocate 
budget funds from one service to another.  
The Executive is responsible for taking in-
year decisions on resources and priorities in 
order to deliver the budget policy framework 
within the financial limits set by the Council.

 Preparation of the Corporate Plan
B.5 The Head of Paid Service is responsible 

for proposing the corporate plan to the 
Executive for consideration before its 
submission to Council for approval.

 BUDGETING

 Budget Format
B.6 The general format of the budget will be 

approved by the Council having been 
proposed by the Executive on the advice of 
the s151 Officer. The draft budget should 
include allocation to different services and 
projects, proposed taxation levels and 
contingency funds.

 
 Budget Preparation
B.7 The s151 Officer is responsible for ensuring 

that a revenue budget is prepared on an 
annual basis and includes indicative budgets 
for the next two years for consideration 
by the Executive, before submission to 
the Council.  The Council may amend the 
budget or ask the Executive to reconsider it 
before approving it.

B.8 The Executive is responsible for issuing 
guidance on the general content of the 
budget in consultation with the s151 Officer 
as soon as possible following approval by 
the Council.

B.9 It is the responsibility of the Executive 
Managers and Business Managers to 
ensure that budget estimates reflecting the 
priorities of the Council are submitted to the 
Corporate Finance Manager and that these 
estimates are prepared in line with guidance 
issued by the Executive.  The Corporate 
Finance Manager will monitor this process, 
and submit the budgets to the Executive.  
The general format of the budget will include 
items such as:

Financial Regulation B: 
Financial Planning 

346 1

Page - 177



10 

Financial Regulations

• The format of the budget presentation 
(original current year budget and estimate 
budgets for the next three years)

• Impact of the Government’s Spending 
Review and Annual Grant Settlements

• Levels of inflation
• Expenditure growth or reduction
• Guidance on level of increases for fees 

and charges
• Levels of reserves and contingencies
• Proposed taxation levels

 Budget Monitoring and Control
B.10 The s151 Officer is responsible for providing 

appropriate financial information to enable 
budgets to be monitored effectively.  He or 
she must monitor and control expenditure 
against budget allocations and report to 
the Executive on the overall position on a 
regular basis.

B.11 It is the responsibility of Executive Managers 
and Business Managers to control income 
and expenditure within their areas and to 
monitor performance, taking account of 
financial information provided by the s151 
Officer.  They should report on variances 
within their own areas.  They should 
also take any action necessary to avoid 
exceeding their budget allocation and alert 
the s151 Officer to any problems.

 Resource Allocation
B.12 The s151 Officer is responsible for 

developing and maintaining a resource 
allocation process that ensures due 
consideration of the Council’s policy 
framework.

 Preparation of the Capital Programme
B.13 The s151 Officer is responsible for 

ensuring that a 3-5 year capital programme 
is prepared on an annual basis for 
consideration by the Executive before 
submission to the Council.

 Guidelines
B.14 Guidelines on budget preparation are 

issued to members and Strategic Directors, 
Executive Managers and Business 
Managers by the Executive following 
agreement with the s151 Officer.  The 
guidelines will take account of:

• Legal requirements including Section 17 
(Crime and Disorder Act)

• Medium-term planning prospects
• The corporate plan
• Available resources
• Spending pressures
• Public and user consultation
• Relevant government guidelines
• Other internal policy documents
• Cross-cutting issues (where relevant e.g. 

equality issues)

 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES
B.15 It is the responsibility of the s151 Officer to 

advise the Executive and the Council on 
prudent levels of reserves for the authority. 
At the time the budget is prepared the s151 
Officer must prepare a report to Council on 
the robustness of the budget estimates and 
the adequacy of financial reserves.

923

Page - 178



 11

Financial Regulations

C.1 It is essential that robust, integrated 
systems are developed and maintained 
for identifying and evaluating all significant 
operational risks to the authority.  This 
should include the proactive participation 
of all those associated with planning and 
delivering services.

 RISK MANAGEMENT
C.2 The Governance & Audit Committee is 

responsible for approving the authority’s risk 
management policy statement and strategy 
and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk 
management.  The Executive is responsible 
for ensuring that proper insurance exists 
where appropriate.

C.3 The s151 Officer is responsible for 
preparing the authority’s risk management 
policy statement, for promoting it throughout 
the authority and for advising on proper 
insurance cover where appropriate.

 INTERNAL CONTROL
C.4 Internal control refers to the systems 

of control devised by management to 
help ensure the authority’s objectives 
are achieved in a manner that promotes 
economical, efficient and effective use of 
resources and that the authority’s assets 
and interests are safeguarded.

C.5 The s151 Officer is responsible for advising 
on effective systems of internal control.  
These arrangements need to ensure 
compliance with all applicable statutes and 
regulations, and other relevant statements 
of best practice.  They should ensure that 
public funds are properly safeguarded 

and used economically, efficiently, and in 
accordance with the statutory and other 
authorities that govern their use.

C.6 It is the responsibility of Executive Managers 
and Business Managers to establish sound 
arrangements for planning, appraising, 
authorising and controlling their operations 
in order to achieve continuous improvement, 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness and 
for achieving their financial performance 
targets.

 AUDIT REQUIREMENTS
C.7 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

issued by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) require 
every local authority to maintain an 
adequate and effective internal audit.

C.8 The Authority is responsible for appointing 
external auditors to each local. The 
basic duties of the external auditor are 
governed by part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

C.9 The authority may, from time to time, be 
subject to audit, inspection or investigation 
by external bodies such as HM Revenue and 
Customs, who have statutory rights of access.

 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
C.10 The s151 Officer is responsible for the 

development and maintenance of a counter 
fraud, corruption and bribery framework, 
which includes:

• Seven Principles of Public Life
• Whistle-blowing Policy
• Housing Benefit and Council Tax – 

Financial Regulation C:
Risk Management & Control of Resources

41

Page - 179



12 

Financial Regulations

Counter Fraud Policy
• Fraud Response Plan
• Anti-Money Laundering Policy
 In accordance with good practice, 

the framework is regularly reviewed 
and updated prior to approval by the 
Governance & Audit Committee.

 ASSETS
C.11 Business Managers should ensure that 

records and assets are properly maintained 
and securely held.  They should also ensure 
that contingency plans for the security 
of assets and continuity of service are 
developed and are in place in the event 
of disaster or system failure.  Business 
Continuity Plans for each business area are 
regularly reviewed, updated and tested by 
Business Managers, as appropriate.

 TREASURY MANAGEMENT
C.12 The authority has adopted CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities.

C.13 The Council is responsible for approving 
the treasury management policy statement 
setting out the matters detailed in paragraph 
15 of CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Local Authorities.  The 
policy statement is proposed to the Council 
by the Executive.  The s151 Officer has 
delegated responsibility for implementing 
and monitoring the statement.

C.14 All money in the hands of the authority 
is controlled by the officer designated for 
the purposes of Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, referred to in the 
code as the s151 Officer.

C.15 The s151 Officer is responsible for 
reporting to the Executive and the Council 
on an annual basis,  a proposed treasury 

management strategy outlining the expected 
treasury activity for the forthcoming three 
years at, or before the start of each financial 
year.  

 
C.16 All Executive decisions on borrowing, 

investment or financing shall be delegated 
to the s151 Officer, who is required to 
act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities.

C.17 The s151 Officer is responsible for reporting 
to the Governance & Audit Committee in 
each financial year on the activities of the 
treasury management operation and on the 
exercise of his or her delegated treasury 
management powers.

 
 STAFFING
C.18 The Head of Paid Service is responsible for 

providing overall management to staff.  He 
or she is also responsible for ensuring that 
there is proper use of the evaluation, or 
other agreed, systems for determining the 
remuneration of a job.

C.19 Executive Managers and Business 
Managers are responsible for controlling 
total staff numbers by:

• Advising the Executive of the budget 
necessary in any given year to cover 
estimated staffing levels

• Adjusting the staffing to a level that 
can be funded within approved budget 
provision, varying the provision as 
necessary within that constraint in order 
to meet changing operational needs

• The proper use of appointment 
procedures, including the approval of 
staff requisitions and use of the job 
evaluation process where appropriate.

9 32

Page - 180



 13

Financial Regulations

 INTRODUCTION
D.1 Sound systems and procedures are 

essential to an effective framework of 
accountability and control.

 GENERAL
D.2 The s151 Officer is responsible for the 

operation of the authority’s accounting 
systems, the form of accounts and the 
supporting financial records.  Any changes 
made by Executive Managers and Business 
Managers to the existing financial systems 
or the establishment of new systems must 
be approved by the s151 Officer.  Executive 
Managers and Business Managers are 
responsible for the proper operation of financial 
processes in their own business areas.

D.3 Any changes to agreed procedures by 
Executive Managers or Business Managers 
to meet their own specific needs should be 
agreed with the s151 Officer.

D.4 Executive Managers and Business 
Managers should ensure that their staff 
receive relevant financial training which has 
been approved or provided by the s151 
Officer.

D.5 Executive Managers and Business Managers 
must ensure that, where appropriate, manual 
and computer systems are registered in 
accordance with data protection legislation.  
Executive Managers and Business Managers 
must ensure that staff are aware of their 
responsibilities under data protection and 
the freedom of information legislation.  
The Monitoring Officer, as the Council’s 
designated data protection officer, will give 
advice where appropriate.

 INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
D.6 It is the responsibility of the Corporate 

Finance Manager to ensure that a proper 
scheme of delegation has been established 
within each business area and is operating 
effectively.  The scheme of delegation 

should identify staff authorised to act 
on the Business Manager’s behalf, or 
on behalf of the Executive, in respect of 
payments, income collection and placing 
orders, together with the limits of their 
authority.  The Executive is responsible for 
approving procedures for writing off debts 
as part of the overall control framework of 
accountability and control.

 PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND 
MEMBERS

D.7 The s151 Officer is responsible for all 
payments of salaries and wages to all staff, 
including payments for overtime, and for 
payment of allowances to members.

 TAXATION
D.8 The s151 Officer is responsible for advising 

Business Managers, in the light of guidance 
issued by appropriate bodies and relevant 
legislation, as it applies, on all taxation 
issues that affect the authority.

D.9 The s151 Officer is responsible for 
maintaining the authority’s tax records, 
making all tax payments, receiving tax 
credits and submitting tax returns by their 
due date as appropriate.

 TRADING ACCOUNTS/ BUSINESS UNITS
D.10 It is the responsibility of the s151 Officer to 

advise on the establishment and operation 
of trading accounts and business units.

 COMPENSATION PAYMENTS
D.11 Claims for compensation must be submitted 

in writing. It is important to establish 
whether the claim should be handled 
through the insurance process and 
therefore the Governance and Risk Officer 
must be consulted in the first instance. In 
order for a claim to succeed there has to 
be proven legal liability and negligence 
and this must be established before any 
further consideration for compensation is 
undertaken.

Financial Regulation D:
Systems and procedures 85

Page - 181



14 

Financial Regulations

 INTRODUCTION
E.1 The local authority provides a distinctive 

leadership role for the community and 
brings together the contributions of the 
various stakeholders.  It must also act to 
achieve the promotion or improvement of 
the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area.

 PARTNERSHIPS
E.2 The Executive is responsible for approving 

delegations, including frameworks for 
partnerships.  The Executive is the focus for 
forming partnerships with other local public, 
private, voluntary and community sector 
organisations to address local needs.

E.3 The Executive can delegate functions – 
including those relating to partnerships 
– to officers.  These are set out in the 
scheme of delegation that forms part of the 
authority’s constitution.  Where functions 
are delegated, the Executive remains 
accountable for them to the Council.

E.4 The Head of Paid Service (or Officers 
nominated by him/her) represents the 
authority on partnership and external 
bodies, in accordance with the scheme of 
delegation.

E.5 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for 
promoting and maintaining the same high 
standards of conduct with regard to financial 
administration in partnerships that apply 
throughout the authority.

E.6 The s151 Officer must ensure that the 
accounting arrangements to be adopted 

relating to partnerships and joint ventures 
are satisfactory.  He or she must also 
consider the overall corporate governance 
arrangements and legal issues when 
arranging contracts with external bodies.  
He or she must ensure that the risks have 
been fully appraised before agreements are 
entered into with external bodies.

E.7 Executive Managers or Business managers 
are responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
approvals are obtained before any 
negotiations are concluded in relation to 
work with external bodies.

 EXTERNAL FUNDING
E.8 The s151 Officer is responsible for ensuring 

that all funding notified by external bodies 
is received and properly recorded in the 
authority’s accounts.

 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES
E.9 The Executive is responsible for approving 

the contractual arrangements for any work 
for third parties or external bodies.

Financial Regulation E:
External Arrangements

34Page - 182



 15

Financial Regulations3 21

Page - 183



3428 South Kesteven District Council

Finance and Risk Services
Council Offices
St. Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

T. 01476 40 60 80
E. accountancy@southkesteven.gov.uk
W. www.southkesteven.gov.uk

01043RT_2.16

Page - 184



Appendix B

Summary of Proposed Delegated/Authorised Limits

Authorised By Scheme of Virement Write-Offs (Individual 
Debts)

Proposed Authorised 
Limit for Orders & 

Invoices

Proposed Authorised 
Limit for Payroll & 

Expenses
£ £ £ £

Team Leaders
Up to £20,000 Up to £500

Business Managers (or 
Team Leaders where no 
Business Manager)

Up to £50,000 Up to £2,000 £20,001 - £50,000 £501-£2,000

Executive Managers
£50,001 - £150,000 £2,001 - £5,000 £50,001 - £250,000

Strategic Directors/s151 
officer £150,001 - £300,000 £5,001 - £25,000 £250,001 - £500,000

s151 officer (Chief 
Finance Officer) Over £500,000

Over £2,000

Executive
£300,001-£500,000 Over £25,000

Council 
Over £500,000

P
age - 185



Page 1 

REPORT TO GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF:  CORPORATE FINANCE MANAGER  

REPORT NO: CFM364

DATE:    24th March 2016

TITLE: Updating of Contract and Procurement Procedure 
Rules

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

 Council Decision

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Cllr Kelham Cooke 
Executive Member Governance

CONTACT OFFICER: Richard Wyles, Corporate Finance Manager 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476406210

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in 
paragraph (7) below:

N/A

Full impact assessment
Required:

No
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Local Democracy 
link on the Council’s website: www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS

1. RECOMMENDATION

Governance and Audit Committee is asked to recommend to Council the approval of 
the updated Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules (CPPR) and to include them 
in the Council’s constitution.

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The purpose of this report is to recommend the updated changes to the Council’s 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules following the publication of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. This has now been completed following a review of the 
required changes by the Council’s procurement partners, Procurement Lincolnshire. 
The proposed updated CPPR are appended to this report.

Page - 186

Agenda Item 15

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

The Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules set out the regulations which must be 
followed by the Council when it procures goods, services and works.
The rules have 4 primary objectives:

(a) To ensure that the Council obtains value for money and fulfils the duty of achieving 
best value.
(b) To ensure that the Council complies with English law and European law in force in 
England that governs the procurement of goods, services and works.
(c) To establish tendering procedures which when followed should protect
members and officers of the Council from any allegation of acting unfairly or unlawfully 
which may be made in connection with any procurement by the Council of goods, 
services, or works.
(d) To ensure that any risks associated with entering into the contract are assessed as 
part of the procurement process.

The review has been led by Procurement Lincolnshire colleagues and the newly 
adopted rules incorporate both mandatory and proposed discretionary changes to 
reflect both statutory changes and emerging best practice to ensure consistency and 
transparency.

The format of the new rules has been broken down to specific areas to assist users.

These areas include:
A Brief Guide to the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules
Scope of Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules
Section 2 – Common Requirements
Section 3 – Conducting a Purchase or Disposal
Section 4 – Contract and Other Formalities
Section 5 – Contract Management
Section 6 – General (including definitions)

The amendments are categorised between mandatory changes and recommended 
discretionary changes on best practice and local context:

Mandatory

CHANGES Paragraph Number Page Number

Below EU Threshold – removal of Pre-Qualification 
Questionnaire (PQQ)

8.1.2 22

Publication on Contracts Finder if published 
elsewhere

8.1.6 22

Obligation to regard guidance from Crown 
Commercial Service (CCS)

9.2.2 25

Page - 187



Page 3 

Discretionary

CHANGES Paragraph Number Page Number

‘Exemptions’ become ‘Exceptions’ 3.1 7
Requirement to tender and advertise removed for 
below EU threshold procurements. (Use of RFQ’s 
with increased requirements to engage with local 
suppliers)

n/a n/a - removal

Approved lists may be used as an alternative to 
RFQ’s

7.1.1 19

Social Value considerations must be included in 
procurements

5.6 15

New sections on Grant Monies, State Aid, 
Concessions contracts, Governance and Data 
Protection

5.8; 5.9; 5.12; 5.11 16;17;18

Open process, single stage tender must be utilised 
for procurements lower than the EU thresholds

8 21

Clarification of tender documents must be done 
electronically

11.12 27

Presentations by bidders must be avoided during 
the procurement process

11.2 28

Importance of calculating the contract value 
correctly

5.1 9

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

None

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

The approval of the contract and procurement procedure rules has no direct resource 
implications

6. RISK AND MITIGATION

The approval of the updated CPPR will ensure the Council continues to procure its 
good and services within the latest legislative framework.

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

None

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

None

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

There are no specific financial comments arising from this report.

Page - 188



Page 4 

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

The requirement for contract procedure rules was established by s.135 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. The mandatory changes to the CPPR, as 
detailed in the report, are required following the introduction of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 which implement a public contracts EU 
Directive and reforms to make public procurement more accessible to small 
businesses. The discretionary changes are introduced to align the CPPR with those 
changes required by the 2015 Regulations and to clarify the existing CPPR. 

The introduction of the new CPPR must be followed by training for all staff 
involved in procurement and approval for the changes to be made to the 
Constitution.

11.     APPENDICES:

Appendix A – updated draft CPPR

Page - 189



UPDATED DRAFT 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
In association with  

PROCUREMENT LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
CONTRACT AND PROCUREMENT 

PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page - 190



- 1 - 
 

 

CONTENTS 
A Brief Guide to the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules 
 
Section 1 – Scope of Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules 
 
1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 
2. RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3. EXEMPTIONS, COLLABORATIVE AND E-PROCUREMENT ARRANGEMENTS 
 
4. CONTRACTS 
 

Section 2 – Common Requirements 
 
5. STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE 
 
6. RECORDS AND DEBRIEFING APPLICANTS 
 
7. APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 

Section 3 – Conducting a Purchase or Disposal 
 
8. FINANCIAL THRESHOLDS, ASSET DISPOSAL AND APPOINTMENT OF 

CONSULTANTS 
 
9. PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  
 
10. STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA 
 
11. INVITATIONS TO TENDER/QUOTATIONS 
 
12. SHORTLISTING 
 
13. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 
 
14. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST-TENDER NEGOTIATION 
 
15. EVALUATION AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 

Section 4 – Contract and Other Formalities 

 
16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
17. BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 
 
18. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
 

Section 5 – Contract Management 
 
19. MANAGING CONTRACTS 
 
20. RISK ASSESSMENT & CONTINGENCY PLANNING 
 
21. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 
 

Section 6 – General 
 
22. DEFINITIONS 
 
 
 

Page - 191



- 2 - 
 

 

Whenever DEFINED TERMS are used they are in italics, begin 
with a capital letter and are in the Definitions in Section 6. 
 
All costs stated in these Contract and Procurement Procedure 
Rules are exclusive of VAT, staff costs and fees. 
 
 
 

For further advice on Contract and Procurement Procedure 
Rules contact Procurement Lincolnshire 
 
Telephone:   01522 553649 
 
E-mail:    procurement.lincolnshire.co.uk 
 
Website:  www.procurementlincolnshire.co.uk 
 
OR Financial Services South Kesteven District Council  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page - 192

http://www.procurementlincolnshire.co.uk/


- 3 - 
 

A Brief Guide to the Contract And Procurement Procedure 
Rules 
 
These procedure rules inform Officers of the Council‘s mandatory 
requirements and must be followed.  These should be read alongside the 

 Procurement Strategy,  

 Council‘s Code of Conduct relating to Employees, 

 Financial Regulations, 

 All UK and European legislation in force in England from time to time, 

 The Revenue and Capital Budget Book.   
 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules promote good purchasing 
practice, public accountability and deter corruption.  Following the rules is the 
best defence against allegations that a purchase has been made incorrectly or 
fraudulently.  This procedure covers all procurement undertaken on behalf of 
the Council and within a partnership arrangement, regardless of the source of 
funding. 
 
Officers responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules, all other relevant regulations and legislation.  
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules lay down minimum requirements.   
 
For the purposes of these Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, 
where there is a requirement for communication to be in writing, this 
shall be deemed to include e-mail (plus other electronic forms) and fax 
transmissions as well as hard-copy. 
 
You must: 
 Follow the rules set out in these Contract and Procurement Procedure 

Rules if you purchase goods, services or for the carrying out of works; 
 Take all necessary professional procurement, legal and financial advice; 
 Declare any personal financial interest in a contract. Corruption is a 

criminal offence; 
 Conduct any value for money review and appraise the purchasing need; 
 Check whether there is any existing relevant  Corporate Contract or 

Framework Agreements you can make use of before undergoing a 
competitive process; 

 Keep bids confidential; 
 Not negotiate with Economic Operators except if Procedure Rule 14.3 

applies; 
 Complete a written contract or Council order before the supply of goods, 

services or carrying out of works begin; 
 Where appropriate identify a Contract Manager with responsibility for 

ensuring the contract delivers as intended; 
 Keep records of dealings with Economic Operators in accordance with the 

Council‘s document retention policies; 
 Assess each contract afterwards to see how well it met the purchasing 

need and Value for Money requirements. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution the Corporate Finance Manager shall 
have the power to make amendments from time to time to these Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules after consultation with the Head of 
Procurement Lincolnshire, and taking appropriate legal and financial advice.

Page - 193



 

NOTE: This Guide is explanatory only and is not a substitute for reading Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules in full. 

Section 1 – Scope of Contract And Procurement Procedure 
Rules 

 
1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 

1.1 All purchasing or disposal procedures must: 
 Follow the EU procurement principles by being open, fair, transparent 

and proportional; 
 Secure value for money for public money spent; 
 Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity; 
 Ensure fairness in allocating public contracts; 
 Comply with all legal requirements; 
 Ensure that Non-Commercial Considerations do not influence any 

Contracting Decision; 
 Comply with the Council‘s policies; 
 Comply with the Council‘s corporate and departmental aims; 
 Comply with the Council‘s Sustainable Procurement Strategy. 

 
1.1.1 Further: 

 Grant money received must be spent in line with these Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules unless the grant conditions state 
otherwise; 

 The purchase is legitimate, lawful and within the budget and policy 
framework; 

 All goods, services and the carrying out of works are ordered in 
accordance with Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules and all 
other relevant documentation and with all UK and EU binding legal 
requirements; 

 The purchase is authorised by the appropriate person and correctly 
recorded; 

 Goods, services and the carrying out of works received meet the 
requirements of the authorised order; 

 Payments are only made for goods, services and the carrying out of 
works received at the correct price, quantity and quality standards; 

 Authorisation of payments must be carried out in accordance with  any 
schemes of authorisation; 

 The budget holder monitors all expenditure through their budget; 
 Ensure payments are recorded accurately in the Council‘s account on 

a timely basis; 
 Processes are in place to maintain the security and integrity of data for 

transacting business electronically. 
 
Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules must be strictly complied with.  They 
are minimum requirements.  

Page - 194



5 | P a g e  
 

2. RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.1 Specific Executive Manager Responsibilities : 
 

2.1.1 The Executive Managers have responsibility for ensuring that 
procedures for procurement are sound and properly administered 
for their areas of responsibility. 

 
2.1.2 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring all income and 

expenditure is lawful. 
 

2.2 Business Managers responsibilities: 
 

2.2.1 Business Managers are responsible for ensuring that staff are 
aware of their responsibilities under these procedures and receive 
adequate training and guidance. 

  
2.2.2 Business Managers are responsible for consulting with the 

appropriate Executive Manager area and seeking approval on any 
matters liable to affect the Council‘s finances materially. 

 
2.2.3 Business Managers are responsible for establishing the Scheme of 

Delegation for their business area.  The Scheme of Delegation will 
detail where decision making has been delegated to the 
appropriate Executive area and the financial parameters of that 
delegation. 

 
 2.3 Executive Manager responsibilities: 
 

2.3.1 Ensure that their staff comply with these Contract and Procedure 
Rules. 

 
2.3.2 Ensure all Business Managers complete a Contract Register to 

record all approved exemptions and contracts including frameworks 
with a Total Contract Value of £5,000 and above including any 
changes over the contract life e.g. extensions (for the appointment 
of consultants all exceptions and contracts must be recorded on the 
Contracts Register Form no matter of the value) as identified in 
Procedure Rule 2.4.4. 

 
 

2.3.3 Keep a register of: 
 Contracts completed by signature (rather than the Council‘s 

seal – See Procedure Rule 16.6.4) and arrange their 
safekeeping on Council premises. 

Page - 195



6 | P a g e  
 

 Exceptions recorded under Procedure Rule 3.1.  The use of 
exceptions will be monitored by the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 

2.4 Officer responsibilities: 
 

2.4.1 The Officer responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply 
with these Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, and all 
other relevant regulations and with all UK and EU binding legal 
requirements. 

 
2.4.2 The Officer must have regards to the guidance in the Procurement 

Guide and the principles of the Council‘s Sustainable Procurement 
Strategy. 

 
2.4.3 The Officer must check whether a suitable Corporate Contract or 

Framework Agreement exists before seeking to let another 
contract.  Where a suitable Corporate Contract or Framework 
Agreement exists, these must be used unless there is a good 
reason not to and these reasons must be recorded. 

 
2.4.4 The Officer must inform the Business Manager to complete the 

Contract Register Form to record all approved exceptions and 
contracts including framework agreements with a Total Contract 
Value of £5,000 and above including any changes over the contract 
life e.g. extensions.   

   
2.4.5 The Officer must keep the records required by Procedure Rule 6. 
 
2.4.6 Tender procedures must be conducted in accordance with 

procedures set out in the Invitation to Tender. 
 
2.4.7 Officers must also ensure that agents acting on their behalf also 

comply with Contract and Procurement Procedures Rules and all 
other relevant regulations, and with all UK and EU binding legal 
requirements. 

 
2.4.8 Officers must take all necessary professional procurement, legal 

and financial advice. 
 
2.4.9 When an employee, either of the Council or of a Economic 

Operator, may be affected by any transfer arrangements, Officers 
must ensure that the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of 
Employment) (TUPE) issues are considered and obtain Human 
Resources and legal advice before proceeding with inviting 
Tenders or Quotations. 

Page - 196



7 | P a g e  
 

 
3. EXCEPTIONS, COLLABORATIVE AND E-PROCUREMENT 

ARRANGEMENTS 
 

3.1 Exceptions: 
 

3.1.1 Exceptions are subject to the detailed requirements set out in this 
Procedure Rule 3.  Exceptions are provided for in very exceptional 
circumstances where it is necessary because of an unforeseen 
event involving immediate risk to persons, property, and serious 
disruption to Council services or where a Business Manager 
believes an alternative route to normal tendering procedures is 
required.  It is not a substitute for instances where procurement 
planning has not been exercised and Officers find themselves with 
insufficient time to undertake a competitive process. 

 
3.1.2 In these exceptional circumstances a Business Manager must 

complete an exception request form as appended to these 
procedure rules and submit to Legal Services for approval. An 
exception, and the reasons for them under this Procedure Rule 3 
allow a contract to be placed by direct negotiation with one or more 
Economic Operator rather than in accordance with Procedure Rule 
8.  No exceptions can be used if the EU Procurement Directive 
applies. 

 
3.1.3 All exceptions must be recorded on the Contracts Register. 

 
 

3.2 Joint Commissioning: 
 

3.2.1 When the Council jointly commissions services with other public 
sector bodies such as Health Authorities, or other Local Authorities, the 
following procedures shall apply: 
 

 The Authorities concerned will decide which of them is to act as 
the lead authority for the purposes of the particular service that 
is to be commissioned. 

 The procedures for the procurement of services of the lead 
authority shall be followed. 
 

3.2.2 Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other Local        
Authorities or other public bodies e.g. Health Authorities, where a 
competitive process has been followed that complies with their equivalent 
to the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules of the leading 
purchasing organisation (but does not necessarily comply with this 
Council‘s Procedure Rules), will be deemed to comply with these Contract 

Page - 197



8 | P a g e  
 

and Procurement Procedure Rules and no exemption is required.    Advice 
on frameworks should always be sought from your Procurement 
Resource. 

 
3.3 E-Procurement: 
 

3.3.1 The use of e-procurement does not negate the requirements to comply 
with all elements of Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules, 
particularly those relating to competition and Value for Money. 

 
3.3.2 Electronic tendering is the preferred method of carrying out a 

quotation or tender exercise where the total value of the contract 
exceeds £25,000 Electronic tendering should be undertaken by using an 
e tendering suite of documents. To access these document users must 
first log on and register at https://www.delta-esourcing.com. Users should 
familiarise themselves with this system by taking advice from their 
procurement resource. This can be supplemented by using the User 
Guides available on the home page once registration has been completed.    

 
3.3.3 Once documents have been downloaded into an electronic vault officers 

will not be able to access these documents prior to the closing date. 
Officers should ensure that documents are downloaded to a suitable 
electronic repository that is accessible to all evaluators 

 
 

4. CONTRACTS 
 

4.1 All contracts must comply with Contract and Procurement Procedure 
Rules.  A contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the 
Council for the carrying out of works or for the supply of goods or services.  
These include arrangements for: 

 
 The supply or disposal of goods; 
 The hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment; 
 Execution of works; 
 The delivery of services.  

 
4.2 Contracts do not include: 

 
 Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee 

of the authority; 
 Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land 

and/or buildings  or 
 Grant award. 

 
 

Page - 198

https://www.delta-esourcing.com/


9 | P a g e  
 

Section 2 – Common Requirements 

 
5. Steps Prior to Purchase 

5.1  CALCULATING THE ESTIMATED TOTAL CONTRACT VALUE 

5.1.1 Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate 

its Estimated Total Contract Value in accordance with this clause. 

5.1.2 The Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated as follows: 

a) Where the contract period is fixed the Estimated Total Contract Value 
shall be the total estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or 
works to be supplied over the period covered including any extensions to 
the contract; 

b) Where the contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Total Contract 
Value shall be calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly 
value by 48; 

c) For feasibility studies, the Estimated Total Contract Value  to be identified 
within the feasibility study, shall be the value of the scheme or contracts 
which may be awarded as a result; 

d) For the appointment of consultants, the Estimated Total Contract Value 
shall be calculated using the requisite rate for the consultant, multiplied by 
the total duration of the assignment required to complete all of the 
activities and deliverables of the consultant for their entire appointment. 

e) For Concession Contracts (see section 5.12) the Estimated Total Contract 
Value shall be the concessionaire‘s estimated total turnover generated 
over the duration of the contract, in consideration for the works and 
services that are subject to the concession, and supplies incidental to 
such works and services. 

f) When establishing Framework Agreements the Estimated Total Contract 
Value should be a generous estimate of the total throughput expected to 
be placed through the framework in order to provide some additional 
capacity for unexpected requirements. 

g) The Estimated Total Contract Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) 
but must include all other taxes and duties. 

h) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from the 
same or different Contracted Suppliers, must be aggregated over a 
minimum of a 12 month period. 

i) Where the Council may be contributing only part of the total value of a 
contract, it is nevertheless the Estimated Total Contract Value that should 
be applied in determining the correct procedures to be applied under 
these Rules. 

Page - 199



10 | P a g e  
 

5.2 COUNCIL PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS BASED ON THE ESTIMATED TOTAL CONTRACT 

VALUE, AS IDENTIFIED IN SECTION 1, THE TABLE BELOW MAKES PROVISION FOR THE MINIMUM 

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SUBSEQUENT PROCUREMENT EXERCISE.

Page - 200



   
 

 11  
 

5.3 THRESHOLDS 

Contract Value Process Award Procedure 
based on 

Contract 
Publication 

Documentation Selection 

£0 £10,000 Quotation One quotation – direct 

approach to single supplier  

Not required Employee to record 

details 

Local supplier to be 

used where 

appropriate (or reason 

for not using 

recorded) 

Officer 

£10,001 £25,000 Quotation At least three written 

quotations based on a RFQ 

document with appropriate 

T&Cs 

At least one local supplier** 

to be invited 

Not required 
Local supplier to be 

used where 
appropriate (or reason 

for not using 
recorded) 

Where contract is 
below £25,000 a local 

supplier to be used 
where offers value for 
money (or reason for 
not using recorded) 

Officer 

£25,001 EU 

Services 

Threshold 

Quotation At least four written 

quotations based on a RFQ 

document with Appropriate 

T&Cs 

At least two local suppliers** 

to be invited 

Where EU Treaty 

principles require 

advertising, must be 

placed on Source 

Lincolnshire and 

Contract Finder. 

Must be based on a 

written specification 

with appropriate terms 

and conditions 

 

Evaluation Panel (It is advisable 
to include a Finance Officer) 

Officer 

P
age - 201



   
 

 12  
 

Contract Value Process Award Procedure 
based on 

Contract 
Publication 

Documentation Selection 

Above EU 

Services 

Threshold  

(Non-

Works) 

 Formal tender Full tender process OJEU, Source 

Lincolnshire, 

Contracts Finder 

Specialist publication 

if appropriate 

As required by the 

PCRs 2015 and 

detailed in the 

CPPRs. 

Consult with your Procurement 
Resource – See Procedure Rule 

8.1.3 

Evaluation Panel 

EU 

Services 

Threshold 

(For 

Works) 

EU Works 

Threshold 

Quotation At least five tenders based 

on a full ITT document with 

appropriate T&Cs 

At least two local suppliers** 

to be invited 

Where EU Treaty 

principles require 

advertising tenders 

will be sought by 

open competitive 

tendering via public 

advertisement 

(Contracts Finder 

and Source 

Lincolnshire), or a 

framework let in 

accordance with EU 

legal requirements. 

Must be based on a 

written specification with 

appropriate terms and 

conditions 

Where contract is below 

£25,000 a local supplier 

to be used where offers 

value for money (or 

reason for not using 

recorded) 

Consult with your 
Procurement Resource – See 

Procedure Rule 8.1.3 

Evaluation Panel 

Above EU 

Works 

Threshold  

(For 

Works) 

 Formal tender Full tender process OJEU, Source 

Lincolnshire, 

Contracts Finder 

Specialist publication 

if appropriate 

As required by the PCRs 

2015 and detailed in the 

CPPRs. 

Consult with your 
Procurement Resource *** 

Evaluation Panel 

*When procuring in a specialist area where limited suppliers are available, one quotation is acceptable and an exception form must be completed 
**Local suppliers are defined as those whose trading premises are located within Lincolnshire and/or a 20 mile radius of the county of Lincolnshire’s boundary.  
***Where the EU Procurement Directive applies the Officer shall consult the guidance on the EU Public Procurement Rules in the Procurement Guide or   advice 
can be sought from your Procurement Resource to determine the method of conducting the purchase. 

P
age - 202



 

 

5.4 EU PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS 

5.4.1 The relevant EU Thresholds as of 1st January 2016 are given below; 

 

 Supplies Services Works 
Other public 
sector contracting 
authorities 

£ 164,176 
 
€209,000 

£ 164,176 
 
€209,000 

£ 4,104,394 
 
€ 5,225,000 

 

5.4.2 These thresholds can be validated against the current EC Procurement 

Thresholds, which can be found here; 

http://www.ojec.com/threshholds.aspx  

5.4.3 Any procurement where the Estimated Total Contract Value is equal to 

or over £25,000 must be undertaken in accordance with the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015. 

 

5.4.4 In the event that the Estimated Total Contract Value is below the OJEU 

threshold, and a non OJEU tender process is undertaken, and the 

proposed winning Bidders' Total Bid Value exceeds the OJEU 

thresholds, you should consult with your Procurement Resource as to 

the risks associated with awarding the contract. 

 

5.5 STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE 
 

5.5.1 Before beginning a purchase the Officer responsible for it must 

appraise the purchase and confirm certain matters set out in this clause 

5.  The Officer should consider: 

 
 Taking into account the requirements from any relevant Best 

Value  or other review; 
 Appraising the need for the expenditure and its priority e.g. 

has a business case been developed which sets out the 
service objectives, the criteria for evaluation and the options 
for delivery; 

 Defining the objectives of the purchase; 
 Consider the risks associated with the purchase over its life 

and how to manage them; 
 Considering what procurement method is most likely to 

achieve the purchasing objectives, including internal or 
external sourcing, and collaboration with other purchasers; 

 Establish if corporate contracts and/or suitable frameworks 
exist and assess their suitability; 

 Consulting users as appropriate about the proposed 
procurement method, contract standards, and also 
performance and user satisfaction monitoring; and 

Page - 203

http://www.ojec.com/threshholds.aspx


   
 

 - 14 -  
 

 Selecting the most appropriate procurement method. 
 The maturity of the market (local, regional and national) and 

whether the contracting approach is likely to yield enough 
competition; 

 Information Governance requirements / Data Protection. 
 

 
The Officer must confirm that: 
 
 The budget is available in line with the Council‘s policy and 

budget framework; 
 There is member or delegated approval for the expenditure 

and/or award of contract and the purchase accords with the 
approved policy framework and the scheme of authorisation 
as set out in the Constitution; 

 Prior Information Notices where required for the Public 
Contract Regulations 2006, have been placed in the Official 
Journal of the European Union (OJEU) and copied to 
Procurement Lincolnshire. 
 

 
 

5.5.2 Officers shall ensure that where proposed contracts, irrespective of 

their Total Contract Value, may be of interest to potential Applicants 

located in other member states of the EU appropriate accessible 

advertising must take place.  Generally, the greater the interest of the 

contract to such potential Applicants, the wider should be the coverage 

of the advertisement.  Advertisements must always be placed on a 

suitable web based publications e.g. Source Lincolnshire, Contract 

Finder and may also be placed on: 

 
 National official journals; and/or 
 OJEU [Even if there is no requirement within the EU 

Procurement Directive]. 
 
5.5.3  In selecting an Economic Operator, an existing partnership or 
contractual arrangement should be considered as the first option.  For 
example, the Officer must check whether a suitable Corporate Contract or 
Framework Agreement exists before seeking to let another contract.  

5.6.4 If a corporate contract exists or appears to be suitable advice 
should be obtained from Legal support or Lincolnshire 
Procurement.  

5.6.5 Where a suitable Corporate Contract or Framework Agreement 
exists, these must be used unless there is a good reason not to 
and these reasons must be recorded. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page - 204



   
 

 - 15 -  
 

5.6 Social Value 
 

5.6.1 When proposing to procure or making arrangements for procuring    
a service contract where the Estimated Total Contract Value exceeds 
the relevant EU Threshold then consideration must be given as to how 
the Contract might improve the economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of Lincolnshire, as required by the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012.   
 
5.6.2 The authority must consider in the form of a Social Value 
appraisal, whilst recognising the principal of proportionality; 

a) how, what is proposed to be procured, might improve the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of the 
relevant area, and 

b) how, in conducting the process of procurement, it might act 
with a view to securing that improvement. 

c) whether to carry out any consultation in relation to the above 
matters. 

5.7     UTILISING A FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 

5.7.1 The Council encourages the use of Framework Agreements as a 

means to balance the resource burden of procurement activity with the 

need to achieve Value for Money. 

5.7.2 The Procuring Officer responsible for the procurement activity must 

assess the Value for Money offered by the framework prior to its use. 

5.7.3 Contracts based on Framework Agreements must always be 

awarded in accordance with the rules set out within the Framework 

Agreement documentation. This may be either:  

d) By undertaking a 'direct call-off' from the Framework Agreement, 
where the terms are sufficiently precise to cover the particular 
call-off requirements without re-opening competition and a 
contract can be award directly to a framework supplier; or  

e) By holding a 'further competition' in accordance with the rules 
set out in the framework, where the requirements are provided 
to the framework suppliers in the relevant lot of the framework, 
and the framework suppliers provide their responses and price 
in return. 

5.7.4 Procuring Officers must ensure they are fully conversant with the rules, 

stipulations and eligibility of the Council to use the framework, as stated 

within the Framework Agreement. If these rules are not sufficiently 

detailed for the Procuring Officer to be assured of the eligibility and 

requisite process, the Procuring Officer must engage with their 

Procurement Resource to seek advice on the validity of the Framework 

Agreement. 

Page - 205



   
 

 - 16 -  
 

5.7.5 Unless otherwise specified in the rules and stipulations of the 

Framework Agreement, Procuring Officers must follow the award 

procedures set out in sections15.3 and 15.4, whilst ensuring 

compliance with the framework rules identified within regulation 5.7.4. 

5.8 PROCURING WITH EXTERNAL GRANT MONIES 

5.8.1 Procuring contracts using external grant monies can bring about 

additional risks to the authority due to additional regulatory 

requirements in the way the money is controlled and additional scrutiny 

that the procurement process may receive. 

5.8.2 It is therefore mandatory for the Procuring Officer leading the 

procurement to ensure they are fully conversant with all of the 

requirements of the relevant funding bodies, and identify any risks in a 

pre-procurement risk register. 

5.8.3 Procuring Officers must ensure that they engage, in advance of 

undertaking a procurement activity, with their relevant Procurement 

Resource providing full access to any relevant additional guidance. 

NOTE: Specifically for ERDF funding, Procuring Officers must appraise 

the intended procurement activity against the ERDF published 

'common mistakes' guidance prior to initiating any procurement activity 

to ensure all of the common mistakes are avoided. 

5.9  STATE AID 

5.9.1 State aid is any advantage granted by public authorities through state 

resources on a selective basis to any organisations that could 

potentially distort competition and trade in the European Union (EU). 

5.9.2 The definition of state aid is very broad because ‗an advantage‘ can 

take many forms. It is anything which an undertaking (an organisation 

engaged in economic activity) could not get on the open market. 

5.9.3 State aid rules can (among other things) apply to the following: 

 grants 

 loans 

 guarantees 

 tax breaks 

 the use or sale of a state asset for free or at less than market price 

The rules can apply to funding given to charities, public authorities and 
other non-profit making bodies where they are involved in contract and 
procurement activities. 

5.9.4 Prior to undertaking any tender the Procuring Officer must assess 

whether there are any state aid implications. 

Page - 206



   
 

 - 17 -  
 

5.9.5 Where any state aid implications are found, e.g. grants, property, or 

services have been made available to Economic Operators, the 

Procuring Officer must seek advice from their Legal Support before 

continuing with the procurement. 

5.10  APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS 

5.10.1 The following procedure applies where, because of the specialist 

nature of the services required, it is believed to be necessary to appoint 

a Consultant to provide the services to the Council. 

5.10.2 The Procuring Officer must not engage with any agencies to secure 

CVs, without prior engagement with the Commercial Team, and without 

a full understanding of the agency terms and conditions.  

NOTE: Some agencies require you to accept their terms and conditions 

prior to receipt of CVs. These terms and conditions may include 

clauses regarding ‗introductory fees‘ which may be payable even if no 

appointment is made. These fees are often substantial and pose 

significant financial risk to the authority. 

5.10.3 The Procuring Officer must submit a report to the appropriate 

Executive Manager setting out:  
 

a) The nature of the services for which the appointment of a 
Consultant is required;  

b) The Estimated Total Contract Value of the services;  
c) The reason why a Consultant should be appointed  

5.10.4 If the Executive Manager is of the opinion that in the interest of Best 

Value it is necessary to secure the appointment of a Consultant to 

provide those services they shall record that opinion in writing and 

authorise the Procuring Officer to engage a Consultant using an 

established Corporate Contract or Framework Agreement (including 

ESPO) or where the nature of the services required are so specialist 

and no suitable Corporate Contract or Framework Agreement is in 

place a formal RFQ or tendering process will follow receipt and 

evaluation of the business case proposals.  

5.10.5 If the request is approved the Procuring Officer must then comply with 

the procedural requirements based upon the Estimated Total Contract 

Value. 

5.11   INFORMATION GOVERNANCE AND DATA PROTECTION 

5.11.1 Procuring Officers must consider the information governance 

requirements of the contract if they anticipate any Personal Data is to 

be processed as part of the contract e.g. data protection, security of 

information, records management. 

Page - 207



   
 

 - 18 -  
 

5.11.2 Where Personal Data may be processed as part of the contract 

Procuring Officers must seek further advice from their Information 

Governance resource and your Legal Support. 

5.11.3 Where Personal Data may be processed as part of the contract, a 

Privacy Impact Assessment tool must be completed. This will help the 

Council identify the most effective way to comply with their data 

protection obligations, and meet individuals' expectations of privacy. 

5.11.4 Where requirements are identified by the Privacy Impact Assessment, 

Procuring Officers must ensure that any requirements are considered 

and built into the specification, and assessed where necessary as part 

of the evaluation. 

5.12    CONCESSIONS CONTRACTS 
A concession contract is an agreement between the Council and an 
 Economic Operator (mostly private companies) where the Economic 
 Operator is given the right to exploit works or services provided for their 
own gain. Economic Operators can either receive consideration for their 
services solely through third party sources, or partly through 
consideration from the Council, along with income received from third 
parties. 
There are two types of concessions contracts: works concessions and 
service concessions. In a works concession, the Economic Operator 
operates, maintains and carries out the development of infrastructure. 
In a service concession, the Economic Operator provides services of 
general economic interest. 
NOTE: A simple example may be where the Council would allow an 
Economic Operator to operate a café on a Council site, using Council 
owned assets, but where the Economic Operators carries the 
commercial risk in terms of profit and loss and the Council does not pay 
the Economic Operator to run the service. 

5.12.1 Where the Procuring Officer is planning a contract which may be a 
concession contract, they must seek advice from both their 
Procurement Resource and their Legal Support. 

 
 
 
 

6. RECORDS AND DEBRIEFING APPLICANTS 
 

6.1 Where the Total Contract Value is between £5,000 and £25,000, 
the following documents must be kept in accordance with the 
retention policy: 

 
 Requests for quotes and the Quotations; 
 A record 

o of any exemptions under Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rule 3.and reasons for it; 

o of the reason if the lowest price is not accepted; 

Page - 208



   
 

 - 19 -  
 

 Written records of communications with the successful 
Economic Operator or an electronic record if a written record 
of the transaction would normally not be produced. 

 
6.2 Where the Total Contract Value exceeds £25,000 and is below 

£75,000, the Officer must record: 
 

 The method for obtaining quotes (see Procedure Rule 8.1); 
 Any Contracting Decision and the reasons for it; 
 Any exemption under Contract and Procurement Procedure 

Rule 3.1 together with the reasons for it; 
 The Award Criteria in descending order of importance; 
 Quotation documents sent to and received from Applicants 
 Pre-quotation market research; 
 Clarification and post-quotation negotiation (to include 

minutes of meetings); 
 The contract documents; 
 Post-contract evaluation and monitoring; 
 Written records of communications with Applicants and with 

the successful Economic Operator throughout the period of 
the contract. 

 
6.3 Written records required by Contract and Procurement 

Procedure Rule 6.2 that do not have the Council‘s Common 
Seal must be kept in line with the Council‘s Retention Policy. 

 
6.4 Where the Total Contract Value exceeds £75,000 and that has 

the Council‘s Common Seal it must be kept in line with the 
Council‘s Retention Policy. 
 

6.5 In respect of all contracts, irrespective of value Tenderers must 
be notified simultaneously or as soon as possible of any 
Contracting Decision.  The notification must be in writing where 
the Total Contract Value exceeds £25,000.  If a Tenderer 
requests in writing the reasons for a Contracting Decision, the 
Officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of the 
request (see further Procedure Rule 15.3). 

 
 

7. APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 

7.1 Approved Lists:   
 
7.1.1  Approved Lists may be used to select Economic Operators as an 

alternative to RFQ‘s. Approved lists should be used where recurrent 
transactions of a similar type are likely but where such transactions 
need to be priced individually and cannot easily be aggregated and 
proceed in a single tendering exercise.   Approved Lists cannot be 
used where the EU Procurement Directive applies. 

 

Page - 209



   
 

 - 20 -  
 

7.1.2 No person may be entered on an Approved List until  there has been 
an adequate investigation into both their financial and technical ability 
to perform the contract. 
 

7.1.3  Approved lists shall be draw up in consultation with Procurement 
Resource approved list of Economic Operators ready to perform 
contracts to supply goods or services, on the basis of agreed contract 
terms and must be drawn up after advertisement inviting applications 
for inclusion on the list. The advertisement must be placed to secure 
widest publicity among relevant Economic Operators. 

 
 
7.1.4 The list and shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually. and 

re-advertised at least every three years.  For clarification review 
means: 

 The reassessment of the financial, technical ability 
and performance of those Economic Operators on the 
list unless such matters will be investigated each time 
bids are invited from that list, and  

 The deletion of those Economic Operators no longer 
qualified, with a written record kept justifying the 
deletion. 

 The entry of new Economic Operators who request 
and qualify for inclusion 

 
On re-advertisement, a copy of the advertisement must be sent to 
each Economic Operator on the list, inviting them to reapply. 

 
7.1.5 All Approved Lists shall be maintained in an open, fair and transparent 

manner and must be open to public inspection. 
 

7.1.6 Lists maintained by third parties e.g. Constructionline, the New 
Qualification System (NQS), EXOR or any list  maintained in 
substitution of the NQS will be  deemed  to be an 
Approved List for the purpose of these  Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules and shall not  be subject to the 
requirements of Regulation 7.1.2 and  7.1.5 inclusive 
 

7.2 Framework Agreements: 
 
7.2.1  Where a contract is to be awarded based on a Framework 

Agreement let by an external Contracting Authority., the Officer 
should ensure that the Framework Agreement is fit for purpose. 
Prior to making the award, the Officer should ensure that the 
Framework Agreement is fit for purpose by: 

a) Confirming that the Framework Agreement is available 
for use by the Contracting Authority  

b) Clarifying that the end date is appropriate. 
c) Understanding whether a call off is applicable or 

whether a mini competition is required. 

Page - 210



   
 

 - 21 -  
 

d) Demonstrating that value for money will be achieved 
by utilising the Framework Agreement 

 
7.2.2  The term of Framework Agreements (including any extension 

period) should not exceed 4 years, except in cases duly justified 
by Contracting Authorities and where an EU Procurement 
Directive applies and was included in the contract notice. 
 

7.2.3 A Framework Agreement may be awarded to either a single 
Economic Operator, or three or more.  Contracts based on 
Framework Agreements may be awarded either: 
 

 By applying the terms laid down in the Framework 
Agreements (where such terms are sufficiently precise 
to cover the particular call-off) without reopening 
competition; or 

 Where the terms laid down in the Framework 
Agreements are not precise enough or complete for 
the particular call-off, by holding a mini competition in 
accordance with the following procedures: 

a) Inviting the Economic Operators within the Framework 
Agreements who are capable of executing the subject 
of the contract to submit written Tenders. 

b) Fixing a time limit, which is sufficiently long, to allow 
Tenders for each specific contract to be submitted, 
taking into account factors such as the complexity of 
the subject of the contract. 

c) Tenders shall be submitted in writing via an electronic 
vault, and their content shall remain confidential until 
the stipulated time limit for reply has expired. 

d) Contracting Authorities shall award each contract to 
the Tenderer who has submitted the best Tender on 
the basis of the award criteria set out in the 
specifications of the Framework Agreement. 

 
 

Section 3 – Conducting a Purchase  
 
8. FINANCIAL THRESHOLDS 
  
 If a tender process is undertaken for procurements estimated to be 

lower than the EU threshold for services, the tender process must be 
modelled on an Open process (as defined by the Public Contrcat 
Regulations 2015). This means a single stage tender (i.e. no PQQ 
stage) where all bidders are required to submit a full tender response, 
and Procuring Officers must evaluate all compliant submissions. 

 
The following procedures apply where there are no other procedures, 
which take precedence.  If in doubt, Officers must seek the advice of 
their Procurement Resource. 

 

Page - 211



   
 

 - 22 -  
 

8.1 PUBLIC CONTRACT REGULATION REQUIREMENTS 
These procedures stem from the European Procurement Directive 2014 which 
the UK government chose to transpose earlier than many other EU member 
states. In addition to this the UK chose to introduce brand new measures in 
the PCR 2015 to regulate procurements below the OJEU Services threshold. 

8.1.1 These regulations apply for contracts with an Estimated Total Contract 

Value between £25,000 and the EU Threshold for Services (see section 5.4). 

You must not sub-divide procurement to get around the regulations.   

8.1.2 Procuring Officers must not include Pre-Qualification Questionnaires 

(PQQ), or any assessment of bidders within the procurement process, for the 

purpose of reducing the number of candidates invited to bid for the contract 

(i.e. shortlisting).  

8.1.3 Procuring Officers may ask Suitability assessment questions but only 

where they are relevant to the contract's subject matter and proportionate.  

For example, you should not set a £20m public liability insurance level unless 

the risk of harm to the public was exceptionally high. 

8.1.4 In order to manage the resource implications of not being able to 

shortlist, and to support the local economy, Procuring Officers should not 

advertise procurements identified in the value thresholds of section 0. Rather 

Procuring Officers should contact the requisite number of Economic Operators 

directly to bid, as identified within the Council procurement thresholds – 

section 2 parg 5.3Error! Reference source not found. 

8.1.5 In the interest of achieving Value for Money a Chief Officer may decide 

to accept the risks for a particular procurement, and authorise the advertising 

of a particular activity. In this case the following rules must be observed; 

8.1.6 If contracts are advertised anywhere they must also be advertised on 

'contracts finder' within 24 hours of the original advert. Advertising constitutes: 

a) Anything to put the opportunity in the public domain generally   
(for example issuing an annual PIN) 

b) Anything to bring the opportunity to the attention of Economic 
Operators generally (e.g. trade magazines, websites, Source 
Lincolnshire) 

Making the opportunity available to a select number of Economic 

Operators does not constitute advertising. (e.g. contacting 3 economic 

operators directly / standing lists / frameworks)  

8.1.7 Procuring Officers must ensure that all procurement documents are 

available electronically. If the procurement opportunity is advertised a URL to 

the documentation must be included within the advert. 

8.1.8 Unless it would impede law enforcement, is contrary to the public 

interest, would prejudice the legitimate commercial interests of the Bidder or 

would prejudice fair competition, Procuring Officers must publish an award 

notice on Contracts Finder, to include: 

Page - 212



   
 

 - 23 -  
 

a) The name of the successful Bidder 
b) The date of award / when the contract was entered into 
c) The value of the contract 
d) If the Bidder is a Small to Medium Enterprise (SME) or Voluntary 

Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) 

8.2 REQUEST FOR QUOTATIONS (RFQS) 

8.2.1 RFQs are the councils preferred method of undertaking procurement 

within the value thresholds set out in 0. 

8.2.2 The RFQ document must include a specification. The specification must 

describe clearly the Council‘s requirements in sufficient detail to enable the 

submission of competitive offers. In preparing specifications the Procuring 

Officer must have regard to any guidance in the Procurement Guide. 

8.2.3 The RFQ must state that the Council is not bound to accept any 

Quotations received. 

8.2.4 Evidence should be retained in respect of despatch of documents. Any 

supplementary information must be given on the same basis. 

8.2.5 In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of contract, the 

Procuring Officer must ensure, as a minimum, that the relevant Terms and 

Conditions from the Councils' Standard Terms and Conditions are 

incorporated into the RFQ documentation as amended to suit the particular 

procurement requirements. If amendments are required advice should be 

sought from Legal Support. 

8.2.6 All Economic Operators invited to quote must be issued with the same 

information at the same time, and subject to the same conditions. All 

procurement documents must be made available via the e-Procurement 

platform. 

8.2.7 Where approved lists are available RFQs should be requested from the 

relevant approved list. 

8.2.8 The evaluation of quotes should be based upon simplified Award 

Criteria, and records of evaluation results must be retained by the Procuring 

Officer. The evaluation must follow the principals of the EU treaty and 

therefore must be; Transparent, Non-Discriminatory and Proportionate. 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page - 213



   
 

 - 24 -  
 

9. ABOVE OJEU THRESHOLD PROCUREMENT 
 
9.1 PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION 
 
9.1.1  In some instances, particularly in the case of specialist work it 

may be necessary to advertise for expressions of interest.  The 
basic principles of equal treatment should be applied.  A 
deadline for receipt of expressions of interest should be included 
in any advert. 

9.1.2  Nothing in these procurement arrangements preclude informal 
contact with prospective Economic Operators for discussions 
prior to formal tendering procedures (publication of the contract 
notice).  Economic Operators with whom such preliminary 
discussions take place should be made aware at the outset that 
selected Economic Operators might ultimately be invited to 
submit formal competitive tenders.  In addition the Officer 
responsible for the purchase: 

 
 

 May consult potential Economic Operators prior to the issue 
of the Invitation to Tender in general terms about the nature, 
level and standard of the supply, contract packaging and 
other relevant matters provided this does not prejudice any 
potential Applicant, but  

 Must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation 
of an Invitation to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may 
have a commercial interest in them, if this may prejudice the 
equal treatment of all potential Applicants or distort 
competition.  Pre-tender enquiries may be carried out prior to 
the issue of an Invitation to Tender.  The purpose is to 
ensure that an effective Invitation to Tender is prepared, for 
example, where the technical specification is so complex that 
it cannot be drawn up without information from prospective 
operators.  All potential operators must be treated equally 
within this process; 

 Must seek advice from their Procurement Resource. 
 Must keep contemporaneous notes of dialogue held with 

Economic Operators 
 All possible steps should be taken to ensure the principles of 

being Transparent, Proportionate and without Discrimination 
are met at all time 

 
9.2 PRE-QUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRES (PQQs) 

9.2.1 Procuring Officers shall pay due regard to the statutory guidance 

regarding the use of Pre-Qualification Questionnaires. The guidance sets out 

a new mandatory standard PQQ that Procuring Officers must use. Further 

information can be found here; 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ 
data/file/417963/4279-15_GN_PQQ_Lord_Young_Guidance.pdf 

Page - 214

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_%20data/file/417963/4279-15_GN_PQQ_Lord_Young_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_%20data/file/417963/4279-15_GN_PQQ_Lord_Young_Guidance.pdf


   
 

 - 25 -  
 

9.2.2 In accordance with regulation 107(4) of the Public Contract Regulations, 

where a Contracting Authority conducts procurement in a way which 

represents a reportable deviation from the statutory guidance in 0, the 

Contracting Authority must send a report explaining the deviation to the Crown 

Commercial Service. The Procuring Officer must draft this report and ensure 

that it is submitted. 

9.2.3 In restricted procedures Procuring Officers may specify within the 

contract notice that the Council may limit the number of Bidders, who meet the 

requirements of the PQQ, to be invited to ITT stage, i.e. shortlisting. When this 

occurs the Procuring Officer must allow a minimum of 5 Bidders to the ITT 

stage, providing that there are at least 5 Bidders meeting the PQQ criteria. If 

there are less than 5 Bidders who meet the PQQ criteria, all Bidders who 

meet the requirements of the PQQ must be invited to the ITT stage. 

9.3 SELECTION AND SUITABILITY CRITERIA 

9.3.1 Within the PQQ, or the Business Information section of an Open Tender 

ITT document, Procuring Officers may evaluate selection criteria in order to 

assess the suitability of the Bidder to meet the requirements of the contract. 

9.3.2 Selection criteria may only relate to; 

a) Suitability to pursue a professional activity 
b) Economic and Financial standing 
c) Technical and Professional ability 

9.3.3 Procuring Officers must limit any requirements to those that are 

appropriate to ensure that a Bidder has the suitability to pursue a professional 

activity, the legal and financial capabilities, and the technical and professional 

abilities, to perform the contract to be awarded. 

9.3.4 Procuring Officers must not use suitability criteria as award criteria. 

9.3.5 Procuring Officers may, in relation to evaluating experience, ask for 

information regarding the  experience of those specific individuals who will be 

deployed to deliver the contract at ITT stage, but not if prior experience was 

evaluated at PQQ stage. 

9.3.6 Procuring Officers must seek advice from their Procurement Resource 

before setting any Pass / Fail conditions within the selection criteria. 

 
 
10. STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA 
 

10.1 Where appropriate the Officer must ascertain what are the 
relevant British, European or International Standards which 
apply to the subject matter of the contract.  The Officer must 
include those standards which are necessary and describe the 
required quality. Legal Services must be consulted if the Officer 
proposes to use standards other than European standards. 

 

Page - 215



   
 

 - 26 -  
 

10.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria appropriate to the 
purchase.  Award Criteria must be designed to secure a 
sustainable outcome which represents Value for Money for the 
Council.  The basic criterion shall be: 
 ―Most economically advantageous‖ offer (where 

considerations other than price also apply) or; 
 ―Lowest price‖. 

 
10.3 If the first criterion is adopted, it must be further defined by 

reference to sub-criteria.  Award Criteria and sub-criteria may 
refer only to relevant considerations.  These may include price, 
service, quality of goods, running costs, technical merit, previous 
experience, delivery date, cost effectiveness, quality, relevant 
environmental, social and economic considerations, aesthetic 
and functional characteristics (including security and control 
features), safety, after-sales services, technical assistance and 
any other relevant matters.   

 
10.4 All Award Criteria, and if used sub-criteria, must be weighted. 
  
10.5 Award Criteria must not include: 
 

 Non-Commercial Considerations (as defined in the 
definitions appendix); 

 Include matters which discriminate against Economic 
Operators from the European Economic Area or signatories 
to the Government Procurement Agreement. 

 
 
11. INVITATIONS TO TENDER and QUOTATIONS 

 
Electronic tendering is the preferred method of carrying out a 
quotation or tender exercise where the total contract value 
exceeds £25,000.  This includes submission, receipt and opening 
of Tenders.  

 
11.1 Electronic tendering should be undertaken by using an e 

tendering suite of documents. To access these document users 
must first log on and register at https://www.delta-
esourcing.com. Users should familiarise themselves with this 
system by taking advice from their procurement resource. This 
can be supplemented by using the User Guides available on the 
home page once registration has been completed.  

11.2 Once documents have been downloaded into an electronic vault 
officers will not be able to access these documents prior to the 
closing date. Officers should ensure that documents are 
downloaded to a suitable electronic repository that is accessible 
to all evaluators 

 
11.3 Section 11.2 to 11.14 is appropriate when undertaking both 

electronic and traditional tendering. Section 11.15, 11.16 and 

Page - 216

https://www.delta-esourcing.com/
https://www.delta-esourcing.com/


   
 

 - 27 -  
 

11.17 are only appropriate when a non electronic tendering 
exercise has been followed 

 
       11.4 The Invitation to Tender or Quotation must include a 

specification.  The specification must describe clearly the 
Council‘s requirements in sufficient detail to enable the 
submission of competitive offers.  In preparing specifications the 
Officer must have regard to any guidance in the Procurement 
Guide. 

 
       11.5 The Invitation to Tender or Quotation must state that the Council 

is not bound to accept any Tender or Quotation. 
 

       11.6 Except where the Open Procedure applies all Applicants invited 
to Tender or quote must be issued with the same information at 
the same time and subject to the same conditions.  Evidence 
should be retained in respect of despatch of documents (e.g. 
recorded delivery/acknowledgement slip if non electronic).  Any 
supplementary information must be given on the same basis. 

 
       11.7 The Invitation to Tender must specify the Award Procedure and 

forbid submission of Tenders by fax or email. 
 

11.8 Where any prior advertisement has not defined the Award 
Criteria, Invitations to Tender must state the Award Criteria in 
weighted terms and if possible in descending order of 
importance. 

 
11.9 The Invitation to Tender must include a form of Tender, 

Tendering Certificate and instructions to Applicants using 
relevant appendix from the Procurement Guide.   

   
11.10 The instructions should be clear on the closing date and time for 

  receipt of Tenders. 
 

11.11 Elected Members, employees or Consultants employed by the 
  Council who have a direct or indirect interest in the contract shall 
  not be supplied with or given access to any Tender documents, 
  contracts or other information relating thereto without the  
  authority of the relevant Service Manager. 

 
 

11.12 In the event that Bidders seek clarification of the tender 
documentation due to ambiguity, lack of clarity or insufficient 
detail, all responses must be submitted electronically through 
the e- Procurement platform and shared to all Bidders. 

 
Procuring Officers must ensure that any commercially sensitive 
information that the requesting Bidder may have included in their 
request is redacted and the response generalised, prior to 
sending it to the other Bidders. 

Page - 217



   
 

 - 28 -  
 

 
11.13 The Invitation to Tender should normally include the contract 

  terms (see Contract and Procurement Rules Procedure Rule 
  16). 

 
 
For paper based tenders only 
 

11.14 The Invitation to Tender shall state that no Tender will be  
  considered unless contained in a securely sealed envelope on 
  which shall be indicated the name and address of the sender 
  and the word ―Tender‖ followed by the subject to which it relates, 
  such envelope to be enclosed in a second plain securely sealed 
  envelope bearing the word ―Tender‖ followed by the subject to 
  which it relates but not bearing any distinguishing mark or mark 
  to indicate the identity of the sender.  The second envelope  
  should be addressed impersonally to the relevant Strategic 
  Director. 
 

11.15 Applicants must be informed that if a private courier firm is to be 
  engaged to deliver a Tender package the outer packaging must 
  comply with the rules above.  It is acknowledged that this may 
  not be achievable in the case of Tenders received from abroad. 
 

 
11.16 The Tender Book must be completed with the names of the 

Applicants invited. 
 

11.2   PRESENTATIONS 

11.2.1 Due to the risks brought about by undertaking scored 

presentations they are no longer permitted as an assessed part 

of the procurement process, unless presenting is a material 

component of the specification and, the Evaluation Criteria is 

designed in such a way as to objectively evaluate the 

presentation offer of the submission, it is approved by a Chief 

Officer (Tier 2 Officer) and managed by your Procurement 

Resource. 

        11.2.2  If undertaking presentations as an evaluated component of the 

tendering process Procuring Officers must ensure that; 

a) Contemporaneous notes are collected detailing all questions, 
responses and pointes raised, or full auditory and/or visual 
records are kept. 

b) Questions are only permitted to be asked which are focussed 
solely on the scope required of the presentation. This is not an 
opportunity to deviate and probe wider components of a bid. 

c) Evaluators must ensure their scores accurately reflect the 
scoring criteria, with appropriate justifications in the evaluation 
commentary. 

Page - 218



   
 

 - 29 -  
 

 
12. SHORTLISTING 
 
 12.1 Where Approved Lists are used, Shortlisting may be carried out 

by the Officer in accordance with Shortlisting criteria drawn up 
when the Approved List was compiled (see Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rule 7).  However, where the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 apply, Approved Lists may not 
be used in this way. 

 
 12.2 Any Shortlisting must have regard to financial and technical 

standards relevant to the contract.  Special rules apply in 
respect of the EU Procurement Directives (see guidance in the 
Procurement Guide).    

 
   
 12.3 Officers may decide not to Shortlist but to send Invitations to 

Tender and to evaluate all possible Applicants. 
 
 12.4 The Officers responsible for Shortlisting are specified in 

Procedure Rule 8.1. 
 
 

13. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 
 

13.1 Period for Applicants’ response: 
 

 Electronic tendering is the preferred method of carrying out 
 a Tender exercise.  This does include submission, receipt 
 and opening of Tenders. 
 

Applicants invited to respond must be given an adequate period 
in which to prepare and submit a proper Tender, consistent with 
the urgency of the contract requirement.  Usually a minimum of 
at least four weeks should be allowed for submission of 
Tenders. 
 
The EU Procurement Directive lays down specific time periods 
which should be referred to in respect of EU tendering. 
 

13.2 Receipt and Custody of Tenders: 
 
Where the Tender is carried out non electronically, Procedure 
Rules 13.2.1 to 13.3.7 apply 
 
13.2.1 Every reply to an Invitation to Tender must be addressed to the 
 Chief Executive if in paper format. 

 
13.2.2 Tenders submitted by fax will not be considered. 
 

Page - 219



   
 

 - 30 -  
 

13.2.3 Tender packets or envelopes received must be date stamped 
 and locked away until the specified time for their opening. 
 

 
13.3 Tender Opening: 
 
13.3.1 The Officer responsible or their nominee, a Council Member and 
 one other officer must be present during the opening of the 
 tender and at least one such officer must not be from the service 
 responsible for the purchase. 
 
13.3.2 The Tender Support Officer must ensure that all tenders are 
 opened at the same time when the period for their submission 
 has ended. 
 
13.3.3 A record of the tenders must be logged on the Tender Control 
 Book. 
 
13.3.4 Paper tenders which are opened must be date stamped and 
 signed by the two officers at the time of opening on the page 
 containing the overall contract value, alternatively on the pages 
 containing the price information, where no overall value is 
 quoted.   
 
13.3.5 Tenders that are received after the closing date or tenders that 
 are not submitted in accordance with these Rules are to be 
 disqualified unless it is agreed otherwise by the Monitoring 
 Officer and the relevant Portfolio Holder. 
 
13.3.6 After tender opening a copy of the Tender Control Form and 
 opened tender should be sent to the Officer responsible for the 
 procurement, where it is in paper format. 
 
13.3.7 An original version of the tender must be retained for a period of 
 six years. 

 
13.4 Alteration of Opened Tenders: 

 
13.4.1 Tenderers are not allowed to alter their final submission or Best 

and Final Offer after the date set for the receipt of their 
submission.  An Officer should be identified whom has the 
delegated authority to agree corrections to bill of quantity type 
Tenders provided that: 
 

 The errors made appear to be reasonable and 
genuine and are such that they can be corrected 
without further contact with the Tenderers; 

 Normally such errors will be arithmetic, i.e. errors of 
summation, extension, carry forward etc. 

 No rates may be altered, deleted or added but 
Tenderers may be allowed to confirm an assumed 

Page - 220



   
 

 - 31 -  
 

rate calculated from the total charge against an item 
where no rate is shown; 

 Under no circumstances should Tenderers be invited 
to provide supplementary values for inclusion in a 
Tender; 

 The approval of the delegated Officer should be 
obtained and the nature of the alteration clearly 
recorded; 

 All Tenders should be similarly checked in order to 
ensure consistency of treatment. 

 
           13.4.2 After following these procedures, the successful Tenderer must 

be given details of any proposed alterations and afforded an 
opportunity of accepting the alterations or otherwise withdrawing 
the Tender.  If the Tenderer accepts the alterations their written 
approval should be  obtained.  If the Tenderer withdraws their 
tender, the next Tenderer in competitive order is to be dealt with 
similarly. 

 

14. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES  
 

14.1 Any aspects of bids that are manifestly unclear or ambiguous may be 

clarified with the Bidder in writing. Procuring Officers must not 

undertake presentations as a way to clarify a Bidders response. 

Further, Procuring Officers must not use the clarification process to 

draw out additional components of the bid which were not previously 

submitted. 

14.2   Any clarifications required of a Bidder must be worded in a way to not 

allow the Bidder an opportunity to vary, amend or improve the bid. 

 
14.3  Any aspects of a Bidders response that needs clarification must not be 

scored until the clarification has been received. 
 

 

15. EVALUATION AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 
15.1 Apart from the debriefing requirements or permitted by Contract and 

Procurement Procedure Rule 16: 
 

 Confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of 
Applicants must be preserved at all times; and 

 Information about one Applicant’s response must not be 
given to another Applicant. 

 
15.2 Contracts must be evaluated, recorded and awarded in accordance 

with the Award Criteria. 
 

15.2.1 Tenders may be evaluated on the basis of price, or a mixture of price, 
technical and quality.  The basis on which the Tender will be evaluated 

Page - 221



   
 

 - 32 -  
 

must be determined before Tenders are invited and should be included 
as part of the Tender information.  This includes the contract Award 
Criteria and any sub-criteria and their respective weightings. 
 

15.2.2 Longer-term partnership evaluations may include price, technical, 
quality as well as the need to demonstrate adding value to the Council, 
acceptance of a portion of  risk, and flexibility to meet changing 
circumstances. Key success factors should be identified and 
incorporated into the selection process and partnering agreement. 
 

15.2.3 All Tenderers should be notified in the quotation/tender that no work or 
services may be commenced or  goods/materials ordered until a 
formal contract has been  signed and/or an official order has been 
raised. 

 
15.2.4 For large contracts or long term partnerships the expectation is that 

Officers would seek assurance that Economic Operators are complying 
with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 e.g. provision of a 
 ―whistleblowing‖ policy within their organisation.  Also  those Economic 
Operators are aware and practise the  principles of good corporate 
governance. 

 
15.3 Where the Total Contract Value is over the EU Threshold, the Officer 

must inform all Tenderers of their intention to award the contract to the 
successful Tenderer.  The Officer must allow a period of not less than 
10 working days after announcing their Intention to Award to provide 
unsuccessful Tenderers with a period in which to challenge the 
decision before the Officer awards the contract.  If the decision is 
challenged by an unsuccessful Tenderer then the Officer shall not 
award the contract and shall immediately seek the advice of Legal 
Services whilst also notifying their Procurement Resource.  In cases of 
unforeseen emergency outside the control of the Council and where 
the 10 day standstill period would cause immediate risk to persons, 
property or serious disruption to Council services the Chief Executive 
or other person acting on their behalf  may give approval to waive the 
10 day standstill period. 
 

15.4 The Officer shall debrief in writing all those Tenderers who submitted a 
bid why they were unsuccessful and provide information and shall 
include: 
 

a) Scores for the relevant sections of the tender 
b) Evaluation commentary regarding how the Award Criteris were 

applied and a clear explanation as to the characteristics of the 
tender against the Award Criteris, and as against the successful 
tender; 

c) The name and contract price of the winning Bidder; 
 

 
No other information should be given without taking the advice 
of your Procurement Resource. 

Page - 222



   
 

 - 33 -  
 

 
15.5 If requested, the Officer may also give the debriefing information 

required by Contract and Procurement Procedure Rule 15.4 to 
Applicants who were deselected in a pre-tender shortlisting process. 

 

15.6 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

15.6.1 It is a requirement of the Public Contract regulations for Procuring 

Officers upon completing a tender, to draw up a written Procurement Report 

which shall include at least the following; 

 
a) the name and address of the Contracting Authority, the subject-matter and 

value of the contract, Framework Agreement or dynamic purchasing 
system; 

b) where applicable, the results of the qualitative selection and reduction of 
numbers pursuant to regulations 65 and 66, namely:— 

i. the names of the selected candidates or Bidders and the reasons 
for their selection; 

ii. the names of the rejected candidates or Bidders and the reasons for 
their rejection; 

c) the reasons for the rejection of tenders found to be abnormally low; 
d) the name of the successful Bidder and the reasons why its tender was 

selected and, where known— 
i. the share (if any) of the contract or Framework Agreement which 

the successful Bidder intends to subcontract to third parties, and 
ii. the names of the main contractor‘s subcontractors (if any); 

e) for competitive procedures with negotiation and competitive dialogues, the 
circumstances as laid down in regulation 26 (PCRs) which justify the use 
of those procedures; 

f) for negotiated procedures without prior publication, the circumstances 
referred to in regulation 32 (PCRs) which justify the use of this procedure; 

g) where applicable, the reasons why the Contracting Authority has decided 
not to award a contract or Framework Agreement or to establish a dynamic 
purchasing system; 

h) where applicable, the reasons why means of communication other than 
electronic means have been used for the submission of tenders; 

i) where applicable, conflicts of interests detected and subsequent measures 
taken. 

15.6.2 Procuring Officers must submit a copy of the Procurement Report 

identified above to the Cabinet Office or Commission upon request. 

 

15.6.3 Procuring Officers must keep sufficient documentation to justify 

decisions taken in all stages of the procurement procedure, including but not 

limited to; 

a) Communications with economic operators and bidders. 
b) Internal deliberations 
c) Preparation of the procurement documentation 
d) Dialogue or negotiation, if any 

Page - 223



   
 

 - 34 -  
 

e) Selection and award of the contract 

15.6.4 Procuring Officers must ensure the documentation is kept in line with 

the Councils document retention schedule, in this case a minimum of 3 years. 

 
 

15.7 MODERATION 

15.7.1 Evaluating Officers should not score bids separately, and then 

reconsider outliers and average scores during a moderation process to 

reach a score. 

15.7.2 Instead Evaluating Officers in the Evaluation Panel must now attend a 

moderation meeting, which must be chaired by the relevant 

Procurement Officer whom are not permitted to be evaluators. 

15.7.3 Bids must be read in advance of the moderation meeting, and may be 

annotated, but must not be formally scored prior to the moderation 

meeting.  

NOTE: It is important that no prior scoring audit trail be created 

prior to the moderation meeting. The Chair does need to have 

read the bids as they may have to refer to the content to help 

resolve any disagreements within the evaluation team. Their role 

is to explore the arguments for any scoring variations, resolve 

errors and inconsistencies, and help the team come to an agreed 

consensus score about the characteristics and relative merits of 

the Tender as against the scoring criteria, and the other Tenders. 

15.7.4 Evaluating Officers are required to reach consensus during the 

moderation meeting, and produce an agreed narrative as described in 

section 15, which using the evidence from the Tender, records the 

characteristics and merits of the tender and the appropriate mark from 

the scoring table. 

15.7.5 Full auditory records, or very detailed minutes of the discussions are 

not required. 

15.7.6 In the case when a chaired moderation meeting is not possible and 

evaluators are scoring independently, and scores will be averaged and 

outliers considered by the Evaluation Panel, Procuring Officers must 

ensure detailed justifications are recorded for the adjustment of any 

scores. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page - 224



   
 

 - 35 -  
 

Section 4 – Contract and Other Formalities 
 

16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

16.1 Every contract with a Total Contract Value of £5,000  and above 
must be recorded on a Contract Register and forwarded to 
Procurement Lincolnshire for inclusion on the Corporate 
Contracts Register including any changes over the contract life 
e.g. extensions. Property and Facilities  
 

16.2 Every contract must be recorded in writing (this may include the 
relevant documents e.g. Procurement Card log.  Where an order is 
placed using an electronic system e.g. an E-Marketplace or via a 
Procurement Card it must state clearly: 
 

 What is to be supplied (description and quality); 
 Payment provisions (amount and timing). 

 
16.3  Where possible every contract over £5,000 must state clearly: 
 

 When the Council will have the right to terminate the 
contract; 

 That the contract is subject to the law as to prevention of 
corruption (Procedure Rule 18); 

 The Council‘s standards terms and conditions or order 
form must be used. 

 
16.4  Every contract over £25,000, (or where relevant for lower values) 

must state clearly: 
 

 That the Economic Operator may not assign or sub-
contract without prior written consent; 

 Any Insurance requirements; 
 Health and Safety requirements; 
 Ombudsman requirements; 
 Data Protection requirements if relevant; 
 That Charter Standards are to be met if relevant; 
 Race Relations requirements; 
 Disability Discrimination Act requirements; 
 Freedom of Information Act requirements; 
 That agents must comply with the Council‘s Contract and 

Procurement Procedure Rules relating to contracts 
(where agents are used to let contracts); 

 A right of access to relevant documentation and records 
of the Economic Operator for monitoring and audit 
purposes if relevant; 

 Price mechanism including inflationary issues where 
appropriate; 

 Future service performance measures and efficiency 
targets; 

Page - 225



   
 

 - 36 -  
 

 Any other relevant legislation e.g. Section 11 of the 
Children‘s Act; 

 Business Continuity requirements. 
 
16.5  The advice of your Procurement Resource may be sought for the 

following contracts: 
 

 Those involving leasing arrangements (must receive the 
approval of Director); 

 Where it is proposed to use the Economic Operator’s own 
terms; 

 Where the Total Contract Value exceeds £75,000; 
 Those which are complex in any other way. 
 
 

16.6 CONTRACT FORMALITIES 
 

16.6.1 Contracts must be completed as follows: 
 

Total Contract Value Method of Completion By 

Up to £25,000 Signature 
Use of Purchase Order 
or Written Contract for 
complex requirements 

Officer with appropriate 
authority to enter into a 

contract (see Regulation 
16.6.3). 

£25,001 to £75,000 Signature on Written 
Contract 

Service Manager or 
Officer with appropriate 
authority to enter in a 

contract (see Regulation 
16.6.3). 

Above £75,000 Completion of a 
Contract Register Form 

followed by Sealing 

See Regulation 16.6.4 

Over £500,000 Signature on Written 
Contract 

Service Manager with 
appropriate authority, 
once the appropriate 

Cabinet Members have 
been consulted. 

Contracts for sealing Sealing See Regulation 16.6.4 

 
  

16.6.2 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the 
supply, service or construction work begins, except in unforeseen 
emergencies, and only with the written consent of the Chief 
Officer (see Procedure Rule 15.3).  An award letter is insufficient.  
Each Chief Officer has the responsibility to ensure that a Scheme 
of Authorisation is in place and contracts should be signed in 
accordance with this scheme.  

 
 
 
 

Page - 226



   
 

 - 37 -  
 

16.6.3 Signature: 
 

 The Officer responsible for signing the contract must have been 
granted the appropriate authority and ensure that the person 
signing for the other contracting party has authority to bind it.. 

 
16.6.4 Sealing: 

 
A contract must be sealed where: 
 

 The Council may wish to enforce the contract more than six years 
after its end (e.g. for construction works); or 

 The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price 
and does not reflect the value of the goods, services 
or the carrying out of works; or  

 Where there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing 
for the other contracting party; or 

 Where a bond is established on behalf of the contractor(s) or their 
guarantors; or 

 Where required by parties to the agreement; or 
 The Total Contract Value exceeds £75,000. 

 
Where contracts are completed by each side adding their common 
seal, the affixing must be attested by or on behalf of the Solicitor to the 
Council.  The Solicitor the  Council is responsible for the process of 
sealing contracts. 

 
 
16.6.5 Archiving & Lodgement of Records:   
 

The original sealed contract must be deposited, by the Officer, with 
Legal Services with a copy being retained within the relevant service 
department in accordance with the document retention policy. 

 
 

17. BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 
 
17.1.1The officer responsible for the contract must consult with the 

appropriate Executive Manager with regards to whether a Parent 
Company Guarantee or Performance Bond is necessary when a 
potential supplier is a subsidiary of a parent company. 

 
17.1.2  A Parent Company Guarantee or Performance Bond is needed: 
 

 Where the Total Contract Value exceeds £500,000 or 
 Where it is proposed to make staged or other 

payments in advance of receiving the whole of the 
subject matter of the contract or 

 There is concern about the stability of the subsidiary 
supplier. 
 

Page - 227



   
 

 - 38 -  
 

17.1.3     The Council must never give a bond. 
 
 

18. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
 
18.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite 

or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of 
any contract: 

 
 It will be for the Officer to prove that anything received was 

not received corruptly; 
 High standards of conduct are obligatory.  Corrupt behaviour 

will lead to dismissal and is a crime under the statutes 
referred to in Contract Procedure Rule 18.2. 

 
18.2 The following clause must be placed in every written Council contract: 

 
―The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss 
if the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the 
Contractor‘s behalf do any of the following things: 

 
(a) Offer, give or agree to give to anyone inducement or 

reward in respect of this or any other Council contract 
(even if the Contractor does not know what has been 
done); or 

 
(b) Commit an offence under the Prevention of Corruption 

Acts 1889 to 1916 or Section 117(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1972; or 

 
(c) Commit any fraud in connection with this or any other 

Council contract whether alone or in conjunction with 
Council members, contractors or employees. 

 
Any clause limiting the Contractor‘s liability shall not apply to this 
clause‖. 

 
 
 

Section 5 – Contract Management 
 

19. MANAGING CONTRACTS 
 
19.1 The Executive Manager in sponsoring service areas are to name 

Contracts Managers for the entirety of the contract. 
 
19.2 Contracts Managers must follow the procedures set out in the Council‘s 

Procurement Guide. 
 
19.3 All variations to contracts shall be in writing and your Procurement 

Resource must be consulted prior to issuing any variations. 

Page - 228



   
 

 - 39 -  
 

 
 

20. RISK ASSESSMENT & CONTINGENCY PLANNING 
 

20.1 A business case must be prepared for all procurements with a potential 
value over the EU Threshold.  Provision for resources for the 
management of the contract, for its entirety, must be identified in the 
business case. 
 

20.2 For all contracts with a value of over £75,000, Contract Managers 
must: 
 

 Maintain a risk register (generic register acceptable) during 
the contract period and review it at least every three months; 

 Undertake appropriate risk assessments; 
 For identified risks, ensure contingency measures are in 

place; 
 Ensure critical support and maintenance arrangements are 

documented in the Specification in order to avoid costly post-
tender negotiation. 

 
 

21. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 
  
21.1 All contracts which have a value higher than the EU Threshold limits, or 

which are high risk, are to be subject to a regular formal review (based 
on the risk) with the successful Tenderer.  

 
21.2 Where a contract is let on the basis of cost/quality criteria, the 

management processes and procedures accepted through the quality 
submission must be adhered to for all material/services procured 
through that contract.  

 
21.3 During the life of the contract the Officer must monitor in respect of: 

 
 Performance; 
 Compliance with specification and contract; 
 Cost; 
 Any Value for Money requirements; 
 Working practices where appropriate e.g Health and Safety 
 User satisfaction and risk management; and 
 Any additional factors in accordance with any guidance in 

the Procurement Guide. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page - 229



   
 

 - 40 -  
 

Section 6 - General 

 
 

22. DEFINITIONS 
 

“Applicant” 
 
 

Any person who asks or is invited to submit a 
Quotation or Tender. 
 

“Approved List” A list drawn up in accordance with Procedure Rule 7. 
 

“Agent” A person or organisation acting on behalf of the 
Council or on behalf of another organisation. 
 

“Award Criteria” The criteria by which the successful Quotation or 
Tender is to be selected (see Procedure Rule 10 or 
11.5). 
 

“Award Procedure” The procedure for awarding a contract as specified in 
Procedure Rule 10). 
 

“Best Value” The duty, which Part 1 of the Local Government Act 
1999 places on local authorities, to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which 
functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
as implemented by the Council (see also the 
Procurement Guide with respect to the impact of Best 
Value in purchasing and disposal). 
 
This terminology has now in many instances been 
superseded with Value for Money. 
 

“Bond” An insurance policy: If the Economic Operator does 
not do what it has promised under a contract with the 
Council, the Council can claim from the insurer the 
sum of money specified in the Bond (often 10% of 
the contract value).  A Bond is intended to protect the 
Council against a level of cost arising from the 
Economic Operator’s failure. 
 

“Chief Officer” The Officers defined as such in the Constitution. 
 

“Code of Conduct” The code regulating conduct of Officers and 
Members is defined in the Constitution. 
 

“Collaborative 
Arrangements” 

Use of a framework let by a third party e.g. ESPO or 
a joint procurement exercise which involves two or 
more parties. 
 

“Committee” A committee, which has power to make, decisions for 

Page - 230



   
 

 - 41 -  
 

the Council, for example a joint committee with 
another local authority but not a scrutiny committee. 
 

“Common Seal” A contract that is signed and sealed as a Deed. 
 

“Constitution” The constitutional document approved by the Council 
which: 
 Allocates powers and responsibilities within the 

Council and between it and others; 
 Delegates authority to act to the Executive, 

Committees, Executive Portfolio Holders and 
Officers; and 

 Regulates the behaviour of individuals and groups 
through rules of procedure, codes and protocols. 

 

“Consultant” Someone employed for a specific length of time to 
work to a defined project brief with clear outcomes to 
be delivered, who brings specialist skills or 
knowledge to the role, and where the Council has no 
ready access to employees with skills, experience or 
capacity to undertake the work. 
 
All consultants must conform to the HR tests. 
 

“Contracting 
Authority” 

The organisation letting the contract in question. 
 

“Contracting 
Decision” 

Any of the following decisions: 
 Composition of Approved Lists 
 Withdrawal of Invitation to Tender 
 Whom to invite to submit a Quotation or 

Tender 
 Shortlisting 
 Award of contract 
 Any decision to terminate a contract. 

 

“Contract Register 
Form” 

A notification form that must be completed for all 
contracts awarded and when amended and 
forwarded to Procurement Lincolnshire as stated 
Procedure Rule 2.4.4 and 16.1. 
 

“Contract 
Regulations” 

Rules of Procedure of the Council‘s Constitution titled 
Contract Regulations which covers the general 
principles to be followed by Officers in procuring 
goods, services and works from organisations 
external to the Council. 
 

“Corporate 
Contract” 

A contract let or approved by Procurement 
Lincolnshire to support the Council‘s aim of achieving 
Value for Money.  Where a Corporate Contract is in 
place, the Officer is obliged to use it unless an 
exemption has been granted under Procedure Rule 

Page - 231



   
 

 - 42 -  
 

3. 
 

“Council” For the purposes of these Contract and Procurement 
Procedure Rules, ―Council‖ refers to South Kesteven 
District Council. 
 

“Deed” A signed and usually sealed instrument containing 
some legal transfer, bargain, or contract. 
 

“Economic 
Operator” 

A contractor, a supplier or a service provider.  Any 
person who offers on the market supplies, services or 
works and who sought, who seeks, or who would 
have wished to be the person to whom a public 
contract is awarded. 
 

“Electronic-
Tendering” 

A totally secure means to store and transmit all 
contract/Tender documentation via a secure 
electronic vault. 
 

“E-Marketplace” An internet based system that the Council uses 
which allows commerce between it and a variety of 
Economic Operators. 
 

“ESPO” The Eastern Shires‘ Purchasing Organisation. 
 

“ESPO Contract” A contract let by ESPO on behalf of the Council to 
support the Council‘s aim of achieving Value for 
Money.  Where a suitable ESPO Contract exists, the 
Officer must use it unless there are auditable reasons 
for going elsewhere.  See also “Framework 
Agreement”. 
  

“EU Procurement 
Directive” 

The main EU legislation that covers public 
procurement. 
 

“EU Threshold” The contract value at which the EU public 
procurement directives must be applied.  (See the 
Procurement Guide for current values. 
   

“European 
Economic Area” 

The members of the European Union, and Norway, 
Iceland and Liechtenstein. 
 

“Evaluation Panel” A group of relevant Officer which may include and 
not limited to Commissioning, Procurement, HR, 
Finance, Legal and Service Managers. 
  

“Evaluation Report” A report produced by the Officer detailing the 
outcome of the evaluation process undertaken, from 
which a recommendation is put forward for approval. 
 

“Executive” The Council‘s Executive as defined in the 

Page - 232



   
 

 - 43 -  
 

Constitution. 
 

“Executive Portfolio 
Holder” 

A member of the Executive to whom political 
responsibility is allocated in respect of specified 
functions. 
 

“Financial 
Regulations” 

The financial regulations outlining Officer 
responsibilities for financial matters issued by the 
Director of Resources in accordance with the 
Constitution. 
 

“Framework 
Agreement” 

An agreement between one or more contracting 
authorities and one or more economic operators, the 
purpose of which is to establish the terms governing 
contracts to be awarded during a given period, in 
particular with regard to price and, where 
appropriate, the quantity envisaged. 
 

“Government 
Procurement 
Agreement” 

The successor agreement to the General Agreement 
on Trade and Tariffs.  The main signatories other 
than those in the European Economic Area are: the 
USA, Canada, Japan, Israel, South Korea, 
Switzerland, Norway, Aruba, Hong Kong, China and 
Singapore. 
 

“High Profile” A high-profile purchase is one which could have an 
impact on functions integral to Council service 
delivery should it fail or go wrong. 
 

“High Risk” A high-risk purchase is one which presents the 
potential for substantial exposure on the Council‘s 
part should it fail or go wrong. 
 

“High Value” A high-value purchase is one where the value is 
greater than that of the EU Threshold values. 
 

“Invitation to 
Tender” 

Invitation to Tender documents in the form required 
by these Contract and Procurement Procedure 
Rules. 
 

“Invitation to Tender 
by 
Advertisement/List” 

An Invitation to Tender sent to Applicants shortlisted 
from among either: 
 Those responding to advertisement of the 

contract inviting proposals placed in such 
publications as shall secure widest publicity 
among relevant Economic Operators; or  

 Those included on an Approved List in respect of 
the type of purchase which is the subject of the 
Invitation to Tender. 

 

“Key Decision” Decisions that are defined as Key Decisions in the 

Page - 233



   
 

 - 44 -  
 

Constitution. 
 

“Nominated 
Economic Operators 
and Sub-
contractors”  

Those persons specified in a main contract for the 
discharge of any part of that contract. 
 
 

“Non-Commercial 
Considerations” 

Except as provided below, the following matters are 
non-commercial considerations: 
(a) The terms and Conditions of employment by 

Economic Operators of their workers or the 
composition of, the arrangements for the 
promotion, transfer or training of or the other 
opportunities afforded to, their workforces (See 
“Workforce Matters”); 

(b)  Whether the terms on which Economic Operators 
contract with their sub-contractors constitutes, in 
the case of contracts with individuals, contracts 
for the provision by them as self-employed 
persons of their services only; 

(c) Any involvement of the business activities or 
interests of Economic Operators with irrelevant 
fields of Government policy; 

(d)  The conduct of Economic Operators or workers 
in industrial disputes between them or any 
involvement of the business activities of 
Economic Operators in industrial disputes 
between other persons; 

(e) The country or territory of origin of supplies to, or 
the location in any country or territory of the 
business activities or interests of, Economic 
Operators; 

(f)  Any political, industrial or sectarian affiliations or 
interests of Economic Operators or their 
directors, partners or employees; 

(g)  Financial support or lack of financial support by 
Economic Operators for any institution to or from 
which the authority gives or withholds support; 

(h) Use or non-use by Economic Operators of 
technical or professional services provided by the 
authority under the Building Act 1984 or the 
Building (Scotland) Act 1959. 

 
Workforce matters and industrial disputes, as defined 
above in paragraphs (a) and (d) of this definition, 
cease to be non-commercial considerations to the 
extent necessary or expedient to comply with Best 
Value; or where there is a transfer of staff to which 
the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 1981 (TUPE) may apply. 
 

“Officer” The officer designated by the Chief Officer to deal 

Page - 234



   
 

 - 45 -  
 

with the contract in question. 
 

“Open Procedure” All Applicants are invited to bid in response to 
advertisement. 
 

“Parent Company 
Guarantee” 

A contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary 
company as follows: If the subsidiary company fails 
to do what it has promised under a contract with the 
Council, they can require the parent company to do 
so instead. 

“Procurement Card” A card issued to an Officer by the Council, to be used 
for procuring goods or services. 
 

“Procurement 
Lincolnshire” 

The Council‘s corporate procurement unit charged 
with providing strategic direction and advice to 
secure value for money in the Council‘s procurement 
activities. 
 

“Procurement 
Guide” 

The manual entitled Best Value Procurement Guide. 
 

“Procurement 
Resource” 

Directorate Procurement Unit charged with providing 
direction and advice to secure value for money in 
Directorate procurement activities.   
 
Procurement Resource may also be known as the 
Commissioning Team. 
 

“Quotation” A quotation of price and any other relevant matters 
(without the formal issue of an Invitation to Tender). 
 

“Select Lists” Also can be known as Approved Lists.  Please refer 
to Approved Lists definition. 
 

“Shortlisting” Where Applicants are selected: 
 To quote or bid or 
 To proceed to final evaluations. 
 

“Sustainable 
Procurement 
Strategy” 

The document setting out the Council‘s approach to 
procurement. 

“Tender” A Tenderer’s proposal submitted in response to an 
Invitation to Tender. 
 

“Tenderer” Any Economic Operator who has submitted a 
Tender. 
 

“Total Contract 
Value” 

 The whole of the value or estimated value (in 
money or equivalent value) for a single purchase 
or disposal; 

 Whether or not it comprises several lots or 
stages; 

Page - 235



   
 

 - 46 -  
 

 To be paid or received by the Council. 
The Total Contract Value shall be calculated as 
follows: 
(a) Where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking 

the total price to be paid or which might be paid 
during the whole of the period; 

(b) Where the purchase involves recurrent 
transactions for the same type of item, by 
aggregating the value of those transactions in the 
coming 12 months; 

(c) Where the contract is for an uncertain duration by 
multiplying the monthly payment by 48; 

(d) For feasibility studies: The value of the scheme or 
contracts which may be awarded as a result; 

(e) For nominated Economic Operators and Sub-
contractors: The Total Contract Value shall be the 
value of that part of the main contract to be 
fulfilled by the nominated Economic Operator or 
Sub-contractor. 

“TUPE – Transfer of 
Undertakings 
(Protection of 
Employment)” 

TUPE refers to the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations, 1981.  
These regulations were introduced to ensure the 
protection of employees when, for example, a 
business is taken over by another organisation.  
Broadly, TUPE regulations ensure that the rights of 
employees are transferred along with the business. 

“Value for Money” Where quality and cost combine to produce a service 
which meets technical and customer requirements at 
an acceptable level of expenditure. 
 

“Workforce Matters” Authorities cannot focus on matters classed as Non-
Commercial Considerations as part of the contractual 
process.  However, the restrictiveness of the original 
definitions was considered too great, and so from 
2001 authorities may consider the following matters 
to the extent that they are relevant to the delivery of 
Best Value or for the purposes of a TUPE transfer. 
 
 The terms and conditions of employment by 

Economic Operators of their workers or the 
composition of, the arrangements for the 
promotion, transfer or training of or other 
opportunities afforded to, their workforces (section 
17(5)(a)); 

 The conduct of Economic Operators or workers in 
industrial disputes between them (section 17(5) 
(d)). 

Save for the above restrictions on other non-
commercial considerations listed in Section 17 of the 
Local Government Act 1988 remain in place. 
  

Page - 236



   
 

 - 47 -  
 

 

Page - 237


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 December 2015
	6 Certification of Grants and Returns Annual Report - 2014/15
	KPMG Annual Report on grants and returns work 2014/15
	Contents
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Headlines
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Summary of reporting outcomes
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Summary of certification work outcomes
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Fees
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Recommendations
	Slide Number 8

	7 External Audit Plan 2015/16
	DRAFT External Audit Plan 2015/2016����
	Headlines
	�Introduction
	Financial statements audit planning
	Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
	Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
	Value for money arrangements work
	Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
	Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
	�Other matters 
	�Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach
	Appendix 2: Audit team
	Appendix 3: Independence and objectivity requirements
	Slide Number 14

	8 Internal audit - update
	8a Internal Audit Progress Report
	8b Internal Audit Follow-up Report
	9 Indicative Internal Audit Strategy and Plan - 2016/17
	CFM360AppendixAInternal Audit Plan 2016.17 SKDC

	10 Statement of Account Policies
	11 Pension Assumptions
	12 Risk Management - Corporate Risk Register Update
	CFM362AppendixADraftCorporate Risk Register

	13 Counter-fraud Strategy
	CFM361AppendixACounter Fraud Strategy

	14 Financial Regulations
	CFM366 Appx A Fin Regs
	CFM366 Appx B Fin Regs 2

	15 Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules
	CFM364CPPRappendix


